
Page 1 of 2 

 

City Council Meeting and Workshop         

October 20, 2014 

Agenda 
                                    
 
 
                                                                             
 

5:30 P.M.  Workshop  

A. Tax Increment Financing (TIF) presentation and Policy Review – Clint Deschene (30 minutes) 

B. Dangerous Buildings (part 1) – Eric Cousens (20 minutes) 

 

After each workshop item is presented, the public will be given an opportunity to comment. A total 

of ten minutes will be allotted for public comment after each item is presented. 

         

7:00 P.M.  City Council Meeting 

 

Roll call votes will begin with Councilor Walker 

 

Pledge of Allegiance   

I. Consent Items – All items listed with an asterisk (*) are considered as routine and will be approved in one motion.   

There will be no separate discussion of these items unless a Councilor or citizen so requests.  If requested, the item 

will be removed from the consent agenda and considered in the order it appears on the agenda.   

 

II.    Minutes  

 October 6, 2014 Regular Council Meeting 

 October 9, 2014 Special Joint Meeting 

 

III.   Reports  

Mayor’s Report  

             City Councilors’ Reports   

 City Manager Report  

 

            Finance Director, Jill Eastman - September 2014 Monthly Finance Report 

 

IV.    Communications, Presentations and Recognitions   

o The Dempsey Challenge – After Action Report 

o Proclamation – Extra Mile Day 

o Comprehensive Plan Update 

o Lewiston-Auburn Bicycle Pedestrian Committee Presentation – Craig Saddlemire 

 

V.     Open Session – Members of the public are invited to speak to the Council about any issue directly related to 

                                              City business which is not on this agenda.  Time limit for open sessions, by ordinance, is 45 minutes.    

                                        

VI.    Unfinished Business  

 

VII.    New Business  
 

 



Au b u r n  C i t y  C o u n c i l  M e e t i n g  &  W o r k s h o p  
 October 20, 2014 

 

Page 2 of 2 

 

1. Ordinance 09-10202014 

Adopting the General Assistance Appendices B and C (food and rent) as required by state 

statute.     

 

2. Order 89-10202014 
Re-appointing Arthur Wing to the Auburn Housing Authority with a  term expiration of 

10/01/2019. 
 

VIII. Executive Session  

 Discussion regarding a personnel matter (City Manager Review), pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. Section 

405(6)(A). 

IX.      Open Session - Members of the public are invited to speak to the Council about any issue directly related to 

                                               City business which is not on this agenda. 

 

X. Adjournment 

 
Executive Session:  On occasion, the City Council discusses matters which are required or allowed by State law to be considered 

in executive session.  Executive sessions are not open to the public.  The matters that are discussed in executive session are 

required to be kept confidential until they become a matter of public discussion.  In order to go into executive session, a Councilor 

must make a motion in public.  The motion must be recorded, and 3/5 of the members of the Council must vote to go into 

executive session.  An executive session is not required to be scheduled in advance as an agenda item, although when it is known 

at the time that the agenda is finalized, it will be listed on the agenda. The only topics which may be discussed in executive session 

are those that fall within one of the categories set forth in Title 1 M.R.S.A. Section 405(6).  Those applicable to municipal 

government are: 

A. Discussion of personnel issues 

B. Discussion or consideration by a school board of suspension of expulsion 

C. Discussion or consideration of the condition, acquisition or the use of real or personal property permanently attached to 

real property or interests therein or disposition of publicly held property or economic development only if premature 

disclosures of the information would prejudice the competitive or bargaining position of the body or agency   

D. Labor contracts 

E. Contemplated litigation 

F. Discussions of information contained in records made, maintained or received by a body or agency when access by the 

general public to those records is prohibited by statute; 

G. Discussion or approval of the content of examinations administered by a body or agency for licensing, permitting or 

employment purposes; consultation between a body or agency and any entity that provides examination services to that 

body or agency regarding the content of an examination; and review of examinations with the person examined; and 

H. Consultations between municipal officers and a code enforcement officer representing the municipality pursuant to Title 

30-A, section 4452, subsection 1, paragraph in the prosecution of an enforcement matter pending in District Court when 

the consultation relates to that pending enforcement matter.  







 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

Economic Development

• New Jobs

• New Tax Dollars

• Wealth in Community

• New Opportunities for Current Business

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

What is Tax Increment 

Financing (TIF)? 

• TIF is a budgeting tool --- with a BONUS!

• TIF is used to fund new projects with new

property tax revenues from developments 

that occur within a designated geographic 

area. 

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 



How Economic Development 

Works Without a TIF

• A municipality’s total Equalized Assessed 

Value (as of April 1) is used to compute:

– General Purpose Aid to Education (subsidy)

– State Revenue Sharing (subsidy)

– County Taxes (expense)

• State subsidies change inversely to value.

See next slide…..

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

• As total value increases (through 

inflationary growth and increased 

investment), the municipality will realize a 

decrease in Education and Revenue Sharing 

subsidies, and an increase in County tax 

obligations.

• Therefore a portion of new tax revenues, 

resulting from a development project, are 

used up because of a loss of state funding 

and increased county taxes.

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

City of Auburn TIF Analysis

PolicyOne Research, Inc.

18-Oct-05

Loss in State 

Allocation for 

Education

Loss of 

Revenue 

Sharing

Increase in 

County Tax

Total Negative 

Fiscal Impact 

on Auburn

$1,000,000 $1,292,198 $27,136 -$8,260 -$1,306 $716 -$10,282 $16,854 -37.9%

$5,000,000 $6,460,992 $135,681 -$41,300 -$6,518 $3,578 -$51,397 $84,284 -37.9%

$10,000,000 $12,921,984 $271,362 -$82,600 -$13,005 $7,151 -$102,757 $168,605 -37.9%

$25,000,000 $32,304,959 $678,404 -$206,500 -$32,279 $17,836 -$256,616 $421,789 -37.8%

$50,000,000 $64,609,918 $1,356,808 -$413,000 -$63,793 $35,532 -$512,326 $844,482 -37.8%

$75,000,000 $96,914,876 $2,035,212 -$619,500 -$94,569 $53,091 -$767,160 $1,268,053 -37.7%

$100,000,000 $129,219,835 $2,713,617 -$826,000 -$124,632 $70,512 -$1,021,144 $1,692,472 -37.6%

Average -37.8%

Mil Rate-w/reval 

@$2,000,000 21.00 1.292198352

Table 9:  Revenue Impacts from Increase in State Valuation:  City of Auburn - Revaluation Model

State and County Fiscal Formula Impacts

Valuation 

Increase from 

Project (Current$)

Property Tax 

Revenues Net Revenues

% Revenues 

Loss from 

Impacts

Finding:  After the current revaluation, on average, as a result of state fiscal formulas, the City of Auburn would lose 37.8% of revenues resulting from 

a $ increase in state valuation.

Ratio of total valuation with revaluation 

($2,000,000,000) to current total valuation 

($1,547,750,000)

Valuation Increase 

from Project (Reval$)

Calculated for City of Auburn by PolicyOne Research, Inc.  September 19, 2005 assumes state valuation of $2,000,000,000 after Auburn's revaluation

The date on this graph is 2005, studies are only valid specific to each city and development.   

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 



Every New Tax Dollar

40% Lost Revenue :  State Revenue Sharing

School Aid

County Tax

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

New Value

Growth

New 

Revenue 

Reduced by 

40%
40% Returned to State 

and County

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

How is the TIF district created?

• Designate land parcels to be included within district 

boundaries.

• Prepare a development program (projects eligible to be 

financed through TIF).

• Prepare a financial plan (projections of expected revenue).

• Publish notice of public hearing before City Council.

• Vote by City Council to approve.

• Submission to Maine’s Department of Economic 

Development (DECD) .

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 



TIF Created

Project’s 

Final Total 

Value

“General 

Fund”

TIF Ends

20 Years

New Value 

Sheltered

Base Value of Project 

“General Fund”

How TIFs Work

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

Two Types of (TIF) 

Agreements
1. Infrastructure

– Used to finance public infrastructure, land acquisition, 
demolition, utilities and other improvements including:

• Sewer expansion and repair

• Curb and sidewalk work

• Traffic control

• Street construction & expansion

• Street lighting

• Water supply

• Environmental remediation

• Bridge construction & repair

• Parking structures

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

2. Credit Enhancement Agreement (CEA)

– The CEA or contract between the municipality and 

company is a mechanism to assist the development 

project by using all, or a percentage of, the tax 

revenues generated by the new investment (the TIF) 

to pay certain authorized project costs with 

payments made directly to the company.

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 



How TIFs Benefit Economic 

Development
• TIF allows the city to “shelter” new value resulting from 

certain development projects from the computation of its 
State subsidies and County taxes.

• The sheltering allows the city to retain all or a portion of 
those new tax revenues that would otherwise be passed on 
to the County and State.  

• The city achieves the sheltering effect by designating a 
specific geographic area as a Municipal Development Tax 
Increment Financing District, Auburn has 12 Active, 6 
Retired, list to follow. 

• The designation “freezes” the value of taxable property 
within the district with respect to the State and County for 
the term of the district.

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

How Has Auburn Used TIF’s?
In Auburn – 18 TIF Districts 

12 Active
– 4 & 6 – Tambrands

– 8 – Formed Fiber

– 9 – Mall Area

– 10 – Downtown Area

– 12 – Auburn Industrial Park

– 13 – Retail Development

– 14 & 15 – Mall Area

– 16 – Webster school 

(Housing)

– 17 – Bedard Medical 

– 18 – Auburn Ice Arena

6 Retired
– 1- Kittyhawk Business Park

– 2 – Never Activated

– 3-LaPointe Industries

– 5-American Falcon/Refurb

– 7- J&A/Striderite

– 11-Safe Handling

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

Fiscal Year 2015
• TIF Captured: $3,607,526

• Credit Enhancement Agreement:                                             < $946,677>

– TIF 4/6:   $457,559        - TIF 14/15 $269,525

– TIF 8:        $29,110        - TIF 16        $27,455

– TIF 13:    $133,990        - TIF 17        $29,038

• Bond Payments                                                                         < $1,014,095>

– TIF 10      $412,569

– TIF 12      $179,263

– TIF 14/15 $422,263

• Budgetary Items within Departments/GF                                < $500,000>

– Assessing Department $ 10,925

– City Manager $24,750

– Economic Development Dept $359,400

– Information Communication Tech $50,962

– Planning Dept $35,500

– Fringe $18,463

• Transferred to General Fund                                                  <$1,007,612>

Residual :                                                                                      $139,142

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 



FY2015 - $1,132,735

FY2014 - $1,173,213

FY2013 - $1,004,672

FY2012 - $1,070,751

FY2011 - $962,923

FY2010 - $944,079

FY2009 - $869,768

TIF Funds moved to General Fund 

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

15 Years with Current Structure
Fiscal Year Net Revenue

(after CEA, Bond, Administrative Costs & GF 

Transfers)

FY15 $139,143

FY16 $134,887

FY17 $142,447 *Last year for TIF 4 & 8

FY18 $116,904 *Last year for TIF 9 & 17

FY19 $113,354

FY20 $106,546

FY21 $101,716

FY22 $123,590 * Last year for TIF 9

FY23 $211,387

FY24 $609,082

FY25 $595,941

FY26 $766,107

FY27 $842,497

FY28 $1,199,935

FY29 $1,199,935

FY30 $1,199,935  

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

15 Years with GF Correction
Fiscal Year Net Revenue

(after CEA, Bond, & Administrative Costs)

FY15 $139,143

FY16 $1,004,655

FY17 $1,012,215 *Last year for TIF 4 & 8

FY18 $943,008 *Last year for TIF 9 & 17

FY19 $212,675

FY20 $205,867

FY21 $201,037

FY22 $222,911 * Last year for TIF 9

FY23 $310,708

FY24 $708,403

FY25 $695,262

FY26 $865,428

FY27 $941,818

FY28 $1,299,256

FY29 $1,299,256

FY30 $1,299,256  

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 



Kick Starters for Policy Direction

• Current Structure vs. GF Structure

• Staff Recommends Current Structure

• Review Budgetary Items being Paid from 

TIF

• 100% Capture TIF, 40% for CEA & 60% 

Leveraged for Economic Development & 

Bond Payments 

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

 



 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

District Performance Summary

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

How Has Auburn Used TIF’s?
In Auburn – 18 TIF Districts 

12 Active
– 4 & 6 – Tambrands

– 8 – Formed Fiber

– 9 – Mall Area

– 10 – Downtown Area

– 12 – Auburn Industrial Park

– 13 – Retail Development

– 14 & 15 – Mall Area

– 16 – Webster school 

(Housing)

– 17 – Bedard Medical 

– 18 – Auburn Ice Arena

6 Retired
– 1- Tambrands

– 2 – Never Activated

– 3-LaPointe Industries

– 5-American Falcon/Refurb

– 7- J&A/Striderite

– 11-Safe Handling

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 



TIF 4 – Tambrands 

• Particulars

– Dated 10/6/97

– Capture Personal 

Property 1997-2007

– Allowed  - Capture -

100%

– Actual - 35% Credit 

Enhancement 

– Actual - 65% Non-

sheltered 

• Valuations

-

10,000,000 

20,000,000 

30,000,000 

40,000,000 

50,000,000 

60,000,000 

70,000,000 

80,000,000 

90,000,000 

FY09-10 FY10-11 FY11-12 FY12-13 FY13-14

TIF 4/6

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

TIF 6 – Tambrands 

• Particulars

– Dated 11/6/2000

– Allowed  - Capture -

100%

– Actual - 40% Credit 

Enhancement 

– Actual - 60% Non-

sheltered 

• Valuations

– (Combined with TIF 4)

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

TIF 4/6

• Revenue

Captured

General 

Fund

Chart Title

702,450 

616,912 

538,144 

480,193 

497,559 

990,644 

929,981 

995,134 

886,604 

898,365 

- 500,000 1,000,000 1,500,000 2,000,000 

FY10

FY11

FY12

FY13

FY14

Captured General Fund

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 



TIF 4/6
• Expenses

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

TIF 8 – Gates Formed Fiber 

• Particulars

– Dated 7/30/2001

– Allowed  - Capture -

100%

– Actual - 40% Credit 

Enhancement 

– Actual - 60% Non-

sheltered 

• Valuations

-

2,000,000 

4,000,000 

6,000,000 

8,000,000 

10,000,000 

12,000,000 

FY09-10 FY10-11 FY11-12 FY12-13 FY13-14

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

TIF 8

• Revenue

Captured

General 

Fund

71,565

28,649

29,134

29,338

30,476

107,348

42,973

43,701

44,006

45,714

0 50,000 100,000 150,000 200,000

FY10

FY11

FY12

FY13

FY14

Captured General Fund

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 



TIF 8

• Expenses

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

TIF 9 – Mall Area 

• Particulars

– Dated 9/25/2006

– Allowed  - Capture -

100%

– Actual - 100% Bonded 

– TIF District  

• Valuations

15,500,000 

16,000,000 

16,500,000 

17,000,000 

17,500,000 

18,000,000 

18,500,000 

19,000,000 

19,500,000 

20,000,000 

20,500,000 

21,000,000 

FY09-10 FY10-11 FY11-12 FY12-13 FY13-14

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

TIF 9

• Revenue

Captured

361,753 

383,526 

385,314 

397,358 

351,161 

320,000 340,000 360,000 380,000 400,000 420,000 

FY10

FY11

FY12

FY13

FY14

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 



TIF 9

• Expenses 

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

TIF 10 – Adapt 

(Downtown Area)

• Particulars

– Dated 7/15/2002

– Allowed  - Capture -

100%

– Actual - 100% Bonded 

- TIF District 

• Valuations

33,000,000 

33,500,000 

34,000,000 

34,500,000 

35,000,000 

35,500,000 

36,000,000 

36,500,000 

37,000,000 

37,500,000 

38,000,000 

FY09-10 FY10-11 FY11-12 FY12-13 FY13-14

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

TIF 10

• Revenue

682,417

725,790

687,601

682,279

706,081

660,000 670,000 680,000 690,000 700,000 710,000 720,000 730,000

FY10

FY11

FY12

FY13

FY14

Captured

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 



TIF 10

• Expenses 

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

TIF 12 – Auburn Industrial Park

• Particulars

– Dated 3/21/2005

– Allowed  - Capture -

100%

– Actual - 100% TIF 

District 

• Valuations

-

1,000,000 

2,000,000 

3,000,000 

4,000,000 

5,000,000 

6,000,000 

7,000,000 

8,000,000 

9,000,000 

FY09-10 FY10-11 FY11-12 FY12-13 FY13-14

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

TIF 12

• Revenue

Captured

150,296 

127,210 

127,803 

129,122 

139,049 

110,000 120,000 130,000 140,000 150,000 160,000

FY10

FY11

FY12

FY13

FY14

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 



TIF 12

• Expenses – Bond Payments 

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

TIF 13 – Retail Development 

• Particulars

– Dated 9/27/2005

– Allowed  - Capture -

100%

– Actual - 42%  - Credit 

Enhancement 

– Actual – 58% TIF 

District  

• Valuations

14,800,000 

14,900,000 

FY09-10 FY10-11 FY11-12 FY12-13 FY13-14

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

TIF 13

• Revenue

Captured

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 



TIF 13

• Expenses – Credit Enhancement Agreement 

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

TIF 14/15 – Mall Area 

• Particulars

– Dated 10/30/2006

– Actual - 40%  - Credit 

Enhancement 

– Actual – 45% TIF 

District  

– Actual – 15% - General 

Fund

• Valuations

-

5,000,000 

10,000,000 

15,000,000 

20,000,000 

25,000,000 

30,000,000 

FY09-10 FY10-11 FY11-12 FY12-13 FY13-14

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

TIF 14/15

• Revenue

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 



TIF 14/15

• Expenses

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

TIF 16 – Webster School 

• Particulars

– Dated 12/1/2010

– Actual - 60%  - Credit 

Enhancement 

– Actual – 40% - General 

Fund

• Valuations

-

500,000 

1,000,000 

1,500,000 

2,000,000 

2,500,000 

FY11-12 FY12-13 FY13-14

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

TIF 16

• Revenue

Captured

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 



TIF 16

• Expenses – Credit Enhancement Agreement 

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

TIF 17 – Bedard Medical  

• Particulars

– Dated 6/1/2011

– Actual - 60%  - Credit 

Enhancement 

– Actual – 40% - General 

Fund

• Valuations

-

500,000 

1,000,000 

1,500,000 

2,000,000 

2,500,000 

3,000,000 

3,500,000 

4,000,000 

FY11-12 FY12-13 FY13-14

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

TIF 17

• Revenue

Captured

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 



TIF 17

• Expenses – Credit Enhancement Agreement

 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 

 





City of Auburn, Maine 
“Maine’s City of Opportunity” 

___________________________      ______ 
Office of Planning & Development 

60 Court Street  Suite 104  Auburn, ME 04210 

(207) 333-6600 Voice  (207) 333-6601 Automated  (207) 333-6625 Fax 

www.auburnmaine.org 
      

 

 
 
 
To: Auburn Mayor and City Council 
 
From: Zachary Lenhert, Code Compliance Officer 
 
Re: Dangerous Buildings 
 
Date: October 14, 2014 

Vacant and abandoned properties, whether residential or commercial, create costly 
problems for cities. They detract from the quality of life, as well as the economic 
opportunities, of those living around them. They are an impediment to individual 
neighborhood redevelopment and, ultimately, to achievement of city-wide economic 
development goals.  These buildings pose a safety threat to neighbors as a fire hazard 
and as a magnet for vandals and other undesirable behavior.  
 
State law provides municipalities an avenue for addressing dangerous buildings. 

M.S.R.A. 17 §2851. Dangerous buildings 
 Whenever the municipal officers in the case of a municipality…find that a building 
or structure or any portion thereof … is structurally unsafe; unstable; unsanitary; 
constitutes a fire hazard; is unsuitable or improper for the use or occupancy to which it 
is put; constitutes a hazard to health or safety because of inadequate maintenance, 
dilapidation, obsolescence or abandonment; or is otherwise dangerous to life or 
property, they may after notice and hearing on this matter adjudge the same to be a 
nuisance or dangerous and may make and record an order prescribing what disposal 
must be made of that building or structure.[1997, c. 6, §1 (AMD).] 

 
Below is a quick list of some of the worst buildings in Auburn: 
 

33 South Goff St. – This building has been vacant for years, is in very poor 
condition and chronically unsecured.  There is mold throughout and the rear of the 
building is collapsing.  It is literally falling apart. 
181 Manley Rd. – This building is small but fairly visible.  The roof is caving in and 
there is severe water damage and deterioration throughout.  The carport has 
collapsed and the property looks awful from the road. 
16 Walnut St. – Vacant and in very poor shape.  Water damage and mold 
throughout.  The property abuts the Chestnut St Football Field/PAL center. 
29 Highland Ave – The large multistory rear porch is structurally unsound and in 
very poor shape. The building has been vacant for at least a few years.  



60 Court Street  Suite 104  Auburn, ME 04210 

(207) 333-6600 Voice  (207) 333-6601 Automated  (207) 333-6625 Fax 

www.auburnmaine.org 
 

16 Newbury St. –There is extensive fire damage to the exterior porch and the 
building is chronically unsecured.  There are always children playing in this area and 
these dangerous buildings pose a risk. 
12 Patton St. – The brick foundation is caving in on one side.  The building is in 
close proximity to neighbors and the detached garage is collapsing into itself. 

 
As the Council is aware there was funding approved as part of the CIP, in the amount of 
$150k, to address some of the concerns with dangerous buildings noted above.  Staff 
will be proposing 33 South Goff Street for condemnation and demolition at the next 
Council Meeting and others will follow.  We do not plan to discuss the specific property 
in detail at the workshop to avoid any perception that discussion took place outside of 
the advertised public hearing; however, we are happy to answer any general questions 
regarding dangerous buildings.  The Plan is to use the funding repeatedly and recover 
expenses when possible or to acquire property to secure the public interest and to re-
use the funding on future dangerous buildings.  If there are other buildings that concern 
the Council we can certainly look into them and modify the list as we move forward.   
 
 
Zachary Lenhert 
Code Compliance Officer 
Assessing & Planning Assistant 
zlenhert@auburnmaine.gov 
 
Cc: Eric Cousens, Director of Planning and Permitting 













MEMO_________________________________________________ 

 

TO:  City Manager Clinton Deschene 
FROM:  Fire Chief Frank Roma 
DATE:  October 15, 2014 
 
SUBJECT: EMS UPDATE 
 
 
The Auburn Fire Department has stood up our EMS transport program effective October 14th. This is 
approximately two weeks later than we had anticipated and as such, I would respectfully ask that the 
EMS Update scheduled for the upcoming Council meeting be pulled down off of the agenda and be 
rescheduled to a meeting in mid November. 
 
This will allow for us having at least a full month of service experience data to reflect upon, as well as 
hopefully see some response from UAS and the hospitals to the Council correspondence of October 6th. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Auburn, Maine 
“Maine’s City of Opportunity” 

___________________________      ______ 
Financial Services 

60 Court Street • Suite 411 • Auburn, ME 04210 
(207) 333-6600 Voice • (207) 333-6601 Automated • (207) 333-6620 Fax 

www.auburnmaine.org 
      
 

 
 
 
 
 
TO:    Clinton Deschene, City Manager 

FROM:   Jill Eastman, Finance Director 

REF:    September 2014 Financial Report 

DATE:  October 14, 2014 
 
The following is a discussion regarding the significant variances found in the City’s September 
financial report. Please note that although the monthly financial report contains amounts reported by 
the School Department, this discussion is limited to the City’s financial results and does not attempt 
to explain any variances for the School Department. 
 

The City has completed its third month of the current fiscal year. As a guideline for tracking purposes, 
revenues and expenditures should amount to approximately 25.0% of the annual budget.  However, 
not all costs and revenues are distributed evenly throughout the year; individual line items can vary 
based upon cyclical activity.    
 

Revenues 
 

Revenues collected through September 30th, including the school department were $23,818,593, or 
31.30%, of the budget. The municipal revenues including property taxes were $22,151,132, or 41.01% 
of the budget which is less than the same period last year by 1.56%. The accounts listed below are 
noteworthy. 

 

A. September 15th the first installment for real estate taxes were due. The current year 
tax revenue is at 46.09% as compared to 46.59% last year.  
 

B. Excise tax for the month of September is at 28.78%. This is a $47,194 increase from FY 
13. Our excise revenues for FY15 are 3.78% above projections as of September 30, 
2014.  

 

C. State Revenue Sharing for the month of September is 14.37% or $237,111. The city 
received $29,322 this month. This is $142,124 decrease from this September to last 
September.  
 

 



 2 

D. Homestead Exemption is 77.53% of budget at the end of September. We received 75% 
of our allotted amount in September and the balance in June. 
 

E. Business and Non-Business Licenses and Permits are at 28.15% of budget due to 
various licenses and permits coming in higher than anticipated. 
 
 

Expenditures 
 
City expenditures through September 2014 were $13,155,944 or 34.74%, of the budget. This is 0.62% 
higher than the same period last year. Noteworthy variances are: 
 

A. Debt Service payments were up by $406,754 – which is for 2013 Bond principal and 
interest payments.  

 
Investments  
 
This section contains an investment schedule as of September 30th.  Currently the City’s funds are 
earning an average interest rate of .19%. 
 
I have attached the bond rating documents that we received from Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s 
on the FY15 bonds for your review. 
 
         
        Respectfully submitted, 

        
          

Jill M. Eastman 
 Finance Director 



 UNAUDITED UNAUDITED AUDITED
September 30 August 31 Increase JUNE 30

2014 2014 (Decrease) 2013
ASSETS

CASH 16,088,659$         3,027,169$         13,061,490$         15,074,324$       
RECEIVABLES -                        
  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES 736,441                827,557              (91,116)                 1,218,554           
  TAXES RECEIVABLE-CURRENT 21,741,279           41,281,111         (19,539,833)          107,929              
  DELINQUENT TAXES 645,386                663,697              (18,311)                 486,160              
  TAX LIENS 1,004,580             1,087,927           (83,347)                 1,415,461           
  NET DUE TO/FROM OTHER FUNDS 4,077,001             9,205,125           (5,128,124)            470,312              

 
TOTAL ASSETS 44,293,346$         56,092,587$       (11,799,241)$        18,772,740$       

 
 

LIABILITIES & FUND BALANCES  
 

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE (173,763)$             (2,411,627)$        2,237,864$           (670,227)$           
PAYROLL LIABILITIES (82,022)                 (276,445)             194,423                (501)                    
ACCRUED PAYROLL (895,756)               (895,756)             -                        (2,274,075)          
STATE FEES PAYABLE (47,722)                 (52,656)               4,933                    -                      
ESCROWED AMOUNTS (50,651)                 (43,526)               (7,125)                   (41,865)               
DEFERRED REVENUE (23,078,626)          (42,720,213)        19,641,587           (1,822,839)          

 
     TOTAL LIABILITIES (24,328,541)$        (46,400,223)$      22,071,682$         (4,809,507)$        

 
FUND BALANCE - UNASSIGNED (18,873,853)$        (8,601,412)$        (10,272,441)$        (12,378,441)$      
FUND BALANCE - RESTRICTED FOR  
     WORKERS COMP & UNEMPLOYMENT 776,017                776,017              -                        684,766              

FUND BALANCE - RESTRICTED (1,866,970)            (1,866,970)          -                        (2,269,558)          
 

     TOTAL FUND BALANCE (19,964,805)$        (9,692,365)$        (10,272,441)$        (13,963,233)$      
 

  
     TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE (44,293,346)$        (56,092,587)$      11,799,241$         (18,772,740)$      

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
 BALANCE SHEET - CITY GENERAL FUND, WC AND UNEMPLOYMENT FUND 

AS of September 2014, August 2014, and June 2013 



REVENUES - GENERAL FUND COMPARATIVE
THROUGH September 30, 2014 VS September 30, 2013 

ACTUAL ACTUAL
FY 2015 REVENUES % OF FY 2014 REVENUES % OF  

REVENUE SOURCE BUDGET THRU SEPTG 2014 BUDGET BUDGET THRU SEPT 2013 BUDGET VARIANCE
TAXES
  PROPERTY TAX REVENUE- 43,055,996$        19,844,817$        46.09% 42,844,641$     19,959,812$      46.59% (114,995)$        
  PRIOR YEAR REVENUE -$                     403,716$              -$                 313,006  90,710$            
  HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION REIMBURSEMENT 495,000$             383,752$             77.53% 482,575$          371,573$           77.00% 12,179$            
  ALLOWANCE FOR ABATEMENT -$                     -$                      -$                 -$                        -$                 
  ALLOWANCE FOR UNCOLLECTIBLE TAXES -$                     -$                      -$                 -$                        -$                 
  EXCISE 3,185,000$          916,565$             28.78% 3,068,500$       869,371$           28.33% 47,194$            
  PENALTIES & INTEREST 145,000$             24,880$               17.16% 140,000$          20,982$             14.99% 3,898$              

     TOTAL TAXES 46,880,996$        21,573,730$        46.02% 46,535,716$     21,534,744$      46.28% 38,986$            
  

LICENSES AND PERMITS   
  BUSINESS 48,300$               15,253$               31.58% 47,300$            11,448$             24.20% 3,805$              
  NON-BUSINESS 339,300$             93,864$               27.66% 338,300$          120,033$           35.48% (26,169)$          

     TOTAL LICENSES 387,600$             109,116$             28.15% 385,600$          131,481$           34.10% (22,365)$          
  

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ASSISTANCE   
  STATE-LOCAL ROAD ASSISTANCE 440,000$             -$                     0.00% 440,000$          -$                       0.00% -$                 
  STATE REVENUE SHARING 1,649,470$          237,111$             14.37% 1,649,470$       379,235$           22.99% (142,124)$        
  WELFARE REIMBURSEMENT 70,000$               11,540$               16.49% 53,000$            -$                       0.00% 11,540$            
  OTHER STATE AID 22,000$               -$                     0.00% 22,000$            -$                       0.00% -$                 
  CITY OF LEWISTON 155,000$             -$                     0.00% 155,000$          -$                       0.00% -$                 
     TOTAL INTERGOVERNMENTAL ASSISTANCE 2,336,470$          248,651$             10.64% 2,319,470$       379,235$           16.35% (130,584)$        

  
CHARGE FOR SERVICES   
  GENERAL GOVERNMENT 132,040$             33,806$               25.60% 140,240$          29,148$             20.78% 4,658$              
  PUBLIC SAFETY 485,703$             77,000$               15.85% 366,152$          23,384$             6.39% 53,616$            
  EMS AGREEMENT 987,551$             -$                     0.00% 100,000$          25,000$             25.00% (25,000)$          

     TOTAL CHARGE FOR SERVICES 1,605,294$          110,805$             6.90% 606,392$          77,532$             12.79% 33,273$            
  

FINES   
  PARKING TICKETS & MISC FINES 26,000$               13,606$               52.33% 40,000$            4,599$               11.50% 9,007$              

   
MISCELLANEOUS    
  INVESTMENT INCOME 10,000$               81$                      0.81% 20,000$            86$                    0.43% (5)$                   
  INTEREST-BOND PROCEEDS 2,000$                 -$                     0.00% 2,000$              -$                       0.00% -$                 
  RENTS 122,000$             -$                     0.00% 122,000$          -$                       0.00% -$                 
  UNCLASSIFIED 20,000$               28,257$               141.28% 17,500$            38,396$             219.41% (10,139)$          
  SALE OF RECYCLABLES -$                     -$                      4,800$              -$                       0.00% -$                 
  COMMERCIAL SOLID WASTE FEES -$                     10,072$                -$                 10,478$              (407)$               
  SALE OF PROPERTY 20,000$               1,200$                 6.00% 20,000$            6,760$               33.80% (5,560)$            
  RECREATION PROGRAMS/ARENA -$                     -$                      -$                 -$                        -$                 
  MMWAC HOST FEES 206,000$             52,315$               25.40% 204,000$          51,448$             25.22% 867$                 
  9-1-1 DEBT SERVICE REIMBURSEMENT -$                     -$                      -$                 -$                       0.00% -$                 
  TRANSFER IN: TIF 500,000$             -$                     0.00% 520,000$          -$                       0.00% -$                 
  TRANSFER IN: POLICE 20,000$               0.00% -$                 -$                 
  TRANSFER IN: PARKING PROGRAM 55,000$               0.00% -$                 -$                 
  TRANSFER IN: PD DRUG MONEY 45,000$               0.00% -$                 -$                 
  TRANSFER IN: REC SPEC REVENUE 41,720$               0.00% -$                 -$                 
  TRANSFER IN: SPECIAL REVENUE 290,000$             0.00% -$                 -$                 
  ENERGY EFFICIENCY -$                     -$                      2,000$              279$                  13.95% (279)$               
  CDBG 58,000$               -$                     0.00% 58,000$            -$                       0.00% -$                 
  UTILITY REIMBURSEMENT 37,500$               3,299$                 8.80% 37,500$            5,440$               14.51% (2,141)$            
  CITY FUND BALANCE CONTRIBUTION 1,350,000$          -$                     0.00% 1,350,000$       -$                       0.00% -$                 

     TOTAL MISCELLANEOUS 2,777,220$          95,224$               3.43% 2,357,800$       112,887$           4.79% (17,663)$          
-$                       

TOTAL GENERAL FUND REVENUES 54,013,580$        22,151,132$        41.01% 52,244,978$     22,240,478$      42.57% (89,346)$          

SCHOOL REVENUES
  EDUCATION SUBSIDY 20,411,239$        1,607,611$          7.88% 17,942,071$     3,779,205$        21.06% (2,171,594)$     
  EDUCATION 774,572$             59,850$               7.73% 1,358,724$       52,110$             3.84% 7,740$              
  SCHOOL FUND BALANCE CONTRIBUTION 906,882$             -$                     0.00% 855,251$          -$                       0.00% -$                 

TOTAL SCHOOL 22,092,693$        1,667,461$          7.55% 20,156,046$     3,831,315$        19.01% (2,163,854)$     

GRAND TOTAL REVENUES 76,106,273$        23,818,593$        31.30% 72,401,024$     26,071,793$      36.01% (2,253,200)$     

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE



Unaudited  Unaudited  
FY 2015 EXP % OF FY 2014 EXP % OF

DEPARTMENT BUDGET THRU SEPT 2014 BUDGET BUDGET THRU SEPT 2013 BUDGET VARIANCE
ADMINISTRATION  
   MAYOR AND COUNCIL 78,532$                22,339$              28.45% 71,079$          13,630$              19.18% 8,709$          
   CITY MANAGER 280,750$              61,744$              21.99% 238,903$        56,903$              23.82% 4,841$          
   ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 359,500$              59,761$              16.62% 318,933$        95,217$              29.85% (35,456)$       
   ASSESSING SERVICES 177,320$              37,094$              20.92% 172,277$        40,336$              23.41% (3,242)$         
   CITY CLERK 164,593$              30,770$              18.69% 162,045$        33,284$              20.54% (2,514)$         
   FINANCIAL SERVICES 427,815$              93,391$              21.83% 405,976$        93,410$              23.01% (19)$              
   HUMAN RESOURCES 139,578$              29,817$              21.36% 139,566$        29,146$              20.88% 671$             
   INFORMATION COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY 413,829$              105,340$            25.45% 395,350$        165,617$            41.89% (60,277)$       
   LEGAL SERVICES 65,000$                2,902$                4.46% 100,000$        -$                        0.00% 2,902$          

TOTAL ADMINISTRATION 2,106,917$           443,158$            21.03% 2,004,129$     527,543$            26.32% (84,385)$       

COMMUNITY SERVICES
   PLANNING & PERMITTING 902,494$              198,993$            22.05% 775,230$        182,818$            23.58% 16,175$        
   HEALTH & SOCIAL SERVICES 192,954$              41,842$              21.68% 189,539$        58,240$              30.73% (16,398)$       
   PUBLIC LIBRARY 960,692$              235,298$            24.49% 946,737$        231,809$            24.49% 3,489$          

TOTAL COMMUNITY SERVICES 2,056,140$           476,133$            23.16% 2,759,028$     472,867$            17.14% 3,266$          
 

FISCAL SERVICES
   DEBT SERVICE 6,263,936$           5,083,163$         81.15% 6,321,584$     4,676,409$         73.98% 406,754$      
   FACILITIES 698,335$              161,362$            23.11% 715,667$        201,655$            28.18% (40,293)$       
   WORKERS COMPENSATION 468,081$              -$                        0.00% 431,446$        -$                        0.00% -$                  
   WAGES & BENEFITS 4,737,117$           1,309,325$         27.64% 4,397,585$     1,197,179$         27.22% 112,146$      
   EMERGENCY RESERVE (10108062-670000) 375,289$              -$                        0.00% 375,289$        -$                        0.00% -$                  

TOTAL FISCAL SERVICES 12,542,758$         6,553,850$         52.25% 12,241,571$   6,075,243$         49.63% 478,607$      

PUBLIC SAFETY
   FIRE DEPARTMENT 4,057,633$           1,017,096$         25.07% 4,024,789$     941,530$            23.39% 75,566$        
   FIRE EMS 635,468$              178,881$            28.15%  178,881$      
   POLICE DEPARTMENT 3,738,108$           767,296$            20.53% 3,589,583$     736,860$            20.53% 30,436$        

TOTAL PUBLIC SAFETY 8,431,209$           1,963,273$         23.29% 7,614,372$     1,678,390$         22.04% 284,883$      

PUBLIC WORKS
   PUBLIC SERVICES DEPARTMENT 5,806,379$           1,121,924$         19.32% 5,577,954$     1,061,912$         19.04% 60,012$        
   WATER AND SEWER 599,013$              146,628$            24.48% 558,835$        135,231$            24.20% 11,397$        

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS 6,405,392$           1,268,552$         19.80% 5,289,267$     1,197,143$         22.63% 71,409$        

INTERGOVERNMENTAL PROGRAMS
   AUBURN-LEWISTON AIRPORT 105,000$              26,250$              25.00% 105,000$        52,500$              50.00% (26,250)$       
   E911 COMMUNICATION CENTER 1,067,249$           325,005$            30.45% 1,036,409$     260,725$            25.16% 64,280$        
   LATC-PUBLIC TRANSIT 235,373$              52,844$              22.45% 235,496$        -$                        0.00% 52,844$        
   LAEGC-ECONOMIC COUNCIL -$                          -$                         -$                   -$                         -$                  
   LA ARTS 17,000$                -$                        0.00% -$                   -$                         -$                  
   TAX SHARING 270,000$              -$                        0.00% 270,000$        37,347$              13.83% (37,347)$       

TOTAL INTERGOVERNMENTAL 1,694,622$           404,099$            23.85% 1,646,905$     350,572$            21.29% 53,527$        

COUNTY TAX 2,046,880$           2,046,879$         100.00% 2,029,513$     2,029,512$         100.00% 17,367$        
TIF (10108058-580000) 2,584,032$           -$                        0.00% 2,555,723$     -$                        0.00% -$                  
OVERLAY -$                          -$                         -$                   -$                        0.00% -$                  

-$                  
TOTAL CITY DEPARTMENTS 37,867,950$         13,155,944$       34.74% 36,140,508$   12,331,270$       34.12% 824,674$      

EDUCATION DEPARTMENT 38,241,323$         1,314,883$         3.44% 37,128,028$   2,543,560$         6.85% (1,228,677)$  
  

TOTAL GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES 76,109,273$         14,470,827$       19.01% 73,268,536$   14,874,830$       20.30% (404,003)$     

 CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
EXPENDITURES - GENERAL FUND COMPARATIVE

THROUGH September 30, 2014 VS September 30, 2013



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
INVESTMENT SCHEDULE
AS OF September 30, 2014

BALANCE BALANCE INTEREST WEIGHTED
INVESTMENT FUND September 30, 2014 August 31, 2014 RATE AVG YIELD

BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1242924 GENERAL FUND 55,431.96$                   55,425.13$                   0.15%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1745910 GF-WORKERS COMP 49,290.81$                   49,287.57$                   0.08%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1745944 GF-UNEMPLOYMENT 67,020.92$                   67,012.66$                   0.15%
BANKNORTH CD 7033 GF-UNEMPLOYMENT 102,404.84$                 102,404.84$                 0.15%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1809302 SPECIAL REVENUE 52,651.49$                   52,645.00$                   0.15%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1745902 SR-PERMIT PARKING 198,346.14$                 198,321.69$                 0.15%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1745895 SR-TIF 1,119,820.01$              1,119,681.97$              0.15%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1746819 CAPITAL PROJECTS 4,777,534.07$              4,777,191.68$              0.20%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1745928 ICE ARENA 249,739.20$                 249,708.41$                 0.15%

GRAND TOTAL 6,672,239.44$              6,671,678.95$              0.19%



City of Auburn, Maine 
“Maine’s City of Opportunity” 

___________________________      ______ 
Financial Services 

60 Court Street • Suite 411 • Auburn, ME 04210 
(207) 333-6600 Voice • (207) 333-6601 Automated • (207) 333-6620 Fax 

www.auburnmaine.org 
      
 

 
 
To: Clinton Deschene, City Manager 
From: Jill Eastman, Finance Director 
Re: Arena Financial Reports for September 30, 2014 
 
Attached you will find a Statement of Net Assets and a Statement of Activities for the Ingersoll Arena  
and the Norway Savings Bank Arena as of September 30, 2014. I have also attached budget to actual 
reports for Norway Savings Bank Arena for revenue and expenditures.  
 
INGERSOLL ARENA 
 
Statement of Net Assets: 
The Statement of Net Assets lists current assets, noncurrent assets, liabilities and net assets.  
 
Current Assets: 
As of the end of September 2014 the total current assets were $130,897. These consisted of cash and 
cash equivalents of $249,708, and an interfund payable of $118,811, which means that Ingersoll owes 
the General Fund $118,811, so net cash available to Ingersoll is $130,897 at the end of September. 
 
Noncurrent Assets: 
Noncurrent assets are the building, equipment and any building and land improvements, less 
depreciation. The total value of noncurrent assets as of September 30, 2014 were $232,292. The 
equipment that was transferred to Norway Savings Bank Arena or sold have been removed from the 
Ingersoll balance sheet as well as the related accumulated depreciation. 
 
Liabilities: 
Ingersoll had no liabilities as of September 30, 2014 
 
Statement of Activities: 
 
The statement of activities shows the current operating revenue collected for the fiscal year and the 
operating expenses as well as any nonoperating revenue and expenses. 
 
Ingersoll Arena had no operating revenues through September 2014. 
 
The operating expenses for Ingersoll Arena through September 2014, were $2,244. These expenses 
include supplies, utilities, and repairs and maintenance. 
 
As of September 2014 Ingersoll has an operating loss of ($2,244).  
 
Non-operating revenue and expenses consist of interest income and debt service payments. The interest 
income to date is $64 and debt service expense to date is $81,563.  
 
As of September 30, 2014 Ingersoll has a decrease in net assets of $83,743. 



 2 

NORWAY SAVINGS BANK ARENA 
 
Statement of Net Assets: 
The Statement of Net Assets lists current assets, noncurrent assets, liabilities and net assets.  
 
Current Assets: 
As of the end of September 2014 the total current assets of Norway Savings Bank Arena were ($61,875). 
These consisted of cash and cash equivalents of $91,281, and an interfund payable of $153,156, which 
means that Norway owes the General Fund $153,156 at the end of September.  
 
Noncurrent Assets: 
Norway’s noncurrent assets are equipment that was purchased, less depreciation (depreciation is 
posted at year end). There was an adjustment to the equipment to account for equipment that was 
transferred from Ingersoll Arena. The total value of the noncurrent assets as of September 30, 2014 was 
$239,332. 
 
Liabilities: 
Norway Arena had accounts payable of $2 as of September 30, 2014.  
 
Statement of Activities: 
 
The statement of activities shows the current operating revenue collected for the fiscal year and the 
operating expenses as well as any nonoperating revenue and expenses. 
 
The operating revenues for Norway Arena through September 2014 are $152,120. This revenue comes 
from the concessions, sign advertisements, pro shop lease, youth programming, shinny hockey, public 
skating and ice rentals. 
 
The operating expenses for Norway Arena through September 2014 were $322,592. These expenses 
include personnel costs, supplies, utilities, repairs, capital purchases and maintenance. July 1st Norway 
began to pay the monthly rent payment on the arena of $42,207 to Slap Shot LLC. The October rent 
payment was posted in September in order to have the check available for October 1st. 
 
As of September 2014 Norway Arena has an operating loss of $170,472. 
 
As of September 30, 2014 Norway Arena has a decrease in net assets of $170,472. 
 
I have also attached budget to actual reports for revenue and expenditures. 
 
 
 
 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Statement of Net Assets

Proprietary Funds
September 30, 2014 

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Ingersoll Norway
Savings Combined

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 249,708$        91,281$        340,989$         
Interfund receivables (118,811)$       (153,156)$     (271,967)         
Accounts receivable -                      -                    -                      

Total current assets 130,897          (61,875)         69,022             
Noncurrent assets:

Capital assets:
Buildings 672,279          35,905          708,184           
Equipment 66,415            285,813        352,228           
Land improvements 18,584            18,584             
     Less accumulated depreciation (524,986)         (82,386)         (607,372)         

Total noncurrent assets 232,292          239,332        471,624           
Total assets 363,189          177,457        540,646           

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable -$                    2$                 2                      
Total liabilities -                      2                   2                      

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets 232,292$        239,332$      471,624           
Unrestricted 130,897$        (61,877)$       69,020             

Total net assets 363,189$        177,455$      540,644$         



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets

Proprietary Funds
Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Statement of Activities
 August 31, 2014 

Norway
Ingersoll Savings
Ice Arena Arena Total

Operating revenues:
Charges for services -$                   152,120$       152,120$          

Operating expenses:
Personnel -                     67,644            67,644              
Supplies -                     17,771            17,771              
Utilities 1,879            46,970            48,849              
Repairs and maintenance 365                3,156              3,521                
Rent 168,828          168,828            
Depreciation -                     -                       -                         
Capital expenses -                       -                         
Other expenses -                     18,223            18,223              

Total operating expenses 2,244            322,592          324,836            

Operating  gain (loss) (2,244)           (170,472)        (172,716)          

Nonoperating revenue (expense):
Interest income 64                  -                       64                      
Interest expense (debt service) (81,563)         -                       (81,563)             

Total nonoperating expense (81,499)         -                       (81,499)             

Gain before transfer (83,743)         (170,472)        (254,215)          

Transfers out -                     -                       

Change in net assets (83,743)         (170,472)        (254,215)          

Total net assets, July 1 446,932        347,927          794,859            

Total net assets, September 30, 2014 363,189$      177,455$       540,644$         



REVENUES - NORWAY SAVINGS BANK ARENA
Through September 30, 2014 

ACTUAL
FY 2015 REVENUES % OF

REVENUE SOURCE BUDGET THRU SEPT 2014 BUDGET
 

CHARGE FOR SERVICES  
  Concssions 30,000$            -$                       0.00%
  Sign Advertisements 233,225$          69,958$                 30.00%
  Pro Shop 8,500$              1,686$                   19.84%
  Programs 172,450$          6,750$                   3.91%
  Rental Income 753,260$          72,601$                 9.64%
  Tournaments 24,500$            1,125$                   4.59%

     TOTAL CHARGE FOR SERVICES 1,221,935$       152,120$               12.45%
 

INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS -$                      

GRAND TOTAL REVENUES 1,221,935$       152,120$               12.45%

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE



EXPENDITURES - NORWAY SAVINGS BANK ARENA
Through September 30, 2014 

ACTUAL
FY 2015 EXPENDITURES % OF

REVENUE SOURCE BUDGET THRU SEPT 2014 BUDGET
 
 

  Salaries & Benefits 318,446$          67,644$                 21.24%
  Purchased Services 67,800$            21,379$                 31.53%
  Supplies 9,000$              17,771$                 197.46%
  Utilities 204,846$          46,970$                 22.93%
  Capital Outlay 80,000$            -$                       0.00%
  Rent 528,408$          168,828$               31.95%

1,208,500$       322,592$               26.69%
 

GRAND TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,208,500$       322,592$               26.69%

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE



New Issue: Moody's assigns Aa3 to Auburn, ME's $7.2M 2014 GO Bonds

Global Credit Research - 09 Oct 2014

Affirms Aa3 affecting $57.2M of GO debt outstanding

AUBURN (CITY OF) ME
Cities (including Towns, Villages and Townships)
ME

Moody's Rating
ISSUE RATING
2014 General Obligation Bonds Aa3
   Sale Amount $7,200,000
   Expected Sale Date 10/15/14
   Rating Description General Obligation
 

Moody's Outlook  NOO
 

Opinion

NEW YORK, October 09, 2014 --Moody's Investors Service has assigned a Aa3 rating to the City of Auburn,
ME's $7.2 million 2014 General Obligation Bonds. Concurrently, Moody's has affirmed the Aa3 rating on the city's
approximately $57.2 million in outstanding general obligation debt. The current issue will fund various capital
projects for the city and the school department. The school bonds ($2.1 million of the current issue) are secured
by the city's general obligation unlimited tax pledge. The remainder of the bonds are secured by the city's general
obligation limited tax pledge as debt service for municipal purposes is subject to the state's property tax limitation
known as LD-1.

SUMMARY RATING RATIONALE

The Aa3 rating reflects the city's healthy and stable financial position, moderately-sized tax base with average
wealth levels, and above-average debt burden.

STRENGTHS

- Sound reserve position supported by a formal fund balance policy and conservative budgeting practices

- Ample property tax levy capacity under LD-1 limit

- Minimal pension and OPEB liabilities

CHALLENGES

- Above average debt burden

- Rising education costs to comply with state mandated school funding requirement

DETAILED CREDIT DISCUSSION

CAREFULLY MANAGED FINANCIAL POSITION

Auburn's financial position will remain stable given conservative budgeting practices, management's commitment
to maintaining healthy reserve levels as reflected in a formal policy, and flexibility provided by significant property
tax levy capacity. Following multiple years of balanced or surplus operations, fiscal 2013 ended with a planned



$1.6 million draw on General Fund balance. The city has a formal policy to maintain available reserves
(unassigned plus assigned fund balance) at a minimum of 12.5% of school and municipal expenditures, and the
city has generally maintained reserves in excess of that policy. Following the draw down, this balance declined to
$9.9 million (13.5% of expenditures) from $11.7 million (16.4% of expenditures) in fiscal 2012. The total General
Fund balance was $12.4 million (a healthy 17.2% of revenues) at the end of fiscal 2013.

According to fiscal 2014 unaudited results, the city expects total fund balance to decline by $300,000 to $12.1
million (16.8% of revenues) and available reserves will remain above 13% of expenditures. Fiscal 2014 excise
taxes exceeded budgeted projections, although fire department overtime and truck repairs came in over budget.
The fiscal 2015 budget increased 3.85% over the prior year due to the addition of EMT services (which were
formally outsourced) and increased education costs to comply with the state's school funding requirement.
Budgetary growth is offset by projected increases in excise taxes, a 2% property tax levy increase, and a $2.1
million fund balance appropriation. Education costs will continue to be a budget driver, especially over the near
term, as the city is required to increase student funding to comply with state mandated levels within the next two
years. Management anticipates this will cost the city approximately $2 million. Notably, the city's overall financial
flexibility is enhanced by a significant $7.5 million of accumulated excess taxing capacity under the provisions of
LD-1, representing the amount of levy growth available for future budgets.

The city is exposed to moderate enterprise risk after leasing a new ice arena that had been constructed by a
private developer. The arena opened in November 2013 and the city has entered into an agreement to reimburse
the developer for construction costs. The total project is expected to cost the city a total of $8.2 million, amortized
over 30 years. Total payments per year will remain level at approximately $504,000 ($42,000 monthly) which
represents less than 1% of the city's annual budget. Arena usage fees are expected to be sufficient to pay all
operating costs as well as the payments to the developer, but General Fund revenues will be used for any
shortfalls. Moody's considers this risk manageable and we will continue to monitor what pressure, if any, the ice
area imposes on the city's General Fund.

MODEST GROWTH EXPECTED FOR MODERATELY SIZED TAX BASE WITH HEALTHY COMMERCIAL
PRESENCE

Following multiple years of tax base declines, the city's moderately-sized $1.9 billion tax base should begin to
stabilize in the near term and experience modest growth over the medium term given new commercial
development. The tax base, which is 51% residential and 34% commercial/industrial, experienced declines in four
of the last five years, leading to an compound annual decrease of 0.6% between 2009 and 2014. While the city
does maintain an above average degree of taxpayer concentration, with the top ten taxpayers representing 11.9%
of the total assessed value, the largest taxpayer, Tambrands (3.1% of 2014 assessed value), a division of The
Procter & Gamble Company (Aa3 stable), has recently made sizable capital investments at its Auburn facility and
hired 60 new employees. Additional new development includes a new industrial park, expansion of a trucking
company, and the construction of a Hobby Lobby. The city's median family income is on par with the state (97%)
and below the nation (90%), and full value per capita is $83,548. The July 2014 unemployment (5.0%) is below that
of the state (5.2%) and nation (6.5%).

CITY WILL REMAIN HIGHLY LEVERAGED

Auburn's debt position will remain above average yet manageable given rapid amortization of principal and future
borrowing plans to partially support the Capital Improvement Plan. Including the current issue, the city's debt
position is an above average 3.3% of full value, although the city has no overlapping debt. Pension obligation
bonds (POBs) issued in 2003 represent a small portion of the city's total outstanding debt (3.5%). Debt service
accounted for an above average 9.0% of 2013 expenditures but principal is amortized rapidly, with 95.2% of retired
within 10 years. The city's only additional authorized debt relates to a $5 million parking garage project, debt that
officials do not expect to issue. While there is currently no other authorized unissued debt outstanding, the city
expects to borrow $20 to $25 million over the next four years. Additionally, the city is considering constructing a
new high school, although approval of this project will depend on state support. Should the state approve
subsidies, pursuant to the city's charter, the project would be subject to referendum approval. All of the city's debt
is fixed rate and it is not party to any derivative agreements.

The city issued pension obligation bonds in 2003, which were subsequently refunded in 2012, to fully fund its initial
unfunded actuarial liability to the Maine State Retirement System. In addition, the city maintains a single employer
defined benefit plan for police and fire employees who joined prior to the city's participation in the state plan. The
reported unfunded liability is less than $1 million for 14 retirees. The city's teachers participate in the Maine Public
Employees Retirement System's Teacher Plan, which is administered at the state level. Beginning in fiscal 2014,
the city is responsible for approximately half of the normal cost of the teachers' plan. The city contributed $491,000



in fiscal 2014. This additional contribution is not expected to pressure the city's financial position over the near
term. The OPEB liability is modest at $3.5 million as it is limited to the value of its implicit rate subsidy to retirees
that buy into the health insurance benefit plan offered to active employees.

WHAT COULD MAKE THE RATING GO UP

- Substantial growth of reserve levels

- Sustained trend of material tax base growth and diversification

- Significant improvement in demographic profile relative to state and national medians

- Material decline in the debt burden

WHAT COULD MAKE THE RATING GO DOWN

- Trend of operating deficits resulting in a material decline in reserves

- Declines in the tax base or deterioration of the demographic profile

- Material growth in debt burden

KEY STATISTICS:

2014 Full Value: $1.9 billion

2014 Full Value Per Capita: $83,548

Median Family Income as % of US: 90.0%

Fiscal 2013 Available Fund balance as a % of Revenues: 13.8%

5-Year Dollar Change in Fund Balance as % of Revenues: -0.9%

Fiscal 2013 Cash Balance as % of Revenues: 15.6%

5-Year Dollar Change in Cash Balance as % of Revenues: -0.8%

Institutional Framework: Aa

5-Year Average Operating Revenues / Operating Expenditures: 1.0x

Net Direct Debt as % of Full Value: 3.3%

Net Direct Debt / Operating Revenues: 0.9x

3-Year Average of Moody's ANPL as % of Full Value: 0.7%

3-Year Average of Moody's ANPL / Operating Revenues: 0.2x

The principal methodology used in this rating was US Local Government General Obligation Debt published in
January 2014. Please see the Credit Policy page on www.moodys.com for a copy of this methodology.

REGULATORY DISCLOSURES

For ratings issued on a program, series or category/class of debt, this announcement provides certain regulatory
disclosures in relation to each rating of a subsequently issued bond or note of the same series or category/class
of debt or pursuant to a program for which the ratings are derived exclusively from existing ratings in accordance
with Moody's rating practices. For ratings issued on a support provider, this announcement provides certain
regulatory disclosures in relation to the rating action on the support provider and in relation to each particular rating
action for securities that derive their credit ratings from the support provider's credit rating. For provisional ratings,
this announcement provides certain regulatory disclosures in relation to the provisional rating assigned, and in
relation to a definitive rating that may be assigned subsequent to the final issuance of the debt, in each case where
the transaction structure and terms have not changed prior to the assignment of the definitive rating in a manner
that would have affected the rating. For further information please see the ratings tab on the issuer/entity page for



the respective issuer on www.moodys.com.

Regulatory disclosures contained in this press release apply to the credit rating and, if applicable, the related rating
outlook or rating review.

Please see www.moodys.com for any updates on changes to the lead rating analyst and to the Moody's legal
entity that has issued the rating.

Please see the ratings tab on the issuer/entity page on www.moodys.com for additional regulatory disclosures for
each credit rating.

Analysts

Heather Guss
Lead Analyst
Public Finance Group
Moody's Investors Service

Lauren Von Bargen
Backup Analyst
Public Finance Group
Moody's Investors Service

Geordie Thompson
Additional Contact
Public Finance Group
Moody's Investors Service

Contacts

Journalists: (212) 553-0376 
Research Clients: (212) 553-1653

Moody's Investors Service, Inc. 
250 Greenwich Street 
New York, NY 10007 
USA

 

© 2014 Moody's Corporation, Moody's Investors Service, Inc., Moody's Analytics, Inc. and/or their licensors and
affiliates (collectively, "MOODY'S"). All rights reserved.

 

CREDIT RATINGS ISSUED BY MOODY'S INVESTORS SERVICE, INC. ("MIS") AND ITS AFFILIATES ARE
MOODY'S CURRENT OPINIONS OF THE RELATIVE FUTURE CREDIT RISK OF ENTITIES, CREDIT
COMMITMENTS, OR DEBT OR DEBT-LIKE SECURITIES, AND CREDIT RATINGS AND RESEARCH
PUBLICATIONS PUBLISHED BY MOODY'S ("MOODY'S PUBLICATION") MAY INCLUDE MOODY'S
CURRENT OPINIONS OF THE RELATIVE FUTURE CREDIT RISK OF ENTITIES, CREDIT COMMITMENTS,
OR DEBT OR DEBT-LIKE SECURITIES. MOODY'S DEFINES CREDIT RISK AS THE RISK THAT AN
ENTITY MAY NOT MEET ITS CONTRACTUAL, FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS AS THEY COME DUE AND ANY
ESTIMATED FINANCIAL LOSS IN THE EVENT OF DEFAULT. CREDIT RATINGS DO NOT ADDRESS ANY
OTHER RISK, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO: LIQUIDITY RISK, MARKET VALUE RISK, OR PRICE
VOLATILITY. CREDIT RATINGS AND MOODY'S OPINIONS INCLUDED IN MOODY'S PUBLICATIONS ARE
NOT STATEMENTS OF CURRENT OR HISTORICAL FACT. MOODY'S PUBLICATIONS MAY ALSO



INCLUDE QUANTITATIVE MODEL-BASED ESTIMATES OF CREDIT RISK AND RELATED OPINIONS OR
COMMENTARY PUBLISHED BY MOODY'S ANALYTICS, INC. CREDIT RATINGS AND MOODY'S
PUBLICATIONS DO NOT CONSTITUTE OR PROVIDE INVESTMENT OR FINANCIAL ADVICE, AND
CREDIT RATINGS AND MOODY'S PUBLICATIONS ARE NOT AND DO NOT PROVIDE
RECOMMENDATIONS TO PURCHASE, SELL, OR HOLD PARTICULAR SECURITIES. NEITHER CREDIT
RATINGS NOR MOODY'S PUBLICATIONS COMMENT ON THE SUITABILITY OF AN INVESTMENT FOR
ANY PARTICULAR INVESTOR. MOODY'S ISSUES ITS CREDIT RATINGS AND PUBLISHES MOODY'S
PUBLICATIONS WITH THE EXPECTATION AND UNDERSTANDING THAT EACH INVESTOR WILL, WITH
DUE CARE, MAKE ITS OWN STUDY AND EVALUATION OF EACH SECURITY THAT IS UNDER
CONSIDERATION FOR PURCHASE, HOLDING, OR SALE.

 

MOODY'S CREDIT RATINGS AND MOODY'S PUBLICATIONS ARE NOT INTENDED FOR USE BY RETAIL
INVESTORS AND IT WOULD BE RECKLESS FOR RETAIL INVESTORS TO CONSIDER MOODY'S CREDIT
RATINGS OR MOODY'S PUBLICATIONS IN MAKING ANY INVESTMENT DECISION. IF IN DOUBT YOU
SHOULD CONTACT YOUR FINANCIAL OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL ADVISER.

 

ALL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN IS PROTECTED BY LAW, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO,
COPYRIGHT LAW, AND NONE OF SUCH INFORMATION MAY BE COPIED OR OTHERWISE
REPRODUCED, REPACKAGED, FURTHER TRANSMITTED, TRANSFERRED, DISSEMINATED,
REDISTRIBUTED OR RESOLD, OR STORED FOR SUBSEQUENT USE FOR ANY SUCH PURPOSE, IN
WHOLE OR IN PART, IN ANY FORM OR MANNER OR BY ANY MEANS WHATSOEVER, BY ANY PERSON
WITHOUT MOODY'S PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

 

All information contained herein is obtained by MOODY'S from sources believed by it to be accurate and reliable.
Because of the possibility of human or mechanical error as well as other factors, however, all information contained
herein is provided "AS IS" without warranty of any kind. MOODY'S adopts all necessary measures so that the
information it uses in assigning a credit rating is of sufficient quality and from sources MOODY'S considers to be
reliable including, when appropriate, independent third-party sources. However, MOODY'S is not an auditor and
cannot in every instance independently verify or validate information received in the rating process or in preparing
the Moody’s Publications.

 

To the extent permitted by law, MOODY'S and its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, licensors
and suppliers disclaim liability to any person or entity for any indirect, special, consequential, or incidental losses or
damages whatsoever arising from or in connection with the information contained herein or the use of or inability to
use any such information, even if MOODY'S or any of its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives,
licensors or suppliers is advised in advance of the possibility of such losses or damages, including but not limited
to: (a) any loss of present or prospective profits or (b) any loss or damage arising where the relevant financial
instrument is not the subject of a particular credit rating assigned by MOODY’S.

 

To the extent permitted by law, MOODY'S and its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, licensors
and suppliers disclaim liability for any direct or compensatory losses or damages caused to any person or entity,
including but not limited to by any negligence (but excluding fraud, willful misconduct or any other type of liability
that, for the avoidance of doubt, by law cannot be excluded) on the part of, or any contingency within or beyond the



control of, MOODY'S or any of its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, licensors or suppliers,
arising from or in connection with the information contained herein or the use of or inability to use any such
information.

 

NO WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO THE ACCURACY, TIMELINESS, COMPLETENESS,
MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF ANY SUCH RATING OR OTHER
OPINION OR INFORMATION IS GIVEN OR MADE BY MOODY'S IN ANY FORM OR MANNER
WHATSOEVER.

 

MIS, a wholly-owned credit rating agency subsidiary of Moody’s Corporation ("MCO"), hereby discloses that most
issuers of debt securities (including corporate and municipal bonds, debentures, notes and commercial paper) and
preferred stock rated by MIS have, prior to assignment of any rating, agreed to pay to MIS for appraisal and rating
services rendered by it fees ranging from $1,500 to approximately $2,500,000. MCO and MIS also maintain policies
and procedures to address the independence of MIS's ratings and rating processes. Information regarding certain
affiliations that may exist between directors of MCO and rated entities, and between entities who hold ratings from
MIS and have also publicly reported to the SEC an ownership interest in MCO of more than 5%, is posted annually
at www.moodys.com under the heading "Shareholder Relations — Corporate Governance — Director and
Shareholder Affiliation Policy."

 

For Australia only: Any publication into Australia of this document is pursuant to the Australian Financial Services
License of MOODY'S affiliate, Moody's Investors Service Pty Limited ABN 61 003 399 657AFSL 336969 and/or
Moody's Analytics Australia Pty Ltd ABN 94 105 136 972 AFSL 383569 (as applicable). This document is intended
to be provided only to "wholesale clients" within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act 2001. By
continuing to access this document from within Australia, you represent to MOODY'S that you are, or are
accessing the document as a representative of, a "wholesale client" and that neither you nor the entity you
represent will directly or indirectly disseminate this document or its contents to "retail clients" within the meaning of
section 761G of the Corporations Act 2001. MOODY'S credit rating is an opinion as to the creditworthiness of a
debt obligation of the issuer, not on the equity securities of the issuer or any form of security that is available to
retail clients. It would be dangerous for "retail clients" to make any investment decision based on MOODY'S credit
rating. If in doubt you should contact your financial or other professional adviser.

https://www.moodys.com/


 

       PF Ratings U.S. (7/18/14) 

 
 
 
 
October 8, 2014 

  
City of Auburn 
60 Court Street 
Auburn, ME 04210 
Attention: Ms. Jill Eastman, Finance Director 
  
Re: $7,200,000 Auburn, Maine, General Obligation Bonds, Series 2014 
  
Dear Ms. Eastman:  
  
Pursuant to your request for a Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (“Ratings Services”) rating on 
the above-referenced obligations, Ratings Services has assigned a rating of "AA-". Standard & 
Poor's views the outlook for this rating as stable. A copy of the rationale supporting the rating is 
enclosed. 
 
This letter constitutes Ratings Services’ permission for you to disseminate the above-assigned 
ratings to interested parties in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. However, 
permission for such dissemination (other than to professional advisors bound by appropriate 
confidentiality arrangements) will become effective only after we have released the rating on 
standardandpoors.com. Any dissemination on any Website by you or your agents shall include the 
full analysis for the rating, including any updates, where applicable.   
 
To maintain the rating, Standard & Poor’s must receive all relevant financial and other 
information, including notice of material changes to financial and other information provided to us 
and in relevant documents, as soon as such information is available. Relevant financial and other 
information includes, but is not limited to, information about direct bank loans and debt and debt-
like instruments issued to, or entered into with, financial institutions, insurance companies and/or 
other entities, whether or not disclosure of such information would be required under S.E.C. Rule 
15c2-12. You understand that Ratings Services relies on you and your agents and advisors for the 
accuracy, timeliness and completeness of the information submitted in connection with the rating 
and the continued flow of material information as part of the surveillance process. Please send all 
information via electronic delivery to: pubfin_statelocalgovt@standardandpoors.com. If SEC rule 
17g-5 is applicable, you may post such information on the appropriate website. For any 
information not available in electronic format or posted on the applicable website,  
 
Please send hard copies to:   

Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services  
Public Finance Department 
55 Water Street  
New York, NY 10041-0003 

225 Franklin Street, 15th Floor 
Boston, MA 02110-2804 
tel 617 530-8338  
reference no.: 1360418  
  
 
 
 



Page | 2 
 

       PF Ratings U.S. (7/18/14) 

 
The rating is subject to the Terms and Conditions, if any, attached to the Engagement Letter 
applicable to the rating. In the absence of such Engagement Letter and Terms and Conditions, the 
rating is subject to the attached Terms and Conditions. The applicable Terms and Conditions are 
incorporated herein by reference. 
 
Ratings Services is pleased to have the opportunity to provide its rating opinion. For more 
information please visit our website at www.standardandpoors.com. If you have any questions, 
please contact us. Thank you for choosing Ratings Services. 
 
 
Sincerely yours, 
 

 
 
  
Standard & Poor's Ratings Services  
  
  
lm 
enclosures 
cc: Mr. Joseph P. Cuetara, Senior Vice President

Moors & Cabot, Inc. Capital Markets Division 
 
 

 
 



 

          PF Ratings U.S. (02/16/13) 

           

Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services  
Terms and Conditions Applicable To Public Finance Credit Ratings  

General. The credit ratings and other views of Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (“Ratings Services”) are statements of 
opinion and not statements of fact. Credit ratings and other views of Ratings Services are not recommendations to 
purchase, hold, or sell any securities and do not comment on market price, marketability, investor preference or 
suitability of any security. While Ratings Services bases its credit ratings and other views on information provided by 
issuers and their agents and advisors, and other information from sources it believes to be reliable, Ratings Services does 
not perform an audit, and undertakes no duty of due diligence or independent verification, of any information it receives. 
Such information and Ratings Services’ opinions should not be relied upon in making any investment decision. Ratings 
Services does not act as a “fiduciary” or an investment advisor. Ratings Services neither recommends nor will 
recommend how an issuer can or should achieve a particular credit rating outcome nor provides or will provide 
consulting, advisory, financial or structuring advice. Unless otherwise indicated, the term “issuer” means both the issuer 
and the obligor if the obligor is not the issuer. 

All Credit Rating Actions in Ratings Services’ Sole Discretion. Ratings Services may assign, raise, lower, suspend, place 
on CreditWatch, or withdraw a credit rating, and assign or revise an Outlook, at any time, in Ratings Services’ sole 
discretion. Ratings Services may take any of the foregoing actions notwithstanding any request for a confidential or 
private credit rating or a withdrawal of a credit rating, or termination of a credit rating engagement. Ratings Services will 
not convert a public credit rating to a confidential or private credit rating, or a private credit rating to a confidential credit 
rating. 

Publication. Ratings Services reserves the right to use, publish, disseminate, or license others to use, publish or 
disseminate a credit rating and any related analytical reports, including the rationale for the credit rating, unless the 
issuer specifically requests in connection with the initial credit rating that the credit rating be assigned and maintained 
on a confidential or private basis. If, however, a confidential or private credit rating or the existence of a confidential 
or private credit rating subsequently becomes public through disclosure other than by an act of Ratings Services or its 
affiliates, Ratings Services reserves the right to treat the credit rating as a public credit rating, including, without 
limitation, publishing the credit rating and any related analytical reports. Any analytical reports published by Ratings 
Services are not issued by or on behalf of the issuer or at the issuer’s request. Ratings Services reserves the right to 
use, publish, disseminate or license others to use, publish or disseminate analytical reports with respect to public credit 
ratings that have been withdrawn, regardless of the reason for such withdrawal. Ratings Services may publish 
explanations of Ratings Services’ credit ratings criteria from time to time and Ratings Services may modify or refine 
its credit ratings criteria at any time as Ratings Services deems appropriate. 

Reliance on Information. Ratings Services relies on issuers and their agents and advisors for the accuracy and 
completeness of the information submitted in connection with credit ratings and the surveillance of credit ratings 
including, without limitation, information on material changes to information previously provided by issuers, their 
agents or advisors. Credit ratings, and the maintenance of credit ratings, may be affected by Ratings Services’ opinion 
of the information received from issuers, their agents or advisors.  



 

          PF Ratings U.S. (02/16/13) 

Confidential Information. Ratings Services has established policies and procedures to maintain the confidentiality of 
certain non-public information received from issuers, their agents or advisors. For these purposes, “Confidential 
Information” shall mean verbal or written information that the issuer or its agents or advisors have provided to Ratings 
Services and, in a specific and particularized manner, have marked or otherwise indicated in writing (either prior to or 
promptly following such disclosure) that such information is “Confidential.”  

Ratings Services Not an Expert, Underwriter or Seller under Securities Laws. Ratings Services has not consented to 
and will not consent to being named an “expert” or any similar designation under any applicable securities laws or 
other regulatory guidance, rules or recommendations, including without limitation, Section 7 of the U.S. Securities 
Act of 1933. Rating Services has not performed and will not perform the role or tasks associated with an "underwriter" 
or "seller" under the United States federal securities laws or other regulatory guidance, rules or recommendations in 
connection with a credit rating engagement. 

Disclaimer of Liability. Ratings Services does not and cannot guarantee the accuracy, completeness, or timeliness of 
the information relied on in connection with a credit rating or the results obtained from the use of such information. 
RATINGS SERVICES GIVES NO EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED 
TO, ANY WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR USE. 
Ratings Services, its affiliates or third party providers, or any of their officers, directors, shareholders, employees or 
agents shall not be liable to any person for any inaccuracies, errors, or omissions, in each case regardless of cause, 
actions, damages (consequential, special, indirect, incidental, punitive, compensatory, exemplary or otherwise), 
claims, liabilities, costs, expenses, legal fees or losses (including, without limitation, lost income or lost profits and 
opportunity costs) in any way arising out of or relating to a credit rating or the related analytic services even if advised 
of the possibility of such damages or other amounts. 

No Third Party Beneficiaries. Nothing in any credit rating engagement, or a credit rating when issued, is intended or 
should be construed as creating any rights on behalf of any third parties, including, without limitation, any recipient of 
a credit rating. No person is intended as a third party beneficiary of any credit rating engagement or of a credit rating 
when issued. 

  

  

      
 
 
 



Moody's S&P Moody's S&P
Municipality Name Rating Rating Municipality Name Rating  Rating
Alfred NR AA Scarborough Aa3 AA
Auburn Aa3 AA- Somerset Cnty Aa3 A+
Augusta NR AA South Berwick A1 NR
Bangor Aa2 AA- South Portland Aaa AAA
Bar Harbor Aa2 AAA St. George NR AA+
Bath Aa3 AA Topsham NR AA+
Biddeford Aa2 AA- Waterville Aa3 A+
Brewer Aa3 AA- Wells Aa2 AA+
Brunswick Aa2 AA+ Westbrook Aa3 AA
Cape Elizabeth Aa1 AAA Windham Aa2 AA
Castine Aa3 NR Winslow Aa3 AA-
Cumberland Aa3 AA+ Winthrop A1 AA-
Cumberland Cnty Aa1 AA+ Yarmouth Aa2 AA+
Dixfield NR AA- York Cnty NR AA
Ellsworth Aa3 AA- York NR AA+
Falmouth Aa1 AAA
Farmington NR AA- Enterprise District
Freeport Aa2 AAA Auburn Sewer Dist. NR A+
Gorham Aa2 AA+ Auburn Water Dist. NR A+
Gray Aa3 AA+ Brewer HSD NR AA-
Hallowell NR A+ Bruns&Tops WD NR A+
Hancock Cnty Aa2 AA Cumberland Cnty Civic Cntr NR AA
Hermon A1 AA- ecomaine NR AA
Kennebunk Aa2 AAA Freeport Swr Aa3 NR
Kittery Aa2 AA+ Ken Lt & Pr Aa3 A-
Knox Cnty Aa2 AA Kenn WD A1 NR
Lewiston Aa2 AA- Linc-Sag Jail Auth A1 A+
Manchester NR AA- MSAD #51 Aa3 AA
New Gloucester Aa3 AA+ No Jay WD Baa2 NR
Old Orchard Beach Aa3 AA+ Portland Jetport Baa1 BBB+
Orono Aa3 AA- Portland Wtr Dis (Port Swr) Aa1 AA
Oxford NR AA- Portland Wtr Dis (Wtr Bonds) A1 A+
Paris Twn NR A+ RSU No. 1 NR AA
Pittsfield Twn NR A RSU No. 23 Baa1 AA
Portland Aa1 AA Rumford WD A2 NR
Presque Isle A1 NR So Berwick WD A1 NR
Raymond NR AAA Wells-Ogunquit CSD Aa3 AA+
Saco Aa3 AA Yarmouth WD Aa3 A+

Current Long-term Bond Ratings (Maine)

August 12, 2014



 
Banking & Advisory Group 

 

INVESTMENT 
INSIGHTS 

 

Perspective on 
Ratings 

 

Moody’s Long-term Ratings 
 
Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”) Bonds 
carrying the same rating are not claimed to be of 
absolutely equal quality, but are in a broad sense 
alike in position of risk.  The ratings involve judgments 
about the future, including an appraisal of long-term 
risks and the recognition of many statistical and non-
statistical factors.  The quality of a bond may change 
over its life and therefore a change from the initial 
rating designation may occur at any time.  Moody’s 
applies numerical modifiers (1, 2 and 3) in each rating 
classification.  The modifier 1 indicates that the issue 
ranks in the higher end of its gradation; the modifier 2 
indicates a mid-range ranking; and the modifier 3 
indicates that the issue ranks in the lower end of its 
category.  The classes of gradation are: 
 
Aaa ratings, assigned for issues judged to be of 
the best quality, carry the smallest degree of 
investment risk and are generally referred to as 
“gilt edged”.  Interest payments are protected by 
a large or by an exceptionally stable margin and 
principal is secure.  While the various protective 
elements are likely to change, such changes as 
can be visualized are most unlikely to impair the 
fundamentally strong position of such issues. 
 
Aa ratings, assigned for issues judged to be of 
high quality by all standards and, together with 
Aaa, comprise what are generally known as 
“high grade” bonds.  These are rated lower 
because margins of protection may not be as 
large as in Aaa issues, or fluctuation of 
protective elements may be of greater 
amplitude, or there may be other elements 
present which make the long-term risk appear 
somewhat larger than Aaa securities. 
 
A ratings, assigned for issues judged to possess 
many favorable investment attributes, are 
considered upper-medium grade obligations.  
Factors giving security to principal and interest 
are considered adequate, but elements may be 
present which suggest a susceptibility to 
impairment sometime in the future. 
 
Baa ratings, assigned for issues judged to be 
considered as medium-grade obligations, are 
neither highly protected nor poorly secured.   
 
 

S&P’s Long-term Ratings 
 
Issue credit ratings are based, in varying degrees, on 
Standard & Poor's analysis of the following 
considerations: Likelihood of payment—capacity and 
willingness of the obligor to meet its financial 
commitment on an obligation in accordance with the 
terms of the obligation; Nature of and provisions of 
the obligation; Protection afforded by, and relative 
position of, the obligation in the event of bankruptcy, 
reorganization, or other arrangement under the laws 
of bankruptcy and other laws affecting creditors' 
rights. 
Issue ratings are an assessment of default risk, but 
may incorporate an assessment of relative seniority or 
ultimate recovery in the event of default.  
 
AAA 
An obligation rated 'AAA' has the highest rating 
assigned by Standard & Poor's. The obligor's 
capacity to meet its financial commitment on the 
obligation is extremely strong. 
AA 
An obligation rated 'AA' differs from the highest-
rated obligations only to a small degree. The 
obligor's capacity to meet its financial 
commitment on the obligation is very strong. 
A 
An obligation rated 'A' is somewhat more 
susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in 
circumstances and economic conditions than 
obligations in higher-rated categories. However, 
the obligor's capacity to meet its financial 
commitment on the obligation is still strong. 
BBB 
An obligation rated 'BBB' exhibits adequate 
protection parameters. However, adverse 
economic conditions or changing circumstances 
are more likely to lead to a weakened capacity 
of the obligor to meet its financial commitment 
on the obligation. 
 
Plus (+) or minus (-) 
The ratings from may be modified by the 
addition of a plus (+) or minus (-) sign to show 
relative standing within the major rating 
categories. 
 



Phillip L. Crowell 
Chief  of  Police 
 
Jason D. Moen 
Deputy Chief 
 
Rita P. Beaudry 
Executive Assistant 

 

Memorandum 
 

To: Clint Deschene, City Manager 

From: Phil Crowell, Chief of Police 

Date: 10/15/14 

Re: Dempsey Challenge After-Action Report 

On 09/27/14 and 09/28/14 the Dempsey Challenge was held in Auburn/Lewiston 
and surrounding towns. One planning meeting was held with the event 
organizers prior to the event and a pre-inspection of the course was conducted 
with the police and public works departments. Sufficient notification was made 
to the community of the event and traffic impacts through the use of the 
newspaper and television media as well as social media. 
 
On Saturday the 5-K and 10-K road races were held with approximately 2,200 
participants taking part. Officers were posted at Mill St & Broad St; at Rolly’s 
Diner and at the Bernard Lown Peace Bridge.  
 

 07:50 hrs the Bernard Lown Peace Bridge was closed to traffic.  

 08:05 hrs the first wave of runners started to cross the bridge.  

 08:53 hrs the last of the 5-K runners passed. 

 08:55 hrs the first wave of 10-K runners started to enter into Auburn.  

 09:30 hrs the Bernard Lown Bridge was opened to all traffic.  

 09:45 hrs most of the walkers from the 10-K were done. At this point we 
advised them to use the sidewalk.  

 09:45 hrs APW started to pick up all cones and signs.  
 
On Sunday, the 100, 70, 50, 25 and 10 mile bike events were held. The Bernard 
Lown Peace Bridge was closed for approximately 20 minutes to start the bike 
events. No problems were reported for the bike events. An officer was stationed 
at Washington St. and Moosebrook Rd., and later that same officer posted 
himself at Washington St and Kittyhawk Ave. A second officer was added from 
09:00 to 14:00 to assist the officer at Washington St & Kittyhawk Ave. This new 
intersection is much larger and required added assistance.  The second officer 
was posted at Mill St. and South Main St. Cones and signs were used to narrow 

Auburn Police Department 
 



 – 2 – October 15, 2014  

 

Washington St. for the two officers working that intersection.  By 16:00 hrs 
everything was completed.  
 
The business owner at Four Seasons Market, whose hours of operation are 10am 
to 6pm, expressed concerns relating to the limited traffic access and parking to 
her business. Parking signs were set up on Friday evening around 4 p.m. and 
were removed Saturday morning. Vehicles were allowed to access this business 
on Third St. The business owner chose to close on Sunday. Parking was not 
restricted on Sunday but traffic volume was very high. 
 
Police are challenged with being able to merge traffic into one lane to keep two 
lanes of traffic on Main and Mill Streets open during the event.  This means that 
police must prohibit parking –for a short period of time – to allow for the safety 
of all participants.  As soon as the walkers were mostly completed, they were 
instructed to move onto the sidewalk to allow for the road to be opened and the 
parking restriction removed. In the future, staff will consider the times of 
restricting the parking to allow parking to continue on Friday evening until the 
business closes.  
 
As a result of this concern, police staff was instructed to make contact with other 
businesses to inquire about impacts and how the event could be improved upon 
in the future. The following businesses were contacted: 
 
 Roy’s Foodland - the owner advised that he had no issues, except that APW 
placed temporary no parking signs on Friday morning. These signs were put out 
by PW so they could conduct street sweeping. The signs were removed by Friday 
afternoon. 
 
Marcel’s Barber Shop - the owner of Marcel’s Barber Shop advised that their 
biggest impact was the bridge being closed. He also had a complaint with Third 
St. being closed to through traffic from Broad St. He said he understood the 
Dempsey Challenge is a good cause and it benefits many people in this 
community.   

 
Rolly’s Diner - the owner advised that it went well, but a couple of her patrons 
did say it was hard to get into her business with the volume of traffic in the area. 

 
Larochelle’s Seafood Market - advised they had no impact to their business. 
 
Dunkin Donuts - the manager advised that it went much smoother than she 
thought it would. She stated they had a steady stream of customers during the 
race. 
 



 – 3 – October 15, 2014  

 

Happy Day’s Diner - the owner said the traffic flow was good this year 
compared to the past. He said everything went well. 

 
All About You Salon - pleased with everything. They were actually handing out 
water to participants.  
 
Moving forward, my recommendations will include: 

 APD staff will also work with PW for signage to direct patrons to the 
open businesses.  

 Street sweeping should be conducted during the overnight hours, if 
possible on Friday night when no parking signs for the event itself are 
already posted, limiting the number of times parking is restricted.  

 
I appreciate the work from all city staff that made this event successful and 
safe for the public and to the community businesses for providing us the 
feedback to continue seeking improvements. 
 

 
 
 
 



Office of the Mayor and City Council 
 

CITY OF AUBURN 

 

 

 

PROCLAMATION 
 

EXTRA MILE DAY 
 

  

WHEREAS, Auburn, Maine is a community which acknowledges that a special vibrancy exists within the 

entire community when its individual citizens collectively “go the extra mile” in personal effort, 

volunteerism, and service; and 

  

WHEREAS, Auburn, Maine is a community which encourages its citizens to maximize their personal 

contribution to the community by giving of themselves wholeheartedly and with total effort, commitment, 

and conviction to their individual ambitions, family, friends, and community; and 

  

WHEREAS, Auburn, Maine is a community which chooses to shine a light on and celebrate individuals 

and organizations within its community who “go the extra mile” in order to make a difference and lift up 

fellow members of their community; and 

  

WHEREAS, Auburn, Maine acknowledges the mission of Extra Mile America to create 500 Extra Mile 

cities in America and is proud to support “Extra Mile Day” on November 1, 2014. 

  

NOW THEREFORE, I, Mayor of Auburn, Maine do hereby proclaim November 1, 2014 to be Extra Mile 

Day. I urge each individual in the community to take time on this day to not only “go the extra mile” in 

his or her own life, but to also acknowledge all those who are inspirational in their efforts and 

commitment to make their organizations, families, community, country, or world a better place. 

 

 

 

 

Mayor Jonathan P. LaBonté 

 
 



City of Auburn, Maine 
“Maine’s City of Opportunity” 

___________________________      ______ 
Office of Planning & Development 

60 Court Street  Suite 104  Auburn, ME 04210 

(207) 333-6600 Voice  (207) 333-6601 Automated  (207) 333-6623 Fax 

www.auburnmaine.gov 
      

 

 
 
 
To:   Auburn Mayor and City Council  
 
From: Eric Cousens, Deputy Director of Planning and Permitting 
 
Re:  Comprehensive Plan Implementation Update Sheet 
 
Date: October 15, 2014 
 
 
Attached is a spread sheet listing implementation tasks identified in the Auburn Comprehensive Plan.  It 
identifies ongoing, short term, long term and longer term tasks from the Plan. The left most column is 
numbered just for reference in future discussions to help navigate the sheets.  The next column to the 
right identifies the referenced sections of the Plan that provides additional details on the listed task or 
activity.  The next column to the right gives a title to each task with some very basic description (see 
referenced sections of the Comprehensive Plan for additional details).  The next column to the right 
identifies the Department or entity responsible for implementation of the item or task.  The next column 
to the right is the 2013 update provided last year and on the right hand side of each page describes 
progress as of May 15, 2014 on that item.   It is staff’s goal to provide an update around May of each 
year, however, spring budget discussions and a very busy Council Workshop schedule made it difficult to 
get a spot on an agenda and has delayed the presentation this year.  This item was prepared with input 
requested from all departments and was a cooperative effort.  The Comprehensive plan provides 
guidance to staff on decision making on a regular basis, whether an item goes before the Council or not.   
 
Substantial progress has been made on many items within the plan after 4 years of having the plan in 
place.  Staff has also completed many tasks that were not contemplated in the plan based on Council 
initiatives and direction.  There is still a lot of work to be completed and we will continue working 
towards the goals outlined in the Plan for the next 6-10 years or longer.  The Council should be aware 
that community needs and wants change over time and the document is always available for discussion 
and modification in response to new information or opportunities.   
 
Please review the update and if there are specific questions they should be directed to the responsible 
Department.  General questions regarding the plan or update process should be directed to the City 
Manager or Planning and Development Department.    

 
 





















Tizz Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 
Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 
David Young, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 
 

 
 

IN CITY COUNCIL 
 

RESOLVE 02-03192012 
 

 
RESOLVE, Supporting the Concept of a Lewiston-Auburn Bike-Ped Committee 
 
Whereas, a significant number of individuals within the Lewiston-Auburn area walk or bike for recreation or 
business; and 
 
Whereas, the presence of bike and pedestrian infrastructure enhances safety and increases the quality of life of 
residents; and 
 
Whereas, such infrastructure also supports economic development efforts by making these communities more 
appealing to those who bike, walk, and run; and 
 
Whereas, the presence of walking and biking amenities also positively affects the value of nearby properties; 
and 
 
Whereas, while sidewalk and biking infrastructure is available in certain areas, improving and extending such 
infrastructures requires a long-range plan as well as monitoring of individual infrastructure projects to ensure 
that they incorporate such a plan; and 
 
Whereas, the goal of developing an appropriate and cost effective bicycle and pedestrian infrastructure can be 
furthered by the creation of a joint Lewiston-Auburn Bike-Ped Committee; 
 
Now, therefore, be It Resolved by the City Council of the City of Auburn that the City Council supports the 
concept of a joint Lewiston-Auburn Bike-Ped Committee with the mission, purpose, and structure as outlined 
on the attached Committee description. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Tizz Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 
Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 
David Young, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 
 

Page 2 of 4 
 

 
 

The Lewiston-Auburn Bike-Ped Committee 
 

Mission/Purpose 
 
The mission of the Lewiston-Auburn Bike-Ped Committee is to 

• develop and recommend fiscally responsible policies to the respective governing bodies that take into 
account and support non-motorized transportation in the Twin Cities; 

• advise the respective public works and engineering departments on how non-motorized users can be 
accommodated in street, highway, and open space projects while taking into account the impact of such 
recommendations on project affordability;   

• participate in the Androscoggin Transportation Resource Committee’s update of its regional long-range 
bicycle-pedestrian plan;  

• monitor the implementation of that plan within the Twin Cities; and 
• promote bicycle-pedestrian education. 

 
Composition 
 
The committee will be comprised of 7 voting members: 1 councilor and two Auburn residents appointed by the 
Mayor of Auburn; 1 councilor and two Lewiston residents appointed by the Mayor of Lewiston; and 1 
representative from a local business jointly selected by the Mayors.  Any vacancy on the committee shall be 
filled through an appointment made in the same manner as outlined above.  The Committee shall annually select 
a Chair Person.  In the event that any member is absent for 3 consecutive meetings without being excused by 
the Chair of the Committee, that individual shall forfeit committee membership.  
 
TERM 
 
The Committee shall remain in existence until September 1, 2015.  At least sixty days prior to this date, the 
respective Mayors shall consult and shall make a recommendation to the respective City Councils as to the 
continued existence of the Committee.  If the Mayors fail to make a recommendation, the Committee shall 
continue in existence until one or both Councils take action to either extend its term or discontinue the 
Committee.   
 
STAFF SUPPORT 
 
The City Manager of Auburn and the City Administrator of Lewiston shall each assign a staff member as a 
primary point of contact with the respective municipal organizations.  The Manager and Administrator shall 
provide the Committee with access to other members of the municipal staffs as may be required.   
 
MEETINGS AND REPORTS 
 



Tizz Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 
Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 
David Young, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 
 

Page 3 of 4 
 

The Committee shall establish the times and places of its meetings, taking care to meet periodically in each 
community.  Meetings shall be open to the public and notice of such meetings shall be posted by the respective 
City Clerks.  The Committee may invite such others as may be knowledgeable regarding bike and pedestrian 
issues to provide information for their consideration.  The Committee shall prepare summaries of its meetings 
and shall make them available to the elected officials of both communities.   
 
Outcomes/Specific Activities:  
 
The L-A Bike-Ped Committee would achieve its mission through the following: 
 

• Serving as the primary resource representing Lewiston and Auburn in the update of the ATRC Regional 
Long-Range Bicycle-Pedestrian Plan; 

• Developing and recommending policies and ordinances for passage by the City Councils in support of 
non-motorized transportation; 

• Planning and coordinating educational events with local partners such as schools, bicycle shops,  and 
biking and run/walk events; 

• Assessing and commenting on existing transportation projects in regard to bicycle and pedestrian 
accommodations including ATRC approved projects, municipally initiated projects, and improvements 
originating from Traffic Movement Permits; and 

• Participating with appropriate city departments and committees in planning coordinated multi-modal 
transportation systems in L-A and the surrounding region to ensure that such systems take into account 
the needs of pedestrians and bicyclists and that motorized and non-motorized systems are well 
coordinated. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Passage on 3/19/2012 6-0 (Councilor Hayes was absent). 

 



Tizz Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 
Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 
David Young, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 
 

Page 4 of 4 
 

 
          



Home > Programs > ATRC > Active Studies and Projects > Bike/Ped Complete Streets 2014-2015

Bike/Ped Complete Streets 2014-2015

Bicycle/Pedestrian Study 2014
?The ATRC is conducting a study that will look into connecting Lewiston and Auburn places for bikes and 
pedestrians along 'State Aid' roads, create a 'Best Management Practices' manual to complement the cities 
recently enacted Complete Streets ordinances, and more specifically connect the Lewiston Riverside 
Greenway across Main Street in Lewiston to Simard-Payne Park.  This webpage will host project materials 
and updates to the study.

Update 9/12/14
The ATRC Policy Committee has awarded the contract to the Street Plans Collaborative.  More about the 
team can be found here.

Project Documents for the RFP

Complete Streets RFP

Consultant General Conditions

Consultant Cost Proposal Form

Questions (Updated 8/20/14)

#1  What existing mapping does the ATRC or the cities of Lewiston and Auburn have for the 
streets identified in the RFP?

There are at least ESRI shapefiles with the following data available:

• Bike Routes
• Road shoulder type and width
• Multi-Use paths (existing and proposed)
• East Coast Greenway
• Proposed Bikeways
• Bike/Ped crash data 2003-2007
• Bike/Ped crash data 2008-2010
• Greenway Connectors
• Greenway Trails - priorities
• Bike/Ped facilities (Location, project type [bike/ped], length, cost estimate, plan
• ATRC Bike/Ped plans
• ATRC Long Range Plans - 2003. 2008. 2012
• Sidewalk database - 2007
• Walkability maps of the Barker Mill Trail - 2011

It would be up to the consultant to determine the suitability of the data and confirm its accuracy.

#2  As part of the deliverable for Task 3, is ATRC expecting a conceptual plan of the proposed 
connection?  Is a conceptual plan drawn on existing aerial and/or GIS information acceptable?

Yes, a conceptual plan for the proposed connection is required.  An additional accompanying report of 
reasoning, alternatives analysis, and phasing/cost should also be provided.

#3  Will consultant teams be considered for this assignment?

Yes, consultant teams will be allowed.

New Auburn 

Lew Downtown Neighborhood 
Circulation Study 

Rangeley Branch 

Route 4 

TIGER 6 

Bike/Ped Complete Streets 2014-
2015

Search

Engage your community - connect to news, events and information you care about.    View more information... Sign In

Page 1 of 2Androscoggin Valley Council of Governments, ME - Bike/Ped Complete Streets 2014-20...

10/7/2014http://www.avcog.org/index.aspx?nid=1073



#4  What is the planned completion date for the project?

The planned completion date for the project will be December 2015.

#5  Is it anticipated that design projects may be pursued as part of a phase II to this project?

It is anticipated that feasible recommendations could be pursued via each respective city or through the 
ATRC capital project TIP with approval from the Policy Committee.  Such projects would be separate and not 
directly connected to this study.

125 Manley Road Auburn, ME 04210   | AVCOG  | Contact Us  | Site Map  | Accessibility  | Copyright Notices  | Equal Employment Opportunity  |  Powered by CivicPlus

Engage your community - connect to news, events and information you care about.    View more information... Sign In

Page 2 of 2Androscoggin Valley Council of Governments, ME - Bike/Ped Complete Streets 2014-20...

10/7/2014http://www.avcog.org/index.aspx?nid=1073



1

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS

ANDROSCOGGIN TRANSPORTATION RESOURCE CENTER
Downtown Arterial Bike Study & Complete Streets BMP Manual

August 6, 2014

Project Announcement:
The Androscoggin Transportation Resource Center (ATRC) as the designated Metropolitan 
Planning Organization (MPO) for the urbanized area of Auburn, Lewiston, Lisbon and Sabattus, 
Maine , in partnership with the cities of Lewiston and Auburn, the MaineDOT, and the Federal 
Highway Administration,  is seeking the services of a qualified transportation consultant to 
provide support in determining the suitability of adding dedicated bicycle and pedestrian 
facilities to connect critical gaps in the transportation network of Lewiston and Auburn.  The 
ATRC is also seeking assistance in the development of a Complete Streets Best Management 
Practices (BMP) manual to guide implementation of the 2013 Complete Streets Policy adopted 
by the cities of Auburn and Lewiston.

Background and Need:
Task 1:  The ATRC and the cities of Auburn and Lewiston wish to examine the feasib le   options  
of  improving safe ac c ess for  bicycl ists  and pedestrian s  to  and along   the  arterial  street  network s   
and  downtown  areas  that connect the most urgent gaps in the transportation network.  The 
ATRC’s 2013  BRIDGING THE GAPS -   A Long-Range Facilities Plan for Bicycling and 
Walking in the ATRC Region  identified gaps in bicycle and pedestrian infrastructure .   The ATRC 
and the cities of Auburn and Lewiston are seeking  an analysis of th e  a rterial  street  network ,   
and/ or other alternative parallel routes ;   and  recommendations  regarding the  improvement of  
bicycle  and pedestrian   a c cess  through  the downtown s to residential, retail, service, and 
employment destinations.

Task 2:  In 2013, the cities of Auburn and Lewiston adopted a Complete Streets Policy which 
requires that “t he Cities will plan for, design, construct, operate, and maintain an appropriate and 
integrated transportation system that will meet the needs of motorists, pedestrians, bicyclists, 
wheelchair users, transit vehicles and riders, freight haulers, emergency responders, and residents of 
all ages and abilities. ”  The cities are seeking to develop a BMP manual to guide implementation 
of this policy. MaineDOT must approve all elements of the design guide before final publication.

Task 3:  The city of Lewiston is building the Lewiston Riverside Greenway on the western side 
of Main Street.  An off road trail network connecting Auburn to  Simard -Payne Park currently 
exists.  The ATRC is seeking a plan that will identify the safest and most practicable route to 
connect these two off road facilities in downtown Lewiston.

Project Description – Scope of Work:
There are three major tasks to this study.  The primary purpose of Task 1 is to identify and make 
recommendations for  improve d   connections  to   locations, including but not limited to the 
downtowns, mall areas, etc. via arterials.  In the event that  new and/or  improved  bicycle and/or 
pedestrian facilities are not deemed feasible, consultant will recommend alternative routes.



2

The primary task of  the  consultant will be to  determine options to improve  conditions  on 
designated streets for bicycles and pedestrians to safely use the streets.    The consultant will 
develop recommendations that will  determine potential improved  bicycle access  on designated 
streets and allow for continued movement of large volumes of vehicles, including tractor trailers, 
safely and efficiently through the downtowns.

The primary purpose of Task 2 is to  develop a BMP manual, including  typical cross sections and 
minimum standards for bicycle and pedestrian facilities to help  guide implementation of the 
cities’ 2013 Complete Streets Policy.

The selected consultant will work with and be guided by the Lewiston/Auburn Bicycle- 
Pedestrian Committee ,  and ATRC  and MaineDOT  staff . Outreach to local businesses and 
residents will be a component to this project.

The primary purpose of Task 3 is to  determine the preferred route ( s )  including potential facility 
improvements  for bicycles and pedestrians to safely connect between the Lewiston Riverside 
Greenway (Main Street/Chapel Street intersection) to Simard-Payne Park (Lincoln Street).

TASK 1: Arterial Street Bicycle Facilities and Pedestrian Analysis
This study will analyze  arterial   streets , or  effective  alternatives,  by examining  sidewalk and 
crossing deficiencies,  lane and pavement widths, lane configuration, available shoulder widths, 
and on-street parking. The goal of the study is to  identify options to improve   safe access for  
bicycles and pedestrians to all of the resources on these streets.   This study should also include 
analysis and recommendations for the development of convenient alternative routes in cases 
where safe access for bicyclists and pedestrians is not feasible.

The data  that is needed to complete tasks for the arterial streets component of the study  will be 
gathered by ATRC staff.  The consultant will need to analyze this data with emphasis on the 
potential  for removing pedestrian deficiencie s, improving safe crossings, evaluating the 
feasibility of ch anging travel lane assignments, adding bicycle  facilities  and other 
bicycle/pedestrian concerns.  This analysis will amount to  a planning level design of the projects 
or facilities.  The data collection and recommendations will be summarized in a technical report.

ATRC will acquire and/or collect traffic volume count data, pavement widths, cross sections, 
turning movement count data (including heavy vehicles, bicycles, and pedestrians) and crash 
data for the prioritized connections and corresponding streets.  The connections will be 
prioritized during the initial meetings of the consultant and Lewiston Auburn Bicycle Pedestrian 
Committee.  Potential connections for analysis may include connecting the downtowns of both 
Lewiston and Auburn to each other; connecting residential neighborhoods to commercial, 
recreational, employment, and service districts; and/or connecting students to schools.   The 
initial list of streets for routing may include but are not limited to the following:

 Center Street, Auburn (from Union Street Bypass to Turner Street)

 Court Street, Auburn/ Main Street, Lewiston (from Goff Street to Memorial Drive)



3

 Minot Avenue/Route 4/202, Auburn (from Western Avenue to Court Street)
 Union Street Bypass, Auburn

 Lisbon Street, Lewiston (from Cedar Street to Read Street)

 Sabattus Street, Lewiston (from Main Street to Grove Street)
 Main Street, Auburn

 East Avenue, Lewiston

 Russell Street, Lewiston

In order to allow for  safe motor vehicle and bicycle movements, the consultant will analyze the 
collected data and make recommendations regarding the suitability of adding  various bicycle 
facilities , the  potential for  reduction or reassignment of travel lanes on multi-lane roads, 
reduction in travel lane widths, and impacts to on-street parking, etc.  Intersection analysis will 
be needed to ensure that any conversion will not create significant operational deficiencies at key 
intersections.  If it is determined that these major thoroughfares  wil l not provide a safe and 
inviti ng environment , a convenient parallel alternative route should be suggested.  Further, this 
analysis will take into account future volume conditions by using information provided by the 
ATRC’s TransCAD travel demand model.

TASK 1 Deliverable:  Draft /Final   Technical Report detailing data collected, analysis, and 
recommendations. Graphics, including but not limited to concepts on aerial photos , may 
also be included as deemed appropriate.

TASK 2: Complete Street BMP Development
In order to effectively implement the joint Complete Streets Policy,  typical  cross sections and 
minimal standards for bicycle and pedestrian fac i lities  should be developed .   This will not be a 
street by street design, but  rather  typical templates by stre et type according  to street 
characteristics, including traffic volume, surrounding development, and location.

Using the recommendations from Task 1 of this study, the consultant will develop a Complete 
Streets BMP manual which can be applied to  relevant  streets in Auburn and Lewiston by criteria. 
The criteria would establish a template that allows safe access  based mainly on  the road's 
characteristics and not necessarily its classification, in that like roads could have similar 
treatments applied .   MaineDOT must approve all elements of the design guide before final 
publication.

TASK 2 Deliverable:  Draft /Final   Complete Streets Design Guide/Best Management 
Practices Manual.

TASK 3: Main Street Lewiston Bicycle/Pedestrian Connection to Simard-Payne Park
Task 3 of this study will concentrate on finding  identifying preferred routes and potential 
infrastructure improv e ments  for bicycles and pedestrians to safely connect between the Lewiston 
Riverside Greenway (Main Street/Chapel Street intersection) to  Simard -Payne Park (Lincoln 
Street).  The intersection with Main Street at Chapel Street is a four lane road with a grass 
median; there are no pedestrian facilities to cross or bicycle lanes to travel on Main Street. 



4

Lincoln Street is a two lane road with a bike lane, on-street parking, and sidewalks on both sides 
of the road.  There is approximately 1100’ between the Main Street intersections of Lincoln 
Street and Chapel Street.

TASK 3 Deliverable:  Draft  Technical Re port, with associated graphics, including 
prioritized list of recommendations and associated cost opinions.

Final Reports
The consultant will provide  five (5)  copies of  each  printed and electronic technical report  and  
graphics .  The report for Task 1 shall  contain ed  a prioritized list of recommendations and cost 
estimates for addressing bicycle and pedestrian access in the study area outlined in  Task  1 ,  
including a section on typical cross sections and minimum standards for bicycle and pedestrian 
facilities.   The report for Task 2 shall be the  Complete Streets BMP manual .    The report for Task 
3 shall include  a technical report with graphics containing a prioritized list of recommendations 
for  improving the bicycle and pedestrian access options of   connecting  Lewiston Riverside 
Greenway to  Simard -Payne Park ,  with cost estimates.   A draft report  for each shall  be submitted 
by the consultant to allow for comments, edits and revisions to be included in the final report.

Meetings
Up to  twelve (12)  meetings  with ATRC, city staff and the advisory committee, and two public 
meetings are expected.

Inquiries:
Please direct all requests for clarification or other communication to:

Jennifer Williams, PE
Director
ATRC

125 Manley Road
Auburn, ME  04101
Tel: (207) 783-9186
Fax:  (207) 783-5211

Email:  jwilliams@avcog.org

During the proposal preparation period, all requests for clarification and/or additional 
information must be submitted via e-mail to the RFP Coordinator referenced above by no later 
than  T hurs day, August  14 th , 2014, by 4:00 PM .   ATRC reserves the right to answer or not 
answer any question received.  Late requests for clarification will not be accepted.  When 
appropriate, responses to clarification requests will be emailed no later than close of business on 
Thursday, August 21st, 2014.

mailto:jwilliams@avcog.org


5

Submittal Requirements
The ATRC must receive your proposal no later than:  2:00 PM,  Tuesday ,  August   26 th , 2014 , at  
the following address:

ATRC/AVCOG
125 Manley Road

Auburn, ME 04210

One (1) copy of a Price Proposal and one (1) copy of a Non-Price Proposal shall be submitted in 
two separate sealed envelopes.  The Non-Price Proposal shall also be submitted in an electronic 
format. These envelopes should be clearly labeled “Price Proposal – L/A Bike/Pad Study” and 
“Non-Price Proposal – L/A Bike/Pad Study”.   The Non-Price Proposal shall also be sent via 
email to jwilliams@avcog.org no later than 2:00 PM, Tuesday, August 26th, 2014.

Failure to provide separate, sealed, and labeled price and non-price proposals or failure to 
provide ANY of the following items may result in the rejection of a proposal.

Non-Price Proposal
The Non-Price Proposal shall be arranged in the following order:

Cover   Letter  – The consultant must provide a cover letter from a principal of the firm submitting 
the non-price proposal on behalf of their company or consortium. 

Signature   Page  – The submitter of the RFP must sign a page stating  “I certify that all of the 
information contained in this Technical/Price Proposal to be true and accurate.” The signature 
page will also include a statement affirming receipt of all amendments to the RFP. 

Task    Outline  – The consultant must summarize the approach and outcomes that the firm 
proposes to complete the above listed tasks 1 through 3 and will provide a project schedule 
showing the estimated duration of the project.

Statement   of   Experience   and   Qualifications  – The consultant must provide a summary of the 
firm’s background and experience in transportation planning with particular attention to 
bicycle/pedestrian facility planning and Complete Streets experience.

The resumes of the designated project manager and other key individuals involved must be 
included. The prime office location for the project manager must be provided. 

Statement    of    Knowledge    of    the    ATRC    Area     – The consultant must provide a summary 
describing knowledge of and/or work experience in the ATRC area.

References  – The consultant must include a list of 3 to 5 references which can attest to their 
relevant work experience and expertise.

mailto:jwilliams@avcog..org


6

Price Proposal:
The consultant must use the Cost Proposal form attached to the RFP when submitting the Price 
Proposal. The  Price Proposal must include a cover letter from a principal of the firm on behalf of 
their company or consortium.  Each firm submitting must provide a proposed fee for services for 
tasks 1 through 3. The submission must include an hourly fee with standard billing rates.  The 
consultant must additionally provide the following supporting data:

Price Proposal – elements of supporting data consist of the following:

1)   Direct Labor.  Please list all employees including their classifications for the 
employees who are expected to perform services on this project.  Please provide a 
breakdown of each employee’s salary rate including direct labor, indirect labor, and 
profit.  Please show all calculations in detail, and include payroll records supporting the 
rates. 

2)    Indirect Labor (Overhead).  Please provide a copy of your latest audited overhead 
report with supporting documentation

3)    Profit.  The percentage of profit is based on criteria specific to a project including, 
degree of risk, relative difficulty of work, size of job, etc.

4)    Direct Expenses.  Please provide a breakdown of direct expenses, including mileage, 
lodging, photocopying costs, etc. anticipated for this project.  Direct expenses shall be 
reimbursed at cost, and travel expenses shall be reimbursed in accordance with the 
current per diem/mileage rates located at http://www.maine.gov/osc/travel/travelinfo.htm 
& http://www.gsa.gov/portal/category/21287

5)    Sub-Consultants.  Identify each effort to be subcontracted. List the selected sub- 
consultant’s name, location, amount proposed and type of contract. Describe the cost or 
price estimates for each subcontract.  Please note that there is no markup allowed on sub- 
consultant costs.

Selection Process:
This is a Qualifications Based Selection (QBS) process, therefore Technical Proposals alone will 
be used to select the successful proposer.   An ATRC selection committee will review, evaluate, 
and rate each non-price proposal based on the following criteria:

(1) Consultant approach
(2) Qualifications of project manager and key staff
(3) Outline of expected effort by task
(4) Knowledge and experience in the ATRC area

Following the evaluation, ATRC may decide to conduct oral interviews with any or all of the 
candidate firms.  Following the interview process (if deemed necessary), ATRC will open the 
price proposals of the top rated firm and attempt to negotiate a contract with that firm.  If an 
agreement cannot be reached with the selected firm, ATRC will negotiate with the next highest 
rated firm.  Once a contract is executed, the consultant will be instructed to commence work on 
the project.  The ATRC reserves the right to reject any and all proposals.



7

Consultant Selection Schedule
Proposals Due 2:00 PM, Tuesday, August 26th, 2014
Consultant Interviews (if necessary) September 8th-10th, 2014
Consultant Selection September 10th, 2014
Authorization to Award Contract September 15th, 2014

The selected firms must meet state and federal affirmative action and equal opportunity 
employment practices.

Duration of Services
The services for this proposal are non-recurring and will terminate upon completion of the final 
reports and BMP manual.

General Information
The contract resulting from this RFP will be governed by the most recent version of ATRC’s 
Consultant General Conditions.  A copy of the Consultant General Conditions is available at 
ATRC’s website:  http://avcog.org/consultantgeneralconditions

Contract Term and Payment Method
The initial contract term shall be for  through December 31, 2015 .   At ATRC’s discretion, the 
contract may be extended.  The method of payment for the contract shall be cost plus fixed fee.

Certified DBE
MaineDOT Certified Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) consultants are encouraged to 
apply as the prime consultant for this work.  It is important the DBE consultants take advantage 
of this RFP to at least gain entry to the MaineDOT Prequalification List for transportation project 
related services.  Non -DBE consultants shall ensure that DBEs have the maximum opportunity 
to participate in the performance of any project contract in accordance with MaineDOT current 
requirements for DBE utilization when utilizing  subconsultants .  Consultants certified by another 
state’s transportation agency must be certified by MaineDOT.

Current requirements may be found at the MaineDOT website, “Certified Disadvantaged and 
Women Business Enterprise” directory available at;  http://www.maine.gov/mdot/disadvantaged- 
business-enterprises/dbe-home.php, or by contacting:

Maine Department of Transportation
ATTN: Sherry Tompkins, Civil Rights Unit

Civil Rights Office
16 State House Station

Augusta, ME 04333
Tel#: 207-624-3066
Fax#: 207-624-3021

http://avcog.org/consultantgeneralconditions
http://www.maine.gov/mdot/disadvantaged-business-enterprises/dbe-home.php


8

CONFIDENTIALITY

The information contained in proposals submitted for ATRC’s consideration will be held in 
confidence until all reviews are concluded and the award notification has been made.  At that 
time, the full content of the proposals becomes public record and is therefore available for public 
inspection upon request.

According to State procurement law, the content of all proposals, correspondence, addenda, 
memoranda, working papers, or any other medium which discloses any aspect of the request for 
proposals process will be considered public information when the award decision is announced. 
This includes all proposals received in response to this RFP, both the selected proposal and the 
proposal(s) not selected, and includes information in those proposals which a Proposer may 
consider to be proprietary in nature.  All price proposals from rejected submitters will be 
returned from which they came in their original sealed state.

DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION

By submitting to this RFP, I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that the 
aforementioned organization, its principals, and any subcontractors named in this proposal:
1. Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, and declared ineligible or 

voluntarily excluded from bidding or working on contracts issued by any governmental 
agency.

2. Have not within three years of submitting the proposal for this contract been convicted of or 
had a civil judgment rendered against them for:

i. fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or 
performing a federal, state or local government transaction or contract.

ii. violating Federal or State antitrust statutes or committing embezzlement, theft, 
forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false statements, 
or receiving stolen property;

iii. are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a 
governmental entity (Federal, State or Local) with commission of any of the 
offenses enumerated in paragraph (b) of this certification; and

iv. have not within a three (3) year period preceding this proposal had one or more 
federal, state or local government transactions terminated for cause or default.

Failure to provide this certification may result in the disqualification of the Bidder’s proposal, at 
the discretion of ATRC.



    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    

BRIDGING THE GAPSBRIDGING THE GAPSBRIDGING THE GAPSBRIDGING THE GAPS    
A Long-Range Facilities Plan for Bicycling 

and Walking in the ATRC Region: 
Auburn/Lewiston/Lisbon/Sabattus 

 
Updated by: 

Androscoggin Transportation Resource Center 
___________ 2013 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update  

Page left blank intentionally.



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update  

 

 

 

Acknowledgements/Contact Information 
 
 
This update has been made possible by the contributions of a number of individuals and groups, 
including the members of the ATRC Bicycle-Pedestrian Advisory Committee.  In addition to the 
members of the Committee, input was received from a number of stakeholder groups.  Without 
their efforts, this Update would not have been possible. 
 
ATRC Bicycle-Pedestrian Advisory Committee 
 
Verla Brooks, Town of Lisbon 
Richard Burnham, P.E., City of Lewiston 
Stephen Eldridge, Town of Lisbon 
Andrew Gilmore, Town of Sabattus 
Nancy Grant, Bicycle Coalition of Maine 
John Grenier, Rainbow Bicycle 
Erin Guay, Healthy Androscoggin 
David Hediger, City of Lewiston 
Gary Johnson, City of Auburn 

Bob Rand, Lewiston/Auburn Bicycle-
Pedestrian Committee 

Patti Reaves, Lewiston/Auburn Bicycle-
Pedestrian Committee 

Joel Savilonis, Lewiston/Auburn Bicycle-
Pedestrian Committee 

Joan Walton, AICP, ATRC 
Jennifer Williams, P.E., ATRC

 
 
Other Contributors/Stakeholders 
 
Roger Bickford, Town of Lisbon 
Dan Bilodeau, Perkins Ridge Sno-Travelers 
Amanda Bunker, Wright-Pierce Engineering 
Don Fournier, Town of Sabattus 
Mark Fuller, Hillside Family Riders S.C. 
Scott Hatch, Independent Land Owner 

Relations Consulting 
Steven Johndro, Healthy Androscoggin 
 
Jonathan P. Labonté, Androscoggin Land 

Trust/LA Trails 
Jason Ready, P.E., ATRC 
Craig Saddlemire, Lewiston/Auburn Bicycle-

Pedestrian Committee 
Eric Spear, Hillside Family Riders S.C. 
Dan Stewart, Maine Department of 

Transportation 
Jamel Torres, Healthy Androscoggin 
Steve Warren, Lisbon Trails Committee 
Greg Whitney, Andy Valley Sno Gypsies

 
 
 

For more information about the bicycle and pedestrian plan, please contact Joan Walton, AICP, 
Regional Transportation Planner, Androscoggin Transportation Resource Center, 125 Manley 
Road, Auburn, Maine 04210. Tel: (207)783-9186 or e-mail jwalton@avcog.org.   



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2008 Update  

Page left blank intentionally. 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update  

Table of Contents 

 
 
Executive Summary    
 Introduction ....................................................................................................................... 1 
 Challenges to Biking and Walking ................................................................................ 1 
 Overview of the Plan/2035 Vision ................................................................................ 3 
 

Chapter I: Safety Assessment 
 Highway Safety Issues ...................................................................................................... 5 
 Pedestrian Collisions ....................................................................................................... 5 
 Bicycle Collisions .............................................................................................................. 6 
 Analysis of Crash Locations ........................................................................................... 7 
 

Chapter 2: Classification/Description of Plan Facilities 
 Pedestrian Facilities .......................................................................................................... 8 
  Sidewalks .............................................................................................................. 8 
  Pedestrian Districts ............................................................................................ 9 
 Paths and Multi-Use Paths .............................................................................................. 10 
  Pedestrian Facility:  Paths .................................................................................. 10 
  Multi-Use Paths ................................................................................................... 11 
 On-Road Bicycle Facilities .............................................................................................. 12 
  Shared Bicycle Lane ............................................................................................ 12 
  Dedicated Bicycle Lane ..................................................................................... 13 
  Bicycle Route ....................................................................................................... 14 
  Bicycle Routes with Wide Shared Lanes ....................................................... 16 
 Inclusion Criteria for Facilities in Plan ......................................................................... 16 
 Facilities Design ................................................................................................................ 17 
 

Chapter 3: Additional Facility Recommendations 
 Traffic Signals ..................................................................................................................... 18 
 Wayfinding Signage/Kiosks ............................................................................................. 19 
 Crosswalk Design ............................................................................................................. 19 
 Bicycle Storage Facilities ................................................................................................. 20 
 Lighting ................................................................................................................................ 20 
 Bicycle Facilities: Special Cases...................................................................................... 20 
 

Chapter 4: 2035 Vision Plan 
 Education ............................................................................................................................ 23 
 Encouragement ................................................................................................................. 23 
 Engineering ......................................................................................................................... 24 
 Enforcement and Safety .................................................................................................. 24 
 Evaluation ........................................................................................................................... 25 
  



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update  

Chapter 5: Opinions of Cost and Funding Sources 
 Costs for Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities ................................................................. 28 
 Potential Funding for Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities ............................................ 28 
  Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century .......................................... 28 
  MaineDOT Work Plan ...................................................................................... 29 
  Safe Routes to School Program ....................................................................... 29 
  Community Development Block Grant Funds ............................................ 29 
  Local Transportation Funds ............................................................................. 30 
  Other Funding Options ..................................................................................... 30 
  Tax Increment Financing Districts .................................................................. 30 
  Impact Fees .......................................................................................................... 30 
 
Chapter 6: Implementation Recommendations 
 Connectivity: A Top Priority ......................................................................................... 31 
  Population Centers ............................................................................................ 31 
  Between Facilities ............................................................................................... 31 
  Between Communities ...................................................................................... 31 
  East Coast Greenway ........................................................................................ 31 
 Ordinances and Comprehensive/Master Plans .......................................................... 32 
  Local Ordinances/Site Development Process .............................................. 32 
  Comprehensive/Master Plans .......................................................................... 33 
 Transportation Demand Management Programs ...................................................... 33 
 
Chapter 7: Public Comments 
 Public Comments ............................................................................................................. 34 
  
Appendix: Facilities Maps 
 
 
 
 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 1 

Executive Summary 
 
Introduction 
For decades now, Auburn, Lewiston, Lisbon and Sabattus have committed the vast majority of 
their transportation funding to the promotion of the private automobile.  This has allowed for 
continued economic growth and development.  However, it is also clear that it is important to 
support long-term investments that will make bicycling and walking viable and attractive choices 
of travel. 
 

These choices are of critical importance to many residents in Auburn, Lewiston, Lisbon and 
Sabattus, as many residents do not have an option to drive.  The downtown areas of these 
communities, built before the automobile, possess a number of assets that facilitate bicycling and 
walking.  Historically, about half of Lewiston/Auburn’s residents live within a two-mile radius of 
downtown - a reasonable distance for walking and bicycling to the Bates Mill or Great Falls 
Plaza.  Indeed, most of the area’s attractions, including its schools, malls, mills, colleges, 
businesses, hospitals, movie theaters, and parks are within two miles of downtown.  For many of 
these trips, the Androscoggin River will provide a scenic travel corridor for getting around by 
foot or by bike. 
 

Public officials and residents alike have consistently voiced support for physical improvements to 
the region’s bicycling and walking network.  Based on a survey completed by Healthy 
Androscoggin, an organization that, among other tasks, promotes exercise for Androscoggin-
area residents, additional pedestrian and bicycle facilities are in high demand.  The survey 
identified that greater opportunities for pedestrians as well as connections to recreational 
facilities are important to area residents, as well as developments of all kinds in the downtown 
and riverfront areas in the municipalities surveyed. 
 

All of the municipalities are committing resources to upgrade bicycle and pedestrian facilities.  
Auburn’s Riverwalk facility now connects to West Pitch Park, and a new multi-use path was 
recently constructed on Park Avenue that connects the Park Avenue Elementary School to the 
Court Street sidewalk.  Lewiston recently expanded the bicycle network in the downtown and 
continues to seek funding for a trail system along the Androscoggin River between Island Point 
and the Veteran’s Memorial Bridge.  Lisbon has completed two trail segments and is in the 
process of constructing the third segment, which will connect the Paper Mill Trail with the 
Lisbon Falls village.  Sabattus recently completed reconstruction of Main Street sidewalks and 
has identified numerous locations where future trail and pathway development would be 
possible.  The cities of Auburn and Lewiston, working with the newly created Lewiston/Auburn 
Bicycle-Pedestrian Committee, have written and adopted a Complete Streets policy. 
 
Challenges for Bicycling and Walking 
Although they are healthy, affordable, fun, and good for the environment, walking and bicycling 
face numerous challenges.  The National Bicycling and Walking Study conducted by the United 
States Department of Transportation identifies three primary reasons: 
 

Distance:  People live further away from where they want to shop, work, and play.  According 
to the 2010 Census, Androscoggin County grew by 3,909 people, particularly in the once rural 
towns of Durham, Leeds, Minot, Poland, Turner and Wales where population growth rates 
were 10% or more than Census 2000 data.  Spreading out means longer distances and longer 
commutes to the store, the office, the park, or the doctor, trips which are increasingly made by 
car.  However, with improved connections for those who use a bicycle or travel on foot, the 
desire to live in downtown areas could increase.  
 
 
 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 2 

Safety:  The region’s arterial and collector roads carry the vast majority of automobile traffic 
and can be a difficult environment for other modes.  This is especially true in downtown Auburn 
and Lewiston.  By planning for people as well as for cars, transportation projects and new land 
use developments can ensure safer access, mobility, and choice for all residents.  And newer 
transportation improvements such as the Park Avenue multi-use path in Auburn, the dedicated 
bicycle lanes on Ash and Pine Streets and the shared lanes (sharrows) on Mollison Way in 
Lewiston, and rehabilitated sidewalks in Sabattus village reflect a desire to accommodate other 
modes. 
 
Historically, shopping centers and subdivisions have been built without adequate access for 
people arriving by foot or by bike.  In many cases, even where these facilities may be internally 
designed for other modes, connections to the nearby roadway network provide few 
opportunities for non-motorized traffic. 
 
A review of the crash data revealed that locations with a cluster of bicycle or pedestrian crashes 
did not have definable or correctable patterns.  Education of bicyclists, pedestrians, and drivers 
may increase awareness and help to minimize safety risks. 
 

Attraction:  Without a doubt, most streets in Auburn, Lewiston, Lisbon and Sabattus are largely 
oriented toward cars.  But well-designed corridors are not only safe, they are places to greet 
neighbors and linger with friends.  Urban downtowns and villages continue to be the focal points 
for revitalization.  Projects such as Riverwalk in Auburn, Gas Light Park in Lewiston, and the 
Paper Mill/Ricker Trail network in Lisbon all help to attract businesses to locate in southern 
Androscoggin County, draw visitors and office workers to spend money, and increase the 
quality of life for all residents. 
 
The Long-Range Facilities Plan is intended to serve as a guide to help municipal officials and 
other community leaders in the Auburn, Lewiston, Lisbon and Sabattus area build a seamless 
network of bicycle and pedestrian facilities over the next 20 years.  Since the region’s first 
Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan was completed in 1995, and updated in 2002 and 2008, the Auburn, 
Lewiston, Lisbon and Sabattus area has utilized millions of dollars in state, federal and local 
resources for the construction of sidewalks, bike lanes, shoulders, and paved pathways.  To 
update the 2013 plan, the Androscoggin Transportation Resource Center (ATRC) launched an 
advisory committee and a planning process that will mesh with its overall Long-Range 
Transportation Plan Update, the guiding document for long-term investments made for roads, 
highways, transit, rail, freight, and bicycling and walking facilities in the ATRC region. 
 
As part of this project, ATRC is publishing a 2035 Vision for the region’s bicycling and walking 
network.  What follows is a discussion of the various components of the Plan to make this 
Vision a possibility, with the primary emphasis on the Engineering component, including facilities 
recommendations, funding strategies, and policy objectives, all requiring significant investments. 
 
These investments will not be made all at once.  Construction will be incremental.  Primary 
responsibility will rest with each community’s elected, planning and public works officials, who 
have the authority to implement policies that ensure all roads, subdivisions, shopping areas, and 
other developments include bicycle and pedestrian facilities.  The newly formed 
Lewiston/Auburn Bicycle-Pedestrian Committee, local schools, businesses, community groups 
and other stakeholders will play an important role in designing, building, maintaining, and 
promoting these facilities, as well as in identifying future routes yet to be discovered. 
 
 
 
 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 3 

Overview of the Plan/2035 Vision 
Major Strategies for New Facilities 
 

The Plan is largely the engineering and policy component of the following broader strategies for 
a Plan: 
 

� Education:  Provide information to the Communities comprising the plan as to the options of 
travel and the need for healthy modes of living. 

� Encouragement:  Promote the use of other modes through the dissemination of mapping and 
related information, as well as promotion of other modes by employers. 

� Engineering:  Allocate funding for facilities, resulting in the design and construction of new 
facilities. 

� Enforcement:  Teach safe behaviors and make sure that bicyclists and pedestrians are kept 
safe from the remainder of the traveling public, while ensuring they conform to correct 
practices for bicycling and walking. 

� Evaluation:  On-going data collection program that informs about where bicycles and pedestrians 
are traveling, facilities conditions, and what facilities improvements have been completed. 

 
Facilities in Plan 
As this Plan focuses primarily on the Engineering Component, the selection and funding of 
specific facilities comprises most of this report.  The report provides discussion and 
recommendations for the following facilities: 
 

� Sidewalks:  Facilities separate from roadways designated solely for walkers or wheelchair 
users 

� Paths (Pedestrian):  Marked and designated walkways for pedestrian use exclusively, typically 
in undeveloped areas 

� Paths (Multi-Use):  Pathways graded and improved such that pedestrians, bicyclists, and other 
non-motorized modes may utilize the facility for travel or recreation 

� Shared Bicycle Lane:  Roadways designated for shared bicycle and vehicle use, usually with 
low vehicular speeds and volumes 

� Dedicated Bicycle Lane:  A shoulder treatment, at least four feet in width, striped and 
designated specifically for bicycles 

� Bicycle Route:  Roadways with some level of designation for bicycles, typically signage and/or 
inclusion on mapping 

 
Principles for Selection 
The Plan is based on the following principles for inclusion of specific facilities: 
 

� Accessibility:  Provides access for high population densities or a critical-need population 

� Safety:  Minimizes conflicts between non-motorized and motorized modes 

� Connectivity:  Provides linkages to and from significant destinations, such as downtowns, and 
is in close proximity to transit modes, such as the citylink fixed-route bus service 

� Attractiveness/Usability:  Ideally, a facility will be scenic as well as relatively level, in order to 
attract the broadest array of users 

� Cost:  A facility should be completed in conjunction with larger projects when applicable, 
minimize right-of-way impacts, and be based on sound engineering practice 

 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 4 

Mapping 
The facility maps are included in the back of this report, and they include recommendations for 
paths, multi-use paths, and various bicycle facilities.  In addition, significant additional mapping for 
pedestrian facilities is available through LA Trails at http://www.latrails.org/ and Healthy 
Androscoggin at http://www.healthyandroscoggin.org/healthy-androscoggin/physical-activity/. 
 
Funding Strategies 
The Plan recommends a number of funding strategies, including the following: 
 
� Capital Funding:  The majority of state and federal funding, allocated on a three-year basis 

� Safe Routes to School:  Competitive funds that may be available from the federal government 
for walking and biking facilities within two miles of an elementary or middle school 

� Community Development Block Grants:  Federal funds for improvements in downtown areas, 
which can include transportation facilities 

� Local Transportation Funds:  Funding available based on tax dollars levied for use by a specific 
municipality, usually determined by the Public Works or Public Services departments 

� Tax Increment Financing Districts:  Use of local tax dollars placed in a separate fund for 
infrastructure improvements 

� Impact Fees:  Use of a “pay-as-you-go” system where development projects each pay their 
share toward specific infrastructure improvements 

 
References for Facility Selection 
The facilities themselves were selected and based on the following: 
 

� The existing mapping provided for the 2008 Plan/2030 Vision 

� Interviews with Staff of Rainbow Bicycle & Fitness (Lewiston) 

� Participation in and/or review of other planning efforts, including the 2008 Bicycle and 
Pedestrian Plan, the Androscoggin Land Trust’s draft Androscoggin Greenway Plan, Auburn 
Water and Sewerage District plans, East Coast Greenway, and plans for commercial 
developments 

� Work with community groups, including the Lewiston/Auburn Bicycle-Pedestrian 
Committee, Androscoggin Land Trust, Healthy Androscoggin, and local snowmobile clubs 

 
With these and other recommendations in mind, the hope is that bicycling and walking become 
an increasingly important part of the overall transportation system in Auburn, Lewiston, Lisbon 
and Sabattus.  The benefits will be less traffic congestion, a healthier public, more options for 
travelers, and increased opportunity for those without automobiles. 
 

    
    



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 5 

Chapter 1: Chapter 1: Chapter 1: Chapter 1: Safety AssessmentSafety AssessmentSafety AssessmentSafety Assessment    
 

Prior to the selection of facilities or other recommendations, the overriding issue of importance 
is to determine the potential safety issues in Auburn, Lewiston, Lisbon and Sabattus as they 
relate to bicycles and pedestrians.  This chapter identifies critical highway safety issues for 
bicyclists, as well as an assessment of potential crash issues and associated recommendations. 
 

Highway Safety Issues:  The region’s arterial highways carry the vast majority of automobile 
traffic and can be a difficult environment for other modes of transportation, including bicycling 
and sometimes walking.  Conflicts between modes arise when these highways transition to the 
urban centers, particularly in Auburn and Lewiston.  Multiple lane configurations on Lisbon 
Street, Main Street, Russell Street and Sabattus Street in Lewiston constrain shoulder widths 
making it challenging and dangerous for bicycling.  Lane configurations on Center Street and 
Minot Avenue in Auburn limit accessibility for pedestrians and bicyclists.  The Vietnam Veteran's 
Memorial Bridge ramps, striping, and lack of sidewalks in Auburn and Lewiston discourage 
accessibility for bicyclists and pedestrians.  All of these routes are critical for public access to 
schools, businesses, entertainment, as well as medical and social services. 
 
It is not safe to enter and exit the Vietnam Veteran’s Memorial Bridge by bicycle without 
following the current signage to use the crosswalks.  ATRC has struggled with the concept of 
recommending major changes in this plan knowing that there is not going to be any investment 
for new infrastructure to accommodate bicyclists at the bridge ramps.  Although not preferred, 
there is a way for bicyclists to cross the bridge currently and, while not ideal for all bicyclists, it 
is the recommended approach at this time given that the Maine Department of Transportation 
(MaineDOT) has no plans to reconstruct the ramps or bridge within the next 20 years.  
Hopefully when this plan is next updated, ATRC will be able to promote a new Androscoggin 
River crossing proposed by the Androscoggin Land Trust that will be safer for non-motorized 
travelers. 
 
Within the scope of this 2013 update, although not ideal, or preferred, bicycle facilities are not 
proposed at this time for the urban core sections of Center Street, Minot Avenue, Lisbon 
Street, Main Street, Russell Street, and Sabattus Street.  To the extent that parallel routes can 
be defined, these are recommended in the plan.  The design of these streets are some of the 
biggest barriers to having a multi-modal transportation network that supports walking and 
bicycling.  Reconfiguring all of these streets to meet bicycle standards may not be financially 
feasible within the next five years, but steps should be taken towards a long-term vision of 
accessibility for bicyclists and pedestrians, either through accommodations on these streets or 
through the development of convenient alternatives. 
 
The next recommended step to address this challenge is a comprehensive study that 
concentrates on these major thoroughfares, examining lane width, lane numbers, available 
shoulder width, and paved right-of-way.  The study's goal should be to find adequate space for 
bicycles and pedestrians to safely access all of the resources on these streets.  If and when 
designated space for bicyclists and pedestrians cannot be developed through a road diet, this 
study should analyze and recommend the development of convenient alternative routes for 
these modes.  Recommendations for each street should be completed in time for the next 5-
year update of the ATRC long-range bicycle and pedestrian plan.  These streets should not 
undergo reconstruction without thorough consideration of how bicyclists and pedestrians can 
be included within the design. 

 

Pedestrian Collisions:  During the period 2008 to 2010, there were 82 incidents involving 
pedestrians in Auburn, Lewiston, Lisbon.  There were no pedestrian crashes in Sabattus during 
this three-year time period.  The overall crash information is summarized on the following table: 
 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 6 

Pedestrian Collisions: 200Pedestrian Collisions: 200Pedestrian Collisions: 200Pedestrian Collisions: 2008888----2020202010101010    

Town 
Name 

Data 
Crash Year 

Grand Total 
2008 2009 2010 

Auburn 

Total Number of Crashes 9 9 7 25 

Total Fatalities 0 0 0 0 

Total Incapacitating Injuries 1 1 2 4 

Total Evident Injuries 7 2 5 14 

Total Possible Injuries 2 6 2 10 

Lewiston 

Total Number of Crashes 15 16 23 54 

Total Fatalities 1 0 0 1 

Total Incapacitating Injuries 1 1 0 2 

Total Evident Injuries 7 13 18 38 

Total Possible Injuries 10 9 8 27 

Lisbon 

Total Number of Crashes  2 1  0 3 

Total Fatalities  0 0  0 0 

Total Incapacitating Injuries  0 0  0 0 

Total Evident Injuries  1 1  0 2 

Total Possible Injuries  0 0  0 0 

 Sabattus Total Number of Crashes  0  0 0 0 

Grand Total Number of Crashes 26 26 30 82 
Grand Total Fatalities 1 0 0 1 

Grand Total Incapacitating Injuries 2 2 2 6 

Grand Total Evident Injuries 15 16 23 54 

Grand Total Possible Injuries 12 15 10 37 

Source: MaineDOT 
 

Lewiston experienced the vast majority of collisions, at almost 2/3 of the total, with Auburn at 
1/3 of the total, and Lisbon with a few scattered incidents.  Seven percent of the collisions, six 
incidents, resulted in serious injuries to the pedestrians that incapacitated them.  One incident 
resulted in pedestrian fatality (2008) in Lewiston. 
 

Bicycle Collisions:  During the period 2008 to 2010, there were 49 incidents involving bicyclists 
in Auburn, Lewiston, Lisbon.  The majority of these (32 crashes) were at intersections as 
opposed to roadway segments (17 crashes).  There were no bicycle crashes in Sabattus during 
this three-year time period.  The overall crash information is summarized on the following table: 
 

Bicycle CollBicycle CollBicycle CollBicycle Collisions: 2008isions: 2008isions: 2008isions: 2008----2020202011110000    

Town 
Name 

Data 
Crash Year 

Grand Total 
2008 2009 2010 

Auburn 

Total Number of Crashes   7   6  8 21 

Total Fatalities   0   0  0  0 

Total Incapacitating Injuries   0   0  0  0 

Total Evident Injuries   2   1  4   7 

Total Possible Injuries   5   5  4 14 

Lewiston 

Total Number of Crashes   8   7 12 27 

Total Fatalities   0   0   0   0 

Total Incapacitating Injuries   0   0   2   2 

Total Evident Injuries   6   6   3 15 

Total Possible Injuries   2   1   7 10 

Lisbon 
Total Number of Crashes   1   0   0   1 

Total Fatalities   0   0   0    0 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 7 

Total Incapacitating Injuries   0   0   0   0 

Total Evident Injuries   1   0   0   1 

Total Possible Injuries   0   0   0   0 

Sabattus Total Number of Crashes   0   0   0   0 

Grand Total Number of Crashes 16 13 20 49 

Grand Total Fatalities   0   0   0   0 

Grand Total Incapacitating Injuries   0   0   0   0 

Grand Total Evident Injuries   9   7   7 23 

Grand Total Possible Injuries   7   6 11 24 

Source: MaineDOT 

 
Fifty-five percent (55%) of the bicycle collisions occurred in Lewiston, 43% were in Auburn, and 
8% were in Lisbon.  It is interesting to note that bicyclists as a whole are less likely to be 
seriously injured than pedestrians.  Only two of the collisions (4%) resulted in serious injuries to 
the bicyclists that incapacitated them; no fatalities were recorded. 
 
Analysis of Crash Locations:  While most locations experiencing a collision between a 
pedestrian or bicyclist with a motor vehicle only took place once in a three-year period, thus 
being a rather random event, several locations experienced multiple collisions with pedestrians 
or bicycles.  Based on a review of the crash records, the majority of the pedestrian crashes 
appear to be the result of pedestrians not following the rules of the road and motor vehicle 
driver inattention.  Driver inattention and illegal bicycle operation (e.g. bicycling on the wrong 
side of the road) appear to be the primary factors in the bicycle crashes. 
 
Reduction of pedestrian and bicycle crashes may be addressed by a combination of education 
and policy actions; motorists, bicyclists and pedestrians should be educated about rules of the 
road for bicycles and pedestrians, and municipal officials should consider policy decisions to 
make bicycle and pedestrian facilities a priority. 
 

This being said, it is recommended that certain safety-related policies and procedures be 
enacted and followed as they relate to bicycles and pedestrians.  These include, but should not 
be limited to, the following: 
 

� Provide extensive bicycle and pedestrian education programs at schools to teach students 
about the rules of the road 

� Install medians on wider roadways with multiple travel lanes where feasible 

� Complete pedestrian counts at key locations to determine if more aggressive treatments, 
such as pedestrian-actuated signals or raised crosswalks would be appropriate 

� Evaluate urban intersections operating under capacity to determine if an exclusive 
pedestrian phase would be appropriate, such as along Lisbon Street in downtown Lewiston 

� Install visible crosswalks where desired, and at key locations, utilize more durable 
treatments, such as thermoplastic, or an inlaid treatment like DuraTherm/Jarvis imprint 

� Where feasible and particularly on local streets (non-collector or arterial), revise curb radii 
by adding bump-outs to reduce crossing widths and, as such, time pedestrians spend 
crossing the street 

� As discussed in other sections of this Plan, evaluate wide sections of roadways to determine 
if it is feasible to stripe shoulders and/or bicycle lanes. 
 
 
 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 8 

Chapter 2: Classification/Description of Plan Facilities 
 
For the purposes of this Plan, there are several classifications of facilities and amenities for 
bicycles and pedestrians.  The designations discussed below for each category of facility have 
been compiled for the purposes of this Plan, and have been adapted from the classifications set 
forth by the California Highway Design Manual and additionally elaborated in the Institute of 
Transportation Engineers publication Review of Planning Guidelines and Design Standards for Bicycle 
Facilities. 
 
Pedestrian Facilities: Sidewalks 
The most typical pedestrian-exclusive facility is a sidewalk, which provides a separate space for 
non-motorized travel of the walking or wheelchair variety.  The Americans with Disabilities Act 

(available as ADA Standards for Accessible Design, 
published by the Department of Justice) requires 
that sidewalks be a minimum of five feet in width 
and have a slope of less than five percent (5%).  In 
addition, access to the sidewalks should be 
provided by curb ramps that have slopes of no 
more than eight percent (8%).  If these grades are 
exceeded, hand rails should be provided along the 
ramps/sidewalks or alternative routes be 
provided.  At the bottom of the ramps, some 
type of tactile detection should be placed to 
provide guidance to visually impaired persons that 
a roadway crossing is imminent. 
 

Sidewalks should also provide adequate width for an individual 
in a wheelchair to maneuver without striking fixed objects 
within the sidewalk (e.g. mail boxes or utility poles).  As such, 
typical sidewalks are a minimum of five feet in width, although 
five to six feet is recommended, which provides adequate 
width for two individuals in wheelchairs to pass each other by.  
In downtown areas where pedestrian traffic can be heavy, 
determinations exist as published in the Highway Capacity 
Manual for additional width determinations.  In some of the 
central business district locations, ten to twenty feet is not 
uncommon.  Lastly, some delineation from the vehicular travel 
way should be provided, either in the form of an elevated 
section with curbing, or a grassy esplanade or swale. 
 
There are over 150 miles of sidewalks in the communities of 
Auburn, Lewiston, Lisbon and Sabattus.  As determined in the 
2002 Plan, the majority (75 percent) of these facilities were in 
adequate condition for most pedestrians.  However, many still 
do not have curb ramps, although at this time, wherever 
sidewalks have been added or reconstructed, ramps and 
related facilities have been added. 
 
The region is little more than halfway toward the goal of 
having sidewalks on both sides of arterials and collectors 
within the urban core.  However, at this time, many of the 
obstacles prohibiting additional sidewalks along major travel 
corridors are significant, ranging from insufficient right-of-way 

 Sidewalks along Elm Street, Auburn  

“Cowpaths” along Minot 

Avenue show where pedestrians 

travel, with or without 

sidewalks.  These locations 

indicate a location where 

pedestrian desire lines exist, but 

no facility exists.  Such places 

are clearly not ADA-compliant, 

and as such, can result in those 

with mobility issues potentially 

having to utilize the street itself. 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 9 

to grading and drainage issues to funding deficiencies.  Regardless of these issues, this goal 
should remain. 
 

 

As discussed above, completing gaps in the sidewalk network may be limited by physical 
constraints such as severe topography or the presence of trees, utilities, and buildings set close 
to the street.  Other gaps might be addressed through the following sources: 

 
� Local capital improvement programs:  Address short gaps, particularly on road segments not 

scheduled for full reconstruction in the Six Year Plan. 

� Road reconstruction projects:  Include sidewalks, new and rehabilitated, on both sides of 
arterials and collectors within the urban core. 

� New development:  Require external and internal pedestrian access, such as new sidewalk 
construction to the nearest connecting sidewalk (where feasible) or a reduction in parking 
requirements to extend or construct a pathway. 

  
Pedestrian Districts:  Pedestrian districts are 
dense, mixed-use locations within the urban core 
where “people” traffic is both expected and 
encouraged.  Some districts are located in 
downtown or village settings that reflect a 
compact pattern of development.  Others are 
anchored by major institutions, such as hospitals, 
mills, colleges, and malls.  Whether they 
developed in the last 10 or 100 years, these 
locations are characterized by mixed-use—homes, 
apartments, businesses, offices, and public 
buildings—and density—multiple attractions in 
close proximity to one another.  The following 
design treatments are recommended to create 
and maintain pedestrian-friendly districts: 
 

� Wider sidewalks on both sides of arterials and collectors with esplanades, curbing, lighting, 
and street trees, all placed at a human scale 

� Pedestrian treatment at intersections, such as touch-free pedestrian signals, curb extensions 
to reduce crossing distance, landscaped medians for refuge, and textured crosswalks for 
visibility 

Network Gaps in Sidewalk Facilities for Plan MunicipalitiesNetwork Gaps in Sidewalk Facilities for Plan MunicipalitiesNetwork Gaps in Sidewalk Facilities for Plan MunicipalitiesNetwork Gaps in Sidewalk Facilities for Plan Municipalities    

Network Gaps  Examples 

No sidewalks 
on either side 
of road  

Auburn: All or portions of Gracelawn Road, Hotel Road, Lake Auburn Avenue, 
Park Avenue, Turner Street Lewiston:  All or portions of Central Avenue, 
Montello Street, South Avenue, Webber Avenue, Scribner Boulevard Sabattus:  
High Street  

Sidewalks on 
only one side 
of road  

Auburn:  All or portions of Academy Street, Lake Street, Mechanics Row, Mount 
Auburn Avenue, Poland Road, South Main Street Lewiston:  All or portions of 
Adams Avenue, Bartlett Street, College Street, East Avenue, King Avenue, Pleasant 
Street, Russell Street, Webster Street Lisbon:  All or portions of Lisbon Road, High 
Street, Pleasant Street Sabattus:  Green Street, Main Street  

Discontinuous 
sidewalks along 
road  

Auburn:  Center Street, Gamage Avenue, Minot Avenue, Turner Street, 
Washington Street, Western Avenue Lewiston:  Canal Street, Cedar Street to 
Canal Street by the ramp, Main Street Lisbon:  Main Street, Lisbon Road, School 
Street, Village Street  

 Lincoln Street, Lewiston 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 10 

� Pedestrian amenities, such as benches, artwork, drinking fountains, trash cans, telephones, 
newsstands, directional signage, and kiosks 

� Open space, such as squares, plazas, and courtyards 

� Linkages to other modes of transportation, such as bike racks and sheltered bus stops 

 

Zoning and land-use policies that support compact development will also facilitate walking (as 
well as bicycling) in pedestrian districts: 
 

� Mixed uses, including residential, retail, commercial, and institutional development

� Variety of high-density housing, such as apartments, multi-family and single-family homes 

� “Renaissance proportions” of 1:4 that define the ideal relationship between building height 
and street width, i.e., for every foot of a building’s height there should be no more than four 

feet of space setback, sidewalk, street width) 
in front of it 

� Zero setbacks for retail and commercial 
buildings with parking provided on the side or 
in back 

� Orientation of awnings, building signs, and 
facades to the street 

� Preservation of historic architecture and 
buildings through rehabilitation and adaptive 
re-use 

� Design guidelines to create and preserve the 
unique character of a district 

� Reduction in parking requirements to pay for 
green infrastructure, including open space, 
pathways, and sidewalks 

 

Paths and Multi-Use Paths 
Approximately 50 miles of pathways are proposed on the region’s 2035 Vision Map.  The 
discussions on the following pages illustrate the proposed network as well as the high priority 
pathway projects.  In some cases, these alternate routes include on-road segments to address 
gaps where right-of-way can not be acquired and to provide a seamless transition to the street 
network. 
 

Pedestrian Facility:  Paths 
 

Most pedestrian-oriented pathways are rural 
and recreational in nature, providing 
opportunities for hiking.  These pathways 
should be kept free of brush or other 
obstructions and a minimum of four feet in 
width, with six feet in width or greater in 
locations where users are common. 
 

The paths should also be clearly marked with a 
consistent colored blaze.  These can range in 
spacing from a few hundred feet in cases 
where the trail clarity is low to every 800 to 

1,000 feet where the trail location is very clear.  In addition, occasional signage with the name of 
a trail or distances to destinations should also be provided. 
 
 

Densities of up to eight units per acre in this 
typical neighborhood on Goff Hill in Auburn 
result in a walkable, bikeable area. 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 11 

Pedestrian-oriented trails and footpaths number in the hundreds, providing access to parks and 
public lands such as Mt. Apatite and Thorncrag, shortcuts through neighborhoods, such as Park 
Avenue to Goff Hill, and long routes for cross-country running, skiing, and mountain biking. 
Although there is no complete inventory of off-road trails in the region, these could be mapped 
with the aid of United States Geological Survey (USGS) maps and Global Positioning System 
(GPS) units.  In addition, L/A Trails has an extensive database of trail facilities available.  If 
desired, some of these informal trails could be upgraded with grading, drainage and surface 
treatments such as stone dust or better to result in a Multi-Use Path, discussed as follows. 
 
Multi-Use Paths 

 

A multi-use path is a travel facility 
designed solely for non-motorized modes 
of travel.  In addition to bicycles, 
pedestrians, wheelchairs, rollerbladers 
and equestrians are also permitted to 
utilize these facilities.  The MaineDOT 
requires that multi-use paths it funds be 
paved to meet ADA requirements.  The 
Maine Department of Agriculture, 
Conservation & Forestry allows trails 
funded by the Recreational Trails 
Program to have a stone dust surface 
rather than pavement.  Multi-use paths 

should typically be graded at no more than an eight percent (8%) slope to allow cyclists of 
varying abilities to utilize them. 
 
A number of opportunities exist for multi-use paths in Lewiston, Auburn, Lisbon and Sabattus.  
Ideally, these paths can be constructed on independent rights-of-way, such as abandoned 
railroad beds, old trolley lines, canals, river corridors, and power lines.  Although off-road and 
separated routes offer unique benefits in terms of scenery and safety a path could be 
constructed within the road right-of-way separated by a grassy buffer like was recently 
constructed on Park Avenue.  In addition, if sufficient right-of-way exists, a multi-use path could 
be constructed adjacent to an active rail line, something recently completed in the 
Gardiner/Augusta area.  There are over ten miles of multi-use paths in the ATRC region, 
including Park Avenue, the Union Street Gully Parkway, River Walk, Railroad Park, the Ricker 
and Paper Mill Trails, Franklin Pasture Trail, and Gas Light Park. 

 

 Typical Section Bike Path (Courtesy City of Madison, Wisconsin Engineering Division) 

 
Riverside Park, Auburn 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 12 

The width of a multi-use path can also vary, depending on both the level of use and the types of 
use intended.  Many paths are eight to ten feet in width, which allows for a four to five-foot 
travelway in each direction.  Ideally, each direction is separated by a dashed yellow line, similar 
to the treatment used for a motorway.  Wider widths, such as twelve to twenty feet can allow 
for separate lanes for bicycle and pedestrian traffic if so desired. 
 
Winter maintenance for a multi-use path may depend on its intended use.  If the path is 
primarily recreational in nature, a municipality may opt to allow snow to accumulate on the 
route to allow for snowshoeing, cross-country skiing, or other seasonal activities.  However, if it 
is determined that the path serves more of a commuter (i.e. non recreational) purpose, the 
facility should be kept clear of snow. 
 
MaineDOT rail policy allows rail-with-trail with a minimum of 15 feet of space between the rail 
and trail, however a fence is required if the rail and trail are closer than 15 feet.  The absolute 
minimum without a variance is 10 feet, 6 inches of space separation.    A larger separation than 
the minimum requirements are preferred if possible. 
 

On-Road Bicycle Facilities 
Creating bicycle facilities on existing roads is the most cost efficient way to accommodate 
bicyclists while maximizing public investment in right-of-way.  A bicycle facility is created when 
an appropriate design treatment is applied to a road.  What is appropriate depends on the 
road’s existing width, speed, and traffic volume, as well as the availability of alternate or parallel 
routes for bicyclists.  Currently, there are over 80 miles of roads in Androscoggin County with 
paved shoulders of at least four feet, the minimum width necessary to safely accommodate 
bicycles. 
 
On-road bicycle facilities offer the advantage of providing clear striping to indicate for motorists 
to move toward the center of the roadway as much as practicable, creating street space for 
cyclists.  As such, they also encourage bicyclists to ride on the road in the same direction as 
traffic, where they are more visible to drivers.  As a result, on-road facilities typically result in 
more predictable turning movements by both drivers and bicyclists, which is when conflicts are 
most likely to occur. 
 
Shared Bicycle Lane 
Shared Bicycle Lanes utilize existing roadways, typically localized residential streets with low 
overall motorized traffic volumes consisting of locally-destined vehicles.  These streets typically 
run in parallel with major motorized traffic routes (or provide connections between other 
routes) and provide a safer and more amenable alternative to bicyclists, be they recreational or 
commuter in nature. 

Shared Bicycle Lanes typically have signage 
(e.g. “Bikes May Use Full Lane”) and markings 
specific to their use, making it clear that it is a 
designated route.  Ideally, they would also 
have wayfinding signage informing bicyclists of 
major destinations, such as the primary route 
parallel to the Shared Bicycle Lane or some 
other major point of interest, including other 
bicycle facilities. 
 
Because they offer the most residential 
streets with low traffic volumes, roadways in 

 
Mollison Way, Lewiston 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 13 

Lewiston and Auburn offer the greatest opportunities for Shared Bicycle Lanes.  Streets such as 
Avon Street and Brault Street in Lewiston would be possible candidates for such treatments.  
North River Road and Davis Street in Auburn also provide Shared Bicycle Lane potential. 
 
Dedicated Bicycle Lane 
The use of a Dedicated Bicycle Lane allows for motorized and non-motorized traffic to utilize 
the same route with a minimum of conflict.  Based on current criteria published in the Highway 
Design Guide by AASHTO, the minimum acceptable width is four feet, while five feet is required 
by MaineDOT on an urban street with curbing.  As current Maine law requires that a motorist 
provide a minimum of three feet when passing a bicycle, five feet allows for additional clearance 
distance to minimize the potential for a 
motorist to cross the center line of the 
roadway. 
 
Dedicated Bicycle Lanes should have bicycle-
specific markings delineating their location, 
with wayfinding signage available as needed.  A 
number of locations in the ATRC region 
already have bicycle lanes, including portions of 
Ash Street, College Street and Lincoln Street 
in Lewiston, and portions of Main Street, 
Mount Auburn Avenue, and Turner Street in 
Auburn. 
 
There are approximately twenty miles of wide curb lanes in Lewiston and Auburn alone that 
could be striped to create bike lanes.  These urban streets have a minimum pavement width of 
at least 30 feet, which allows for two eleven-foot travel lanes and two four-foot bike lanes.  
Many will not require significant changes in traffic patterns, such as a reduction in the number of 
travel lanes, the width of travel lanes, or the availability of on-street parking.  However, as the 
changes may result in relocating on-street parking to one side of the street only, a public 
process should be initiated prior to any implementation.  Striping could be accomplished during 
routine spring maintenance or road resurfacing projects at minimal cost. 

 Ash Street, Lewiston 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 14 

Candidates for Bicycle LanesCandidates for Bicycle LanesCandidates for Bicycle LanesCandidates for Bicycle Lanes    Via RestripingVia RestripingVia RestripingVia Restriping    

Auburn 

Street Description Pavement Width (feet) 

Court Street Fairview Street to Park Avenue 36-38 

Dennison Street Gamage Avenue to Turner Street 30-36 

Elm Street Minot Avenue to Main Street 44 

Gamage Avenue Goff Street to Park Avenue 32-40 

Goff Street Court Street to Gamage Avenue 34-36 

Hampshire Street Gamage Avenue to Turner Street 32-36 

Lake Auburn Avenue Turner Street to Center Street 30-34 

Manley Road Hotel Road to Court Street 30-36 

Minot Avenue Western Avenue to Hotel Road 50-54 

Poland Road Minot Avenue to Hotel Road 32-40 

Riverside Drive Mill Street to Brook Street 32-45 

Rodman Road Poland Road to Washington Street 30-35 

Spring Street Elm Street to Hampshire Street 34-44 

Turner Street Union Street to Gracelawn Road 30-45 

Lewiston 

Bartlett Street  Oak Street to Adams Avenue  34 

Bates Street  Oak Street to Birch Street  34-54 

Birch Street  Bates Street to Jefferson Street  32-36 

Canal Street  Main Street to Cedar Street  26-42 

Central Avenue  Webster Street to Russell Street  30-46 

College Street  Bates Street to Russell Street  32-38 

East Avenue  Lisbon Street to Montello Street  37-50 

Lincoln Street  Cedar Street to Locust Street  30-44 

Montello Street  Old Green Road to Highland Spring Road  37 

Webster Street  Central Avenue to Farwell Street  40-48 

 
Bicycle Route 
Certain roadways may not have specific bicycle lanes or striping, but may still accommodate 
bicycles.  In the case of Bicycle Routes, these roadways have a paved shoulder four or more feet 
in width, to allow for the safe passage of vehicles.  In addition, signage designating the roadway 
as such alerts motorists to the fact that bicycles will likely be present. 
 
These treatments are particularly desirable for roadways with speeds posted in excess of 30 
mph and daily traffic volumes of more than 3,000 vehicles per day, as this level of vehicular 
traffic poses a chronic potential for conflicts with bicycles. 
 
There are numerous such roadways with paved shoulders in the Lewiston, Auburn, Lisbon and 
Sabattus area, including the following: 
 
� Lewiston:  Route 196, Route 126, Route 202, Alfred Plourde Parkway, Webster Street, 

Pond Road 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 15 

� Auburn:  Route 4, Route 100, Route 11, Turner Street, Mount Auburn Avenue, Court 
Street 

� Lisbon:  Route 196, Route 9, Route 125 

� Sabattus:  Route 126 
 
New shoulders can and should be paved as part of road reconstruction projects where feasible. 
One recent project resulting in paved shoulders is Route 136 in Durham, south of Auburn; this 
route has been proven to be popular with bicyclists, offering a connection to Brunswick and 
Freeport.  The Maine Department of Transportation has developed a policy to pave shoulders 
during reconstruction when the road meets certain criteria, such as high traffic volumes.  This 
policy could serve as a guide for local governments and the Androscoggin Transportation 
Resource Center. 
 
The Project Selection and Prioritization Process is used by ATRC to prioritize and rank all capital 
projects for the biennial Transportation Improvement Program (TIP).  A maximum of 10% of 
the available “Highway Improvement Scoring Formula” points that can be awarded to a road 
project are dedicated to bicycle and pedestrian improvements.  ATRC awards up to ten points 
out of 100 for the creation of new bicycle and pedestrian facilities on roads scheduled for 
reconstruction.  A lesser number of points are awarded for replacing or adding either bicycle or 
pedestrian facilities as part of a road project.  This formula is detailed in the following table: 

 

ATRC Point System for Bicycle/Pedestrian Facilities in Road Reconstruction Projects 

Points Criteria Example 

 
 
 

10 

The project is located in a pedestrian district and will include new and/or 
improved bicycle and pedestrian facilities, such as bike lanes, sidewalks 
with esplanades, and other streetscape improvements and amenities.  A 
pedestrian district is a dense, mixed use area where a high volume of 
“people” traffic is both expected and encouraged, such as schools, 
downtown Auburn and Lewiston, Lisbon Falls, Sabattus Village, Auburn 
Mall and Lewiston Mall. 

Court Street, Auburn 
Turner Street, Auburn 
Central Ave., Lewiston 
Lisbon Street, Lewiston 
 

 
8 

The project will include NEW bicycle AND pedestrian facilities where 
none exist but are warranted as referenced in Bridging the Gaps 2008 
update. 

Park Avenue, Auburn 
Bartlett St., Lewiston 

 
6 

The project will include NEW bicycle OR pedestrian facilities where 
none exist but are warranted, as referenced in Bridging the Gaps 2008 
update. 

Minot Avenue, Auburn 
Russell St., Lewiston 

 
 
4 

The project will replace existing bicycle and pedestrian facilities where 
such facilities have excessively deteriorated or the project will replace 
existing bicycle and pedestrian facilities, such as for ADA sidewalk 
modifications, re-striping of existing shoulders and paving gravel 
shoulders, etc. 

 

0 No facilities are planned.  

 
 
The Project Selection and Prioritization Process also provides scoring guidance for stand-alone 
sidewalk projects (capital projects that are not part of a road construction project).  Separate 
scoring criteria have been established for existing sidewalk projects and new sidewalk projects, 
as follows: 
 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 16 

C. Existing Sidewalk Scoring Formula 

Scoring factors for reconstruction and rehabilitation of currently existing 

sidewalks are listed below. 

 

Criteria Score 

Pedestrian Usage 30 

Safety & Accessibility 20 

Condition 40 

Connectivity 10 

Maximum Score 100 
 

D.  New Sidewalk Scoring Formula  

The four scoring factors for new sidewalks are listed below, which are further 

described in the following sections. 

 

Criteria New 

Sidewalk Location 40 

Demonstrated Need 30 

Connectivity 10 

Installation guidelines 20 

Maximum Score 100 
 
The total number of points allowed for stand-alone sidewalk projects is 100, which means that 
these sidewalk projects can compete equitably with road projects for technical ranking. 
 
Prior to soliciting projects for each biennial TIP, ATRC reviews the Project Selection and 
Prioritization Process and amends it, as needed, to ensure that the selection and scoring process 
reflects current needs and priorities within the ATRC region. 
 
Bicycle Routes with Wide Shared Lanes  
On narrower roadways, preferably those with 
lower speeds and/or vehicular volumes (under 30 
mph and 3,000 vehicles per day are preferable), 
the travel lane can be shared with cars and 
bicycles.  Ideally, the lane would be a minimum of 
fourteen feet in width.  The lane should be 
striped with a “sharrow” a shared marking 
signaling to bicyclists and motorists alike that the 
roadway travel way serves both uses. 
 
A number of streets may fit into this category in the ATRC region.  Birch Street is a potential 
candidates for this type of treatment in Lewiston.  In Auburn, Spring Street, Poland Road, 
portions of Turner Street and Gamage Avenue are good candidates. 
 
Inclusion Criteria for Facilities in Plan 
The following Principles were used to select facilities for inclusion in the plan: 
 
Accessibility:  The facility or route… 

� Is located near densely populated residential neighborhoods 

� Provides easy access to significant destinations, such as downtown areas, parks, schools, 
colleges, shopping districts, or business centers 

Sharrows in NYC (courtesy Wikipedia) 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 17 

� Serves a specialized population likely to commute to a set destination point, such as 
school children, senior citizens, college students, or the disabled 

 

Safety:  The facility or route…  

� Follows or parallels a road without adequate facilities that bears high traffic volumes and 
speeds, excessive turning movements, congested intersections, heavy truck traffic, 
and/or a pattern of bicycle/pedestrian accidents (or calls for improving facilities on said 
routes) 

� Minimizes conflicts with motor vehicles 
 

Connectivity:  The facility or route… 

� Provides a direct connection to an existing or scheduled transportation project 

� Acts as a major connection between municipalities for those wishing to commute via 
non-motorized roadways 

� Is, where feasible, located within a quarter mile (approximately 1,300 feet) of a transit 
route 

 

Route Attractiveness/Usability:  The facility or route… 

� Provides a pleasant or scenic travel corridor 

� Is relatively flat, with few inclines over eight percent 
 

Cost:  The facility or route… 

� Can be implemented in conjunction with road improvements or new construction 

� Contains adequate right-of-way 

� Costs in line with industry standards for similar facilities 
 
Facilities Design 
Ideally, all roads would be able to accomodate bicycles and pedestrians with adequate facilities.  
Not all roads can be built with dedicated bicycle lanes and sidewalks (e.g. narrow rights-of-way 
with buildings located close to the street).  The bicycle and pedestrian network should be 
consistent with, and supportive of, local neighborhoods recognizing that transportation needs 
vary and must be balanced in a flexible, safe, and cost effective manner.  Whenever practicable, 
travel lane and shoulder widths should be: 
 

  Shared Bicycle Lane Dedicated Bicycle Lane Bicycle Route 

VEHICLE TRAVEL 

LANE WIDTH 
10-11 feet

1
 10-11 feet

1
 10-11 feet

1
 

ROAD SHOULDER 

WIDTH 

2-4 feet
2
, typically not 

striped 

5 feet in urban area with 

curbing, minimum of 4 

feet elsewhere 

4 or more feet, striped 

and paved 

                                            
1 10-foot Vehicle Travel Lane Width to be determined on a case-by-case basis to ensure the safety of all users 
2
 2-foot and 3-foot Road Shoulder Widths need to be determined on a case-by-case basis to ensure the safety of all 

users 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 18 

Chapter 3:  Additional Facility Recommendations 
 
The facilities discussed in Chapter 2 of this report have their own design considerations.  
However, additional considerations for specific facilities are also of great importance. 
 
Traffic Signals 
� Pedestrian Countdown Heads:  Already finding favor in ATRC communities, it will be required 

for all pedestrian heads to show the number of seconds remaining in the pedestrian phase.  
Studies have shown that this results in less pedestrian and driver confusion. 

� Reduction in Traffic Signal Cycle Lengths:  Primarily in urban locations, where capacity is not of 
an issue, the cycle lengths should be made as short as reasonably possible to still 
accommodate vehicle progression.  Shorter cycle lengths result in less time waiting for 
pedestrians to wait for their phase, and as a result, result in a reduced potential for a 
pedestrian to cross “against” traffic. 

� Right-Turn on Red:  Maine traffic statutes allow for vehicles to make right turns at a red ball 
unless otherwise specified.  In a location with sidewalks and significant pedestrian activity, 
this can result in potential conflicts between vehicles and pedestrians.  Therefore, it is 
recommended for the municipalities to examine locations with traffic signals for the 
potential of placing “No Right Turn on Red” signage to minimize the potential for such 
conflicts. 

� Leading Pedestrian Interval:  A leading pedestrian interval 
(LPI) is an exclusive pedestrian phase for a brief period of 
time (typically in the order of three to seven seconds, 
depending on a specific location) that transitions to a 
concurrent pedestrian phase.  It is a compromise between 
an exclusive and concurrent pedestrian phase philosophy, 
providing the opportunity for pedestrians to have visibility 
in the intersection before vehicles proceed while resulting 
in less all-red time for vehicles compared to an exclusive 
pedestrian phase.  Where determined appropriate, this 
phasing can improve safety as well as the feeling of safety 
for pedestrians.  A video providing a summary of how an 
LPI operates is available for viewing at http://www.streetfilms.org/archives/lpi-leading-
pedestrian-interval/. 

� Rapid Flashing Beacon:  RRFBs are user-

actuated amber LEDs that supplement 
warning signs at unsignalized intersections or 
mid-block crosswalks.  They can be activated 
by pedestrians manually by a push button or 
passively by a pedestrian detection system.  
RRFBs use an irregular flash pattern that is 
similar to emergency flashers on police 
vehicles.  RRFBs may be installed on either 
two-lane or multi-lane roadways.  RRFBs are 
a lower cost alternative to traffic signals and 
hybrid signals that are shown to increase 
driver yielding behavior at crosswalks 
significantly when supplementing standard 
pedestrian crossing warning signs and 
markings.  An official FHWA-sponsored experimental implementation and evaluation 
conducted in St. Petersburg, Florida found that RRFBs at pedestrian crosswalks are 
dramatically more effective at increasing driver yielding rates to pedestrians than traditional 

 A still excerpt from an LPI video.                    

 (Streetfilms) 

Rapid Flashing Beacon (MUTCD). 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 19 

overhead beacons.  The novelty and unique nature of the stutter flash may elicit a greater 
response from drivers than traditional methods.  The addition of RRFB may also increase the 
safety effectiveness of other treatments, such as the use of advance yield markings with 
‘YIELD HERE FOR PEDESTRIANS’ signs.  These signs and markings are used to reduce 
the incidence of multiple-threat crashes at crosswalks on multi-lane roads (i.e. crashes where 
a vehicle in one lane stops to allow a pedestrian to cross the street while a vehicle in an 
adjacent lane, traveling in the same direction, strikes the pedestrian), but alone they only 
have a small effect on overall driver yielding rates. 

 
Wayfinding Signage/Kiosks 

As discussed previously in this report, signage can play a 
valuable role on designated bike routes, making it easier 
for bicyclists to understand which roadways are desired.  
Wayfinding signage is also important for all travelers, and 
the height, design and clarity of the signage should take 
into account the needs of non-motorized travelers.  
Ideally, each town or cluster of towns would determine 
an overall sign design for consistency, and employers 
requiring signage could have signs constructed to adhere 
to these standards. 
 

At major points of confluence for bicycle routes, 
particularly in downtown Lewiston or Auburn, the 
provision of kiosks may be helpful.  They could provide 
copies of route and trail maps, as well as transit 
information. 
 

 
Crosswalk Design 
Unfortunately, pedestrians in a crosswalk can 
still be at risk of being struck by a vehicle, even 
if the crosswalk is striped.  The striping of two 
parallel lines for crosswalks, still done at many 
places in the ATRC region results in poor 
visibility for drivers.  From any significant 
distance, these lines disappear from the 
driver’s eye.  The use of international standard 
crossing markings (often referred to as a 
“continental” or “zebra” crosswalk) with wide 
markings parallel to the direction of vehicular 
traffic, should be used at all pedestrian 
crossings.  In addition, at locations where visibility is desired at all times, the municipalities may 
wish to investigate alternatives to regular paint.  Although crosswalks are frequently six feet in 
width in the ATRC municipalities, it is recommended that eight feet be considered a minimum 
width, with ten feet or greater in key crossing locations. 
 
One commonly used material is thermoplastic, a raised reflective material applied with heat that 
bonds with the asphalt pavement.  Although more costly, it lasts for several years if applied 
correctly.  Other, more costly alternatives, such as DuraTherm or Jarvis imprint are inlaid 
materials at the same level at pavement; these alternatives are significantly more costly, but are 
worthy of investigating when a roadway is resurfaced; installed correctly, these methods will last 
as long as the roadway surface itself.  For maximum longevity, the crosswalk stripes should be 
placed between the prevailing tire paths of motor vehicles. 

Zebra Crossing in Burnaby, British Columbia 

 

Seattle trail wayfinding kiosk 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 20 

 
Bicycle Storage Facilities 
There are a variety of bicycle storage facilities within the ATRC communities, where such 
facilities are available at all.  However, few of these storage facilities meet modern bicycle 
storage criteria.  The majority of these facilities tends to be the older “radiator” (or “wheel-
bender”) style and can often result in damage to bicycles.  It is recommended that the ATRC 
communities update their technical standards to include requirements for contemporary 
facilities, as well as requiring bicycle storage for all commercial and public facility site 
development plans. 

 
 

Lighting 
Adequate lighting should be provided at all pedestrian crossings and intersections in general.  If 
local requirements do not address lighting issues, MaineDOT has lighting requirements that can 
be referred to.  In addition, a wealth of information is available in the AASHTO publication 
Informational Guide for Roadway Lighting.  In urban locations or even rural locations expecting to 
have significant volumes of pedestrian and bicycle traffic, lighting should be provided to allow for 
full-time use of facilities. 
 
Lighting should be placed in cut-off fixtures that provide light only to desired areas, so as to 
avoid issues of light pollution and intrusion upon adjacent areas, particularly residential.  The 
preferred types of lighting for pedestrian or bicycle use are mercury vapor, metal halide, or 
incandescent; however, the latter variety consumes significant energy and may not be desirable 
from that standpoint.  If low power consumption is desirable, high-pressure sodium fixtures may 
be used.  In the future, other lighting technologies offering longevity, brilliance, and low power 
use such as light emitting diodes (LED’s) and organic light-emitting diodes (OLED’s) may provide 
additional opportunities for bicycle and pedestrian facilities. 
 
Bicycle Facilities: Special Cases 
For the most part, well-designed shoulders or bicycle lanes alongside standard vehicular travel 
lanes are sufficient for safe passage for bicyclists.  However, there are a few situations that in 
particular may warrant special treatments. 
 
Large Signalized Intersections: Bicycle Boxes 

Although there are not a large number of signalized 
intersections with a significant number of approach lanes in 
communities in the ATRC area, certainly there are several.  
Typically, as a bicycle lane approaches a large signalized 
intersection, it is stationed between the outer through lane 
and the right turn lane.  If a bicyclist wishes to turn left, he or 
she must ride with traffic in a non-designated space, and if the 
bicyclist is in a dual left lane or greater, or is not at the front 
of the queue, drivers may not see him or her. 
  Green bicycle box in Portland,  

 Oregon. (StreetFilms) 

 Outdoor bike storage and design guidelines. (City of Cambridge, Massachusetts) 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 21 

An identified solution to this situation is the use of the bicycle box, which is an area 
approximately six to ten feet in width in front of the stop bars for vehicles.  A bicyclist can sit in 
the box in front of traffic, where visible, and therefore, proceed with a greater degree of safety.  
Both traditional loop-based and video-based vehicle detection can be adapted to detect bicycles 
waiting within the boxes to allow for actuation of the signal by bicycles.  In some municipalities, 
such as Portland, Oregon, a bright green color has been used to fill in the bicycle box for added 
visibility.  A video of these Portland bicycle boxes in use can be viewed at 
http://www.streetfilms.org/archives/portland-green-bike-box/. 
 
Railroad Crossings 
Railroad crossings pose a perennial difficulty for bicyclists, 
particularly when the crossing is at an acute angle with the 
roadway.  The tracks can “catch” a bicycle tire, resulting in 
loss of control and a rider being thrown into traffic.  In 
Lewiston, Auburn, Lisbon and Sabattus there are many rail 
crossings, a significant number of which are along high-
volume collector roads and arterials. 
 
There are two potential solutions to this situation.  The first 
is the provision of rubber inserts or concrete between the 
tracks and the roadway, which narrows the crossing width 
and reduces the potential for bicycle tires being “caught” in 
the track crossing.  While the rubberized crossing may 
provide a smoother ride, it is more likely to result in slippery 
conditions when wet. 
 
If the angle of crossing is extremely oblique, typically 30 
degrees or less, it may be necessary to widen the edge of the 
roadway immediately prior to the crossing.  This widening 
allows for bicyclists to adjust their crossing angle over 
railroad tracks and minimize the potential for a spill. 
 
Ramps at Grade-Separated Crossings 
Another difficult situation for bicyclists is accessing non-highway grade-separated crossings, such 
as the Vietnam Veteran’s Bridge crossings over Main Street in Lewiston and Center Street in 
Auburn.  Bicycles transitioning from the streets below or the overpass above to the non grade-
separated portions of Russell Street or Mount Auburn Avenue face the problems of merging 
with high-speed traffic, crossing lanes and poor sight distances. 
 
For bicyclists coming off of the overpass and crossing over to the outer lane, one possible 
approach to minimize safety concerns is to stripe the shoulder/bicycle lane exiting the overpass 
such that a tight radius turn results in the bicyclist crossing the approach lane from the on-ramp 
in a perpendicular fashion, improving visibility, and providing added safety. 
 
 
 
 

 Bicycle crossing over railroad tracks.  
 (Oregon DOT) 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 22 

 
 

On the other hand, for bicyclists crossing over 
an off-ramp to remain on the overpass, a 
different improvement is in order.  In this case, 
a separate bicycle lane splits off from the 
primary lane or shoulder on the off-ramp, and is 
followed by a tight radius where once again, the 
bicyclist ultimately crosses the lane (of the off-
ramp) at a perpendicular. 
 
For both treatments, the turning radius should 
be sufficiently small such that bicycles are forced 
to slow down, but not so small that bicyclists 
could lose control of their bicycles.  In addition, 
proper sight distances should be established 
from the point where the bicyclists cross the 
travel lanes so that they can see and can be seen 
from an adequate distance. 
 
These are examples of design techniques that 
may improve bicycle access to the Vietnam 
Veterans Memorial Bridge.  Other designs may 
be more appropriate.  Improving the 
accessibility to the bridge by bicycle and foot 

needs to be studied in more depth to determine the best solution for the current design 
limitations. 

  Bicycle crossing at off-ramp to 
  a grade-separated   

  intersection. (Oregon DOT) 

Bicycle crossing at on-ramp from grade-

separated intersection.  (Oregon DOT) 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 23 

Chapter 4:  General Recommendations for 
Plan/2035 Vision 

 
This Plan has been developed and endorsed by the Androscoggin Transportation Resource 
Center (ATRC) in conjunction with members of staff from Lewiston, Auburn, Lewiston and 
Sabattus and various stakeholders.  Its purpose is to provide information for bicycle and 
pedestrian facilities into the transportation plan for the ATRC region in 2035.  What follows are 
recommendations for the five E’s of the Plan:  Education, Encouragement, Engineering, 
Enforcement, and Evaluation. 
 
l. Education 
Educate the public on the benefits of bicycling and walking for achieving community 
goals concerning transportation, environment, health care, economic development, 
education, tourism, and overall quality of life. 
 

A. Goal:  Build public consensus for bicycling and walking as an important public priority and 
personal ethic. 

 

� Institutionalize bicycling and walking as part of the goals, strategies, agendas, and 
activities of government and public and private agencies 

� Employ a variety of media to educate residents and policymakers 

� Quantify and market the health, environmental, and economic benefits of bicycling 
and walking 

� Research and publicize success stories from other communities 

� Generate a broad base of resources for implementation of the plan, including federal 
and state grants, local capital improvement dollars, impact fees, user fees, and 
public/private partnerships with businesses, schools, hospitals, and other institutions 

 
B. Goal:  Engage area residents, schools, and businesses in the planning, implementation and 

maintenance of bicycle/pedestrian facilities.                                                                                                      
 

� Make presentations to local government, schools, businesses, and community 
groups 

� Provide technical assistance to engage school and community groups as trail 
stewards 

� Develop a unified mailing list of area advocates 

� Enlist schools, businesses, neighborhoods, and public and private institutions in 
adopting and implementing strategies and projects outlined in the plan 

� Celebrate the completion of new facilities 
 
 
II. Encouragement 
Encourage residents and visitors to bicycle and walk to meet their daily needs for 
transportation and recreation. 
 

A. Goal:  Increase public awareness of the location of bicycle and pedestrian facilities. 
 

� Develop a uniform identity through logo and signage 

� Develop and distribute a regional map of the bicycling/walking network 

� Develop and promote guided tours to increase residents’ familiarity with facilities 
 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 24 

 

B. Goal:  Increase consideration of walking and bicycling as convenient modes of transportation 
for short trips of two miles or less. 

 

� Encourage workplace policies that support alternative commuting 

� Promote bicycling and walking as transportation to school 

� Encourage wellness programs to incorporate bicycling and walking 

� Encourage residents to bicycle and walk to community festivals 

� Provide adequate bicycle parking in designated activity centers 

� Accommodate bicycles on buses and trains 
 
 
III. Engineering 
Develop a seamless network of bicycle and pedestrian facilities that connects 
neighborhoods, downtowns, schools, parks, workplaces, shopping areas, and intermodal 
hubs within and between municipalities. 
 

A. Goal:  Plan, design, and build bicycle and pedestrian routes that are safe, direct, affordable, 
attractive, and accessible to residents of all ages and ability levels. 

 

� Provide sidewalks and bikeways on designated public rights-of-way appropriate to 
their street classification, traffic volume, width, and speed 

� Provide multi-use pathways where improvements on public rights-of-way are not 
practicable 

� Require consideration for sidewalks, paved shoulders, and bicycle parking in 
transportation projects and new residential and commercial development 

� Adopt uniform engineering standards to guide the design and construction of 
facilities 

� Inventory public rights-of-way to evaluate their potential for use as off-road trail 
facilities 

� Monitor transportation projects in surrounding communities to ensure connectivity 
 

B. Goal:  Integrate planning for bicycle and pedestrian facilities with transportation and land-use 
planning at the municipal and regional levels. 

 

� Revise local scoring criteria for federally-funded transportation projects 

� Consider bicycle/pedestrian facilities in all transportation planning studies and at the 
design/engineering phase of all transportation projects 

� Adopt land-use policies that enhance the physical environment for bicycling and 
walking (bicycle parking, access management, pedestrian amenities, and compact 
development) 

 
 
IV. Enforcement and Safety 
Create a safe environment for bicycling and walking that encourages lawful and 
responsible behavior which reduces the number and severity of injuries. 
 

A. Goal:  Encourage responsible and lawful behavior among pedestrians, bicyclists, motorists, and 
other residents. 

 

� Pinpoint and address high crash locations 

� Update city ordinances related to the safety of bicyclists and pedestrians 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 25 

� Educate local and county law enforcement officials about bicycle and pedestrian laws 

� Deliver safety programs in schools 

� Incorporate bicycle and pedestrian laws into driver education programs  

� Reduce violence against bicyclists and pedestrians 
 

B. Goal:  Implement physical changes that enhance the environment for walking and bicycling. 
 

� Address turning conflicts among pedestrians, bicyclists, and motor vehicles at 
designated intersections (crosswalks, pedestrian signals/leading pedestrian intervals, 
loop detectors, no right turn on red) 

� Ensure that traffic signal detection devices can recognize bicycles and allow for safe 
movement of bicycles through signal-controlled intersections 

� Address site-specific barriers that discourage students from walking and bicycling to 
school (sidewalks, bicycle lanes, crosswalks) 

� Develop a priority list of sidewalks, bikeways, and pathways for winter and spring 
maintenance 

� Participate in MaineDOT’s/Bicycle Coalition of Maine’s Spot Me program 
 
V. Evaluation 
To ensure that future transportation infrastructure improvements provide facilities for 
walking and bicycling according to this plan. 
 

A. Goal:  Evaluate current programs and plan for the future.  
 

� Monitor programming of local road projects to ensure compatibility with this plan 
for the benefit of bicycling and walking in the ATRC region 

� Measure the amount of walking and cycling taking place in Auburn, Lewiston, Lisbon 
and Sabattus.  Automated pedestrian and bicycle counters (mobile and permanent) 
should be considered for placement at key locations to record facility usage 

 
Additional recommendations at the end of this plan can be found for strategies to implement 
specific facilities, from spot treatments for challenging locations to funding sources.  This Plan 
has a goal of providing tool and techniques to implement an array of bicycle and pedestrian 
facilities that satisfy the 2035 Vision. 
 
What follows on the next two pages are two tables providing information on the agencies and 
departments best suited for implementing the goals and strategies contained in the Plan, as well 
as other agencies and community partners who may play a role in implementation of specific 
facilities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 26 

Goals, Strategies, and ResponsibilitiesGoals, Strategies, and ResponsibilitiesGoals, Strategies, and ResponsibilitiesGoals, Strategies, and Responsibilities    for Bicycle & for Bicycle & for Bicycle & for Bicycle & Pedestrian FacilitiesPedestrian FacilitiesPedestrian FacilitiesPedestrian Facilities    
BBBBikewaysikewaysikewaysikeways/Bike Routes/Bike Routes/Bike Routes/Bike Routes:::: Create bikeways on arterial and collector roads designated on             

2035 Vision Maps 
Goal/Strategy Responsibility 

Stripe wide curb lanes as bike lanes as part of routine spring 
maintenance or road resurfacing projects. 

Public Works Departments   

Shift on-street parking to one side of the street to allow for 
provision of bicycle lanes. 

Planning Departments/Public Works Departments 

Pave shoulders as part of road reconstruction projects scheduled 
in the Transportation Improvement Program or local capital 
improvement programs. 

Public Works Departments/Maine Department of 
Transportation  

Adopt policy to pave shoulders on all new or reconstructed state 
and local roads meeting MaineDOT/AASHTO criteria. 

Androscoggin Transportation Resource Center, City and 
Town Councils/Board of Selectmen  

Pathways:Pathways:Pathways:Pathways:  Develop an off-road network that completes street gaps, maximizes scenic assets, 
and creates neighborhood short cuts 

Goal/Strategy Responsibility 
Actively apply for private, state and federal resources, such as 
Transportation Alternatives grants, to build high-priority projects.  

Androscoggin Transportation Resource Center, Planning 
and Public Works Departments  

Adopt land-use policies to support construction of pathways on 
2035 Vision Map as part of new residential, institutional, and 
commercial developments. 

Planning Departments and Planning Boards  

Support efforts by schools, land trusts, and other community 
groups to map off-road rights-of-way and develop trails. 

Planning and Public Works Departments, Androscoggin 
Transportation Resource Center  

Sidewalks:Sidewalks:Sidewalks:Sidewalks:  Construct sidewalks on both sides of  arterials and collectors within the urban core 

Goal/Strategy Responsibility 
Complete short sidewalk gaps on arterial and collector roads. Public Works Departments  
Include new and rehabilitated sidewalks as part of road 
reconstruction projects scheduled in the Transportation 
Improvement Program. 

Public Works Departments and Maine Department of 
Transportation  

Develop land-use policies to construct sidewalks and internal 
walkways as part of new residential, institutional, and commercial 
developments. 

Planning Departments and Planning Boards  

Intersections:Intersections:Intersections:Intersections:  Ensure safe crossings of arterial and collector roads that reduces bicycle and 
pedestrian accidents 

Goal/Strategy Responsibility 

Address design problems at high crash locations. 
Public Works Departments, Androscoggin 
Transportation Resource Center, and Maine Department 
of Transportation 

Install and maintain visible crossings as part of road projects, new 
commercial developments, and junctions with off-road pathways. 

Public Works Departments and Maine Department of 
Transportation  

Pedestrian Districts:Pedestrian Districts:Pedestrian Districts:Pedestrian Districts:        Create streetscapes in dense, mixed-use districts that encourage  
bicycling and walking 

Goal/Strategy Responsibility 
Implement streetscape improvements as part of downtown 
revitalization, road reconstruction projects, and site review of 
new residential, institutional, and commercial developments. 

Planning and Public Works Departments, Planning Boards  

Require bike racks during site review of parks, schools, parking 
garages, institutions, and new residential and commercial 
developments. 

Planning Departments and Planning Boards  

Enact land-use policies that promote compact development. 
City and Town Councils, Board of Selectmen, Planning 
Departments, Planning Boards, Parks and Recreation 

 

 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 27 

Resources for Biking and Walking Facilities 

Sources Types of Projects Examples 

Transportation Projects  
• Road reconstruction 
• Road resurfacing  

Design and engineering; 
construction and rehabilitation of 
sidewalks; road widening and 
striping to create shoulders and 
bike lanes  

Hotel Road, Auburn, Turner 
Street, Auburn, River Road, 
Lewiston 

Land-Use Policies For 
New Development 
• Ordinances re: 
subdivisions and streets 
• Impact fees or exactions  

Intersection improvements; 
construction of sidewalks, trails, 
and pathways; acquisition of open 
space  

Require internal and external   
pedestrian access, such as 
sidewalks and walkways.  Reduce 
parking standards to pay for 
pathways on 2035 Vision Map.  
Require open space in residential 
and commercial developments  

Transportation 
Alternatives Funding  

Feasibility studies; design, 
engineering, and construction, 
primarily of paved pathways  

Grand Trunk Railroad pathway 
from Main Street to Washington 
Street, Auburn, Path from Simard-
Payne Memorial Park to Gas Light 
Park, Lewiston, Path from Paper 
Mill Trail to Downtown Lisbon, 
Bates College Area Bike Loop 

Community 
Development Block 
Grants  

Land acquisition; construction of 
sidewalks and pathways in 
depressed, urban areas    

ELF Woods pathway, Auburn 
River Walk connection under 
Court Street 

Other State, Federal, & 
Foundation Grants 
• Recreational Trails 

Program 
• Brownfields 
• Land & Water 

Conservation Fund 
• Land for Maine’s Future 
• Maine Outdoor Heritage 

Fund  

Land acquisition; trail planning, 
design, construction, and 
maintenance  

Androscoggin Riverlands, Mt. 
Apatite, Union Street Gully, 
Parkway  

Local Capital 
Improvement Program  

Construction and rehabilitation of 
sidewalks, primarily on local roads; 
striping of crosswalks, shoulders, 
and bike lanes  

Matches for Enhancement grants 
Festival Plaza, Phase II Auburn  

Public/Private 
Partnerships 

Land acquisition; trail planning, 
design, and construction 
Trail amenities such as gateways, 
signage and benches  
Trail stewardship and maintenance 
Wellness promotion of bicycling 
and walking 
Special event programming 
Walking and bicycling tours 
GPS mapping 
Safety education 

Sherwood Forest, Auburn  
• Service-learning in 

schools & colleges 
ELF Woods, Auburn 
Franklin Pasture, Lewiston 

• AmeriCorps Thorncrag Bird Sanctuary 

• Adopt-a-trail West Pitch Park, Auburn 

• Bicycle Coalition of Maine 
Simard-Payne Memorial Park, 
Lewiston 

• Androscoggin Land Trust/ 
L/A Trails 

Auburn Land Lab, Auburn 
 

• Healthy Androscoggin   

  

  



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 28 

Chapter 5:  Opinions of Cost and Funding Sources 
for Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities 

 

Costs for Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities 
ATRC prepared preliminary opinions of probable construction cost for various bicycle facilities 
for planning purposes.  These opinions should not be considered a substitute for a full survey 
and design of engineering plans.  In addition, the opinions do not include right-of-way acquisition, 
legal costs, potential wetland issues, utility improvements/relocation or other site-specific items 
that may affect costs. 
 
The following table provides costs for various components of bicycle and pedestrian facilities.  
They are based on MaineDOT standard unit costs for 2013, a typical reference for opinions of 
cost for projects in Maine. 
 

Preliminary Opinions of Possible Construction Cost for FacilitiesPreliminary Opinions of Possible Construction Cost for FacilitiesPreliminary Opinions of Possible Construction Cost for FacilitiesPreliminary Opinions of Possible Construction Cost for Facilities 

Facility 
Type 

Description 
Unit cost 
(2013) 

Cost/mile 

Sidewalks  
New, paved asphalt, five feet wide on both sides of 
road (includes the cost of granite curb and drainage) 

 $260 per linear ft  $1,375,000 

Signage/ 
striping  

No widening, edge line striping plus two signs per 
mile on both sides of road  

 $7.30 per linear ft  
 plus $400 per sign  

  $41,000 

Rural 
Shoulder/ 
Bike Lane  

Roadway widening, five feet on both sides of road 
plus edge line striping  

 $235 per linear ft  
  

$1,240,000 

Urban 
Shoulder 
/Bike lane  

Roadway widening, five feet on both sides of road 
plus signage/striping (includes new drainage) 

 $375 per linear ft 
 plus $400 per sign  

 $1,981,000 

Multi-use 
pathway  

Paved asphalt, ten to twelve feet wide, including 
grading, drainage, landscaping.   

 $125 per linear ft  $660,000 

 

 

Potential Funding for Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities 
As with any potential transportation improvements, a number of funding possibilities exist for 
providing money for bicycle and pedestrian facilities.  These range from the tried-and-tested 
(such as Federal Highway Funds) to the more experimental (allowing business districts to collect 
parking revenue and utilize it for transportation improvements within the district).  
 
Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century (MAP-21) 
This wide-ranging transportation legislation was passed in August of 2012, for a two-year period.  
It covers many aspects of federally-funded transportation improvements, all of which fit into the 
category called Transportation Alternatives.  MAP-21 combines the Transportation 
Enhancements program, the Safe Routes to School program, the Recreational Trails program 
and some road uses into the Transportation Alternatives Program.  The new law significantly cut 
available funding for bicycling and walking, and eliminated the dedicated funding for Safe Routes 
to School and Recreational Trails programs. 
 
 
 
 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 29 

MaineDOT Work Plan 
Auburn, Lewiston, Lisbon and Sabattus work with ATRC to obtain state and federal money for 
the MaineDOT capital work plan program, which allocates funds for specific transportation 
improvements on a three-year basis.  These funds are for any type of transportation 
improvement, ranging from planning to roadway construction to public transit.  While this is a 
viable form of funding, money is limited as it is disbursed among numerous municipalities and for 
many aspects of transportation.  This money is distributed among several programs. 
 
Safe Routes to School Program 
The Safe Routes to School Program (SR2S) was begun in 2006.  The goal of this program is to 
provide funding for walking and biking improvements for elementary and middle school-aged 
youth, as they are bused or driven to school in ever higher numbers, resulting in problems 
ranging from high transportation costs to traffic congestion to childhood obesity. 
 
The funding must be for improvements within a two-mile radius of schools, which in the case of 
Auburn, Lewiston and Lisbon results in coverage of much of the municipalities.  The funding is 
not specific, in the sense that it can be utilized for anything from planning to design to 
construction of facilities. 
 
Given the relatively small level of funding available, it is strongly recommended that Auburn, 
Lewiston, Lisbon, and Sabattus work to secure SR2S funds for planning purposes.  This money 
would allow for a public process and could provide communities with an opportunity to create a 
comprehensive SR2S plan, rather than a piecemeal approach. 
 
Due to its consolidation with MAP-21 Transportation Alternatives, Safe Routes to School 
projects will now fall under the same match requirements as most other transportation 
projects—80% federal funding with a 20% local match. 
 
Community Development Block Grant Funds 
Administered through the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), the 
Community Development Block Grant Program (CDBG) allows for funds to be disbursed to 
communities either directly from HUD or through states to accomplish various infrastructure 
or housing improvements that benefit persons of low and moderate income.  Communities 
receiving CDBG funds may use the funds for many kinds of community development activities 
including, but not limited to: 
 

� Acquisition of property for public purposes 

� Construction or reconstruction of streets, water and sewer facilities, neighborhood centers, 
recreation facilities, and other public works 

� Demolition 

� Rehabilitation of public and private buildings 

� Public services 

� Planning activities 

� Assistance to nonprofit entities for community development activities 

� Assistance to private, for profit entities to carry out economic development activities 
(including assistance to micro-enterprises) 

 

The breadth of potential for projects using CDBG funds is wide enough to allow for bicycle and 
pedestrian improvements to be included, either through acquisition of property for new 
facilities, demolition of structures to allow for construction of facilities, or planning for new 
facilities.  As HUD Entitlement Communities, Auburn and Lewiston have long utilized CDBG 
funds for downtown enhancement projects of all sorts. 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 30 

 
Local Transportation Funds 
Each municipality has funds set aside each year for public works improvements, which can range 
from new roadways to sewer separation to lighting improvements.  While municipalities have 
direct control over these funds, public works dollars tend to be a small amount of overall 
funding. 
 
Other Funding Options 
Municipalities have begun exploring several other funding options.  Again, given the limitations of 
state, federal and local general funds, communities in the ATRC region may wish to explore 
these options in addition to the general funding currently available. 
 
Tax Increment Financing Districts 
Tax increment financing districts (TIF Districts) are property-specific locations where a 
community works with the property owners to set aside property tax revenues for the 
purposes of specific infrastructure improvements.  These funds remain with the municipality, 
which can bond for improvements and pay off the bonds with the tax revenues from the 
developments.  This method is often utilized as an economic development tool, but does not 
have to be limited to improvements for utilities or motorized vehicles.  Auburn, which has 
participated in TIF districts frequently, recently constructed the Auburn Mall Master Plan 
roadway and related improvements through the designation of a TIF district.  These 
improvements included landscaping upgrades and the provision of sidewalks and bicycle lanes. 
 
Impact Fees 
Although not typically utilized in ATRC municipalities, impact fees have proven to be a useful 
funding tool for many Maine communities, including Brunswick, Old Orchard Beach, Portland, 
and Scarborough.  A municipality determines the cost of infrastructure improvements as well as 
a method of apportionment by projects that will benefit from said improvements as they enter 
the planning and approvals process. 
 
While most often utilized for utility or roadway improvements, the side benefits to these 
improvements can be new sidewalks or bicycle facilities.  The advantage to this method of 
funding is fairness.  Each new development enters the process paying only for its share of the 
improvements.  As the improvements are ultimately made under the auspices of the 
municipality, it can also allow for regional improvements as opposed to spot improvements. 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 31 

Chapter 6: Chapter 6: Chapter 6: Chapter 6:     ImplementationImplementationImplementationImplementation    RecommendationsRecommendationsRecommendationsRecommendations    
 
While the identification of different facilities and funding mechanisms may provide some options 
for Auburn, Lewiston, Lisbon and Sabattus, additional recommendations may be useful in 
implementing these facilities. 
 

Connectivity:  A Top Priority 
 
Population Centers 
In particular, the downtowns of the four ATRC communities have high population density and 
lower rates of automobile ownership.  As such, it is important to provide facilities in these 
areas, as they have the greatest potential for use. 
 
Between Facilities 
The most consistent comment that arose during the public process, both in discussions with 
stakeholders as well as members of the Committee, was that connectivity of facilities is 
paramount.  Due to the constraints of funding of transportation improvements, items such as 
multi-use paths, bicycle lanes, paved shoulders and sidewalks all too often begin and terminate 
abruptly, often resulting in walkers and bicyclists suddenly being forced to share travel space 
with faster and larger motorized vehicles. 
 
It is recommended for Auburn, Lewiston, Lisbon and Sabattus to identify gaps in facilities and 
make the closure of these facilities a top priority.  The following examples illustrate certain key 
locations needing connections in each of the ATRC municipalities: 
 

� Auburn: Lake Auburn Bicycling and Pedestrian Routes connecting the Lake Auburn boat 
launch to Park Avenue 

� Lewiston:  Connecting Simard-Payne Memorial Park to Gas Light Park via bicycle lanes on 
Lincoln Street or a multi-use path along the Androscoggin River 

� Lisbon:  Connecting the Paper Mill and Ricker trails to downtown Lisbon Falls via the Maine 
Central line along the Androscoggin River 

� Sabattus:  Providing pedestrian connection between Main Street and Martin’s Point Park 
 
Between Communities 
Connectivity is about more than simply providing access from one facility to another.  In 
addition to smaller connections, the tenor of discussion during the public process related to the 
need to recognize that bicycling in particular is a viable means of transportation, and as such, 
should be reflected in facilities in the ATRC area.  It is important to provide bicycle access from 
one community to another.  This is best done either along current arterials or dedicated rights-
of-way, such as alongside railroad lines.  In the case of the former, a major route should have 
sufficient paved shoulders or bicycle lanes along with guidance signage.  In the case of the latter, 
sufficient separation and barriers should be provided that satisfy basic safety concerns as well as 
those of the railroad, if it is an active freight or rail line. 

 
East Coast Greenway 
The East Coast Greenway (ECG) is a project whose principal goal is to provide an off-road 
facility for bicyclists, hikers, and other non-motorized users, nearly 3000 miles long, connecting 
the major urban centers of the eastern seaboard from Key West, Florida to Calais, Maine.  The 
East Coast Greenway Alliance (ECGA), the nonprofit organization spearheading the project, 
provides a complete route along this corridor by connecting completed trails with carefully 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 32 

selected on-road routing, which transitions onto multi-use trails when they are built.  Today, the 
ECG is 20% off-road, 80% on roads. 
 
The mapping in this report provides the intended on-road route for the ECG through Lewiston 
and Lisbon.  The route, as planned, heads north from Brunswick through Topsham to Lisbon 
and then Lewiston, where it continues to Greene and then on to Augusta.  While the route is 
currently shown as being primarily on-road, it is recommended that any multi-use trails 
paralleling the current route be formally adopted as part of ECG, including Railroad Park in 
Lewiston. 
 

Ordinances and Comprehensive/Master Plans 
 
Local Ordinances/Site Development Process 
Each community can provide language within its ordinances that supports bicycling and walking, 
especially language that would allow for development of bicycle and pedestrian facilities within 
the site development review process. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Local ordinances should require all new developments to 
provide bicycle parking facilities for employees and 
customers.  There are many instances where large and 
small retail establishments in the ATRC communities have 
not provided bike racks yet there are bicycles parked on-

site almost daily.  The bicyclists may be customers or employees of these commercial 
establishments and bicycle parking facilities should be provided in the same way that they are for 
motor vehicles. 
 
Another example of local ordinance standards is if a road right-of-way does not currently allow 
for development of sidewalks or shoulders/bicycle lanes along a critical arterial or collector 
road, the ordinance could require that a new site provide additional right-of-way to allow for 
development of such a facility. 
 
In addition, the ordinance could require that employers encourage bicycle and pedestrian 
commuting with certain measures, discussed later in this section.  The City of Portland, Maine 
has information regarding the provision of bicycle parking in its ordinance and for the design of 
bicycle facilities in its Technical Standards, for example. 

 

 

 
Lisbon Street, Lewiston 

 
Mt. Auburn, Avenue, Auburn 

 
Minot Avenue, Auburn 

 
Main Street, Lisbon Falls 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 33 

The local ordinances can also provide language about impact fees, TIF districts, parking districts 
and other aspects of funding that may allow for development of bicycle and pedestrian facilities.  
Requirements ranging from new facilities to designs of parking lots to facilitate pedestrian access 
from a parking area to a store front with minimum exposure to vehicular traffic can be placed in 
the ordinance.  It is preferable to provide this language within a town or city’s ordinance, as it 
allows project applicants for various projects to plan ahead for these requirements. 
 
Comprehensive/Master Plans 
Auburn, Lewiston, Lisbon, and Sabattus have comprehensive plans that act as guides for the 
ongoing development of each respective community for a period of approximately ten years 
(the plans are updated once per decade, typically).  The plans cover many aspects of community 
development, including transportation.  Ideally, the comprehensive plans will include the 
recommendations contained in this Plan so as to achieve consistency among plans. 
 
In addition, some communities, such as Auburn and Lewiston, adopt more detailed Master Plans 
for specific portions of their communities, such as New Auburn or the Lewiston/Auburn 
downtown area.  Consistency between various plans will allow for a more effective push to 
allocate funding for construction and enhancement of pedestrian and bicycle facilities. 
 

Transportation Demand Management Programs: Encouraging Travel by 
Bicycle and on Foot 
Another policy-based measure that communities can utilize for promoting the use of bicycles 
and pedestrians is the use of Transportation Demand Management (TDM) programs.  Taking 
several different forms, TDM programs strive to reduce the volume of vehicular traffic on city 
and town streets, typically through the use of alternate modes of travel or rideshare.  These 
programs, therefore, can by used to provide additional incentives for traveling by bicycle and on 
foot. 
 
Typically, the programs are a requirement of municipalities for employers to fulfill.  In addition, 
the municipalities may take part in them.  They typically consist of the provision of a 
Transportation Coordinator who oversees the execution of the program and typically reviews it 
on an annual basis for efficacy. 
 
The programs may encourage bicycle and pedestrian travel in a variety of ways.  As an increasing 
number of employers are resorting to use of structured parking, particularly in downtown 
Auburn and Lewiston, costs for storage of vehicles has become significant.  For each employee 
who does not travel by car, the potential for a parking space is removed.  The City should 
encourage employers to examine costs for parking and determine if incentives can be provided 
to employees that will offset the costs.  For example, an employer could do drawings once or 
twice a year for those employees not driving to work more than 50% of the time.  The winner 
of the drawing would receive a new bicycle, courtesy of a local bicycle shop, or new walking 
shoes from a local shoe store.  In addition, provisions at places of employment, such as showers, 
lockers, and secure storage areas for bicycles would further encourage employees. 
 
It is important to note that travel by foot or bicycle constitutes regular exercise as well, and 
while this may be an obvious fact, if employers can demonstrate to insurance companies that a 
sufficient number of employees are fit due to regular exercise, it could have the additional 
benefit of reducing health insurance premiums.  And of course, healthier employees are typically 
more productive, requiring fewer sick days. 
 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 34 

Chapter 7Chapter 7Chapter 7Chapter 7::::        Public CommentsPublic CommentsPublic CommentsPublic Comments    
 
 

 
 
 

############################################################# 
 

Hi Joan,       July 10, 2013 

 

Thanks for sending along this information. I didn’t realize we were approaching the 

public hearing stage. I have scanned the plan and overall it looks great. I’d suggest 

adding in the Androscoggin Trail map as another resource in the mapping section on page 

8. Here is a link: 

http://www.healthyandroscoggin.org/healthy-androscoggin/physical-activity/ 

 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 35 

I hope to take another read through prior to July 18
th

.  

 

Thank you, 

Erin Guay 

Healthy Androscoggin 

GuayEr@chmc.org 
 
 

############################################################# 

 

Hello Joan,       July 11, 2013 

 

    One correction. You have me down as a representative for Perkins Ridge Snowmobile 

club. My business is Independent Land Owner Relations Consulting and I am 

representing the Lake Auburn Community Committee, (LACC). If you could make that 

correction I would appreciate it. 

 

    At the meeting a couple of months ago we discussed the problem of documenting land 

owner consent for diverse trail uses. We have a proposal in to the city of Auburn to run a 

data management pilot program. LACC would greatly appreciate it if you would 

encourage the Auburn City Manager to move forward. We don't expect miracles to start 

with, but we should be able to gain a solid understanding of how land use consent can be 

managed for all uses, in a comprehensive way.  

Thank you Scott Hatch 

barnwright@gmail.com 

 
 

############################################################# 

 

> Hi Joan,       July 18, 2013 

>   

> I cannot attend tonight's hearing on the bike/ped plan update, but I offer the following 

comments: 

>   

> 1.) MAP-21 does not offer a distinct source of Safe Routes to School funding.  Such 

money is only eligible through TEP and STP funds.  This is addressed in the body of the 

text, but should be addressed differently in the executive summary. 

>   

> 2.) Is the ATRC point system being utilized to determine local funding eligibility for 

bicycle and pedestrian facilities? 

>   

> 3.) The report does not mention the potential for use of RRFB-style lights at pedestrian 

crossings, which MaineDOT sanctions.  Hybrid beacons, while likely ideal at many 

locations, are still not allowed by the Department. 

>   



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 36 

> 4.) There are additional solutions to addressing bicyclists' needs at grade-separated 

interchanges, put forth by AASHTO and ITE.  The report would benefit from their 

inclusion. 

>   

> 5.) It would be desirable to have this plan provide a much more detailed prioritized list 

of projects and improvements based on the scoring system.  Otherwise, the point system 

doesn't appear to have much use. 

>   

> 6.) Based on a quick read of the document, this update makes no mention of Complete 

Streets policy, nor the fact that this policy has been adopted by both Lewiston and 

Auburn.  This is a critical issue, as the Plan should reflect upon the implications of such 

policy on provisions of infrastructure. 

>   

> 7.) Other more recent best practices methods, such as advisory bicycle lanes and 

woonerfs, should have discussion in this update if possible. 

>   

> Thank you for the opportunity to comment. 

>   

> Jeremiah J. Bartlett 

> 107 Shepley Street, Auburn 

jeremiahbartlett@gmail.com 
 
 

############################################################# 
 

        July 18, 2013 

Hi Joan, 

 

Thanks for the quick response.  I see that I did neglect to note that. 

 

Have a great evening, 

Jeremiah 

 

On Thu, Jul 18, 2013 at 4:46 PM, Joan Walton <JWalton@avcog.org> wrote: 

Jenermiah, 

 

Thank you for you taking the time to submit comments about the draft ATRC plan.  They 

are thoughtful comments and we will consider them after tonight's meeting. 

 

Regarding your comment about the Auburn and Lewiston Complete Streets policies, 

please note that adoption of these policies by each city is mentioned on page 3 of the 

draft plan. 

 

Joan A. Walton, AICP 

Community & Regional Transportation Planner 

Androscoggin Valley Council of Governments 
 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 37 

############################################################# 
 

Dear Joan/Jennifer:      July 18, 2013 

  

I had hoped that I would be able to attend the public hearing tonight but our annual 

Lobster Ride is on Sunday and we are in serious planning mode.  The closer you get to 

the event, the more details to address!   

  

I did read the entire draft and am really pleased with many aspects of the plan.  The plan 

does a great job explaining the many reasons why we need to include bike/ped in road 

projects and how transportation needs have changed.  It offers good 

definitions/explanations for people new to bike/ped issues.  You’ve done a good job 

inventorying what exists, pointing out the challenges and setting goals for the future. 

  

I also think the General Recommendations section is comprehensive and full of good 

strategies.  I especially appreciate the following: 

III. Engineering, Goal B 

IV. Enforcement and Safety, Goal A, 2
nd

 bullet (although I’d like to see something about 

educating law enforcement officials about bike/ped laws.) 

V. Evaluation 

I’d like to see a recommendation that regular training about bike/ped design and 

infrastructure be required/provided for engineers, planners and public works staff. 

  

I’m glad to see mention of the Complete Streets policy in the plan and hope that it will be 

woven into all your work.  I hope that in the future, the Project Selection and 

Prioritization Process will score bike/ped facilities higher.  I would love to see that policy 

reviewed every couple of years because I think that the public perception on bike/ped as 

viable and necessary transportation modes is changing all the time (to be more pro-

bike/ped) and the policy should reflect that. 

  

I remember you saying that the last 6 year plan somewhat sat on a shelf.  The 

recommendations of this draft try to ensure that that will not happen this time around.  

How can we make sure the recommendations are followed and this plan is followed? 

  

What is the next step to approve this plan? 

 Best of luck tonight. 

  

Thank you. 

Nancy Grant, Executive Director 

Bicycle Coalition of Maine 

nancy@bikemaine.org 

 

 

############################################################# 
 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 38 

 
 
 

############################################################# 
 

Meeting Notes 

ATRC Bicycle-Pedestrian Advisory Committee 

July 18, 2013 Public Hearing 

 

Attendance: 

Dan Bilodeau, Auburn Planning Board 

Richard C. Burnham, City of Lewiston 

David Hediger, City of Lewiston 

Jamel Torres, Healthy Androscoggin 

Bob Rand, Lewiston/Auburn Bike-Ped Committee 

Joan Walton, ATRC Staff 

Jennifer Williams, ATRC Director 

 

 

AVCOG should have a bike rack, as should other public buildings. 

 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 39 

Montello Street in Lewiston has minimal shoulders at the crest of the hill.  Should this be 

a designated Shared Bicycle Lane? 

 

Most people do not know understand what the sharrow symbol is. 

 

Whitman Spring Road, Lake Shore Drive to Route 4 may have opportunity for off-road 

facility.  The Southern Link Trail is proposed from the Route 4 boat launch to Park 

Avenue, need to complete the loop around Lake Auburn. 

 

Safety concerns about Summer Street in Auburn near Whiting Farm.  Summer Street is 

part of two Maine Department of Transportation bicycle loops but there isn’t any room 

for bicycles.  There are more runners on Summer Street and out to Sullivan’s mill than in 

past years.  this may be due to the half-marathon. 

 

The Lewiston/Auburn Optimist Club has a bike rodeo later this summer at the West 

Auburn Community property.  Tables are available for the Lewiston/Auburn Bike-Ped 

Committee, Healthy Androscoggin, or ATRC to display maps and hand out brochures or 

promotional materials. 

 

Need to clean up Route 136 in Auburn to match the wonderful ride to Freeport.  

Reconstruction of Route 136 from Broad Street to Vickery Street is a High Priority 

Project that has been funded. 

 

There are wonderful rides in Auburn and Lewiston but it is scary to get to the nice rides 

from the downtowns. 

 

Communities should look at connectivity to rural bicycle rides when designing projects 

for the TIP. 

 

What does wayfinding signage look like?  Healthy Oxford Hills has a federal grant to 

develop wayfinding signs in Oxford Hills.  Maybe we could see examples of what they 

are considering. 

 

Bicycle Routes are roads with wide shoulders that can accomodate bicycles.  Wide 

shoulders are not always desirable because wider shoulders means higher speeds.  It is 

misleading to say that all roads with wide shoulders are an “existing” facility just because 

it has wide shoulders.  Route 4 north of Lake Auburn was an example of this concern. 

 

Washington Street, Auburn:  Why would we encourage bikes there rather than on 

alternate routes that are safer? 

 

There is a gap at the end of Farwell Street in Lewiston.  Where is the bicyclist supposed 

to go now that Russell Street has been removed from the bicycle facilities map?  How 

does a bicyclist get to East Avenue from Farwell Street? 

 

Why are Lewiston public works trucks driving on the Franklin Pasture trail?  Appear to 

be using the trail as a short cut rather than using the street network.  This can be 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 40 

hazardous for a fast moving bicycle because you don’t expect to encounter motor 

vehicles on the trail.  

 

Question about the legality of parking in a bicycle lane.  Conflicts between on-street 

parking and bicycle lanes are a concern.  How to get police to enforce? 

 

Problems with bicycle detection at the Mt. Auburn Avenue/Turner Street intersection, the 

Central Avenue/Russell Street intersection and the Russell Street/Main Street 

intersection.  ATRC staff will look at the type of detection at each intersection and the 

sensitivity to bicycles. 

 

Next Steps:  ATRC Bicycle-Pedestrian Advisory Committee will meet to review 

comments and finalize the plan for ATRC Policy Committee adoption. 

 

 

############################################################# 

 

Dear Joan,       July 24, 2013 

  

I meant to get you a few suggestions for your draft plan. 

 

Page 2  Scott Hatch was representing the Lake Auburn Community Property, I was 

representing PRST as noted. 

 

When we approved the new skating rink going in as I write the planning board had many 

discussions about bicycle access to it.  One important feed (youthful) to the rink area was 

our Central Maine Community College and Saint Dom's High School areas.  they are 

both planned to be "on the trail" if and when the southern link trail plan is implemented 

from the boat launch area to the Berry Farm near the termination of Park Ave.  That is the 

other link that your committee member was surprised to learn about as the Whitings 

intersection to the Spring Road is so dangerous for bikes and could remedy the concern a 

bit.  Have those roads been planned with "combobike" lanes  or bike lanes? 

 

Also, when sections in the draft were inventoried, Taylor Pond, the Mall area, Mt 

Appitite, and Lewiston counter destinations, it looks like the plan excluded the amenities 

of Lake Auburn.  Just a thought as this has been since the mid 1700's to today a fantastic 

biking and walking destination.  I'm guessing from the old pictures the first place that 

rented bikes in the community was Lake Grove!  And now Lake Grove Park seems to be 

taking off again! 

 

Thanks again for the public process!   I have copied Eric Cousens as he may have some 

additional comments and is keeping his finger's crossed that his new assistant will be 

funded this year and was not able to make the meetings......also our Chairman Mr. Boyer. 

 

Dan Bilodeau 

anotherdanbilodeau@gmail.com 

 

 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 41 

############################################################# 

        July 24, 2013 

 

Hi Joan, I read the draft ATRC bike and ped report, and I have some minor suggestions 

here and there and clarifications.  Could we chat on the phone when you have the report 

in hand so we can go over some of my suggestions.  Thanks! 

Dan Stewart  
Bicycle, Pedestrian, and Small Harbor Improvement Programs Manager  

Bureau of Planning 

Multimodal Statewide Planning 

Maine Department of Transportation 

16 State House Station 

Augusta ME 04333-0016 

207-624-3252  

E-mail: dan.stewart@maine.gov 

Web: http://www.maine.gov/mdot/bikeped/ 

 

 

############################################################# 

 

Telephone call from Dan Stewart at Maine Department of Transportation 

RE: draft ATRC bicycle-pedestrian plan update 

July 25, 2013 

 

Dan indicated that he had read the draft plan and wanted to talk to me about it.  He had 

not looked at the maps so he cannot identify any gaps in the bicycle facilities.  Overall, 

the plan is good, he just had some minor suggestions. 

 

Page 6 – MAP-21 requires a 20% match to federal funds for Transportation Alternatives 

(e.g. Safe Routes to School) program, Safe Routes to School funding is no longer 

available with 100% federal funds. 

 

Page 10 – the Americans with Disabilities Act requires that sidewalks be a minimum of 

five feet, not “a minimum of four feet in width, although five to six is recommended…” 

 

Page 11 – it is rare when you cannot build a sidewalk anywhere other than at bridges 

 

Page 13 – current language says “these facilities typically have a fine gravel or stone dust 

surface treatment at a minimum, and ideally have a bituminous asphalt or similar material 

to allow road bicycles to utilize the facility.” 

 

• Add wheelchairs 

• MaineDOT requires that multi-use paths be paved to meet ADA requirements, 

gravel and stone dust are not allowed.  The Recreational Trails Program 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 42 

(Maine Department of Conservation) allows trails to have stone dust rather 

than pavement. 

 

Page 14 – “In the case of a path along an active rail line…” – this paragraph is in conflict 

with MaineDOT’s rail-trail policy.  Dan will send the policy to me for inclusion in the 

plan. 

 

Page 15 – MaineDOT requires bike lanes be a minimum of five feet on an urban street 

with curbing 

 

Page 18 – specify in the first paragraph that in most cases striping of 11-foot lanes, 3-foot 

shoulders is preferable 

 

Page 20 – the HAWK has not been approved by MaineDOT, this should be deleted from 

the plan 

 

Page 31 – Safe Routes to School Program – this is a good description of the plan, the 

description of MAP-21 Transportation Alternatives is good. 

 

I talked to Dan about the question that came up at the July 18, 2013 public meeting about 

designating high-speed arterial highways with wide paved shoulders (e.g. Route 4 north 

of Lake Auburn or Route 202/Washington Street) as existing bicycle facilities.  Is it 

misleading to say that all roads with wide shoulders are an “existing” facility just because 

it has wide shoulders?  Dan said if the shoulder is rideable and fairly level then they 

should show as existing on the map, even if there are no bike route or share the road 

signs. 

 

MaineDOT is developing a new process to get local or state bike loops/routes signed.  

Urban communities will be able to provide MaineDOT with a map of the bike loop/route 

with a signage plan and MaineDOT will install the signs.  It is unknown at this time if 

there will be a cost-sharing requirement.  The focus initially is on US Bicycle Route #1.  

Jennifer Claster, Wright-Pierce Engineering, is working on the PACTS wayfinding plan 

and Dan will get me onto the mailing lists so I can participate in this process. 

 

Submitted by 

Joan A. Walton, AICP 

Regional Transportation Planner 

 
 

############################################################# 

 

Hi Joan,       July 30, 2013 

 

I apologize that my input cannot be more thorough at this time. I'm at school and it's hard 

to find enough time to think and type, etc. 

 

I wanted to at least get these thoughts to you in advance of the next meeting. As I've 

mentioned before, the issue that is of most concern to me (at the moment) are some of the 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 43 

major traffic carrying streets in L-A.  I have some proposed language for page 7 that I 

hope you consider.   

 

Thanks for all of your hard work, 

Craig Saddlemire 

Lewiston City Council, Ward 5 

 

Please Note: All communications on this email account are public record. 

 

Feedback on Long Range Bike Ped Plan Update 2013 

 

General comment – Early in the document, can we make recommendations about 

appropriate street widths for arterials, collectors, and local roads? As well as appropriate 

minimum widths for bike lanes and sidewalks? With pictures?  There are some images 

with 12' lanes, but it seems not even DOT recommends 12' lanes anymore.  Seems like 

our widest streets should be 11' and go down from there. 

 

page 7 – Lane configurations make bicycling difficult, and in some cases walking and 

street crossing as well.  Document currenltly lists Lisbon, Main, Russel, and Sabattus in 

Lewiston.  Center st in Auburn. Veterans bridge between the two.  Minot Ave needs to be 

added to this list.  We need to make a stronger statement about accommodations on these 

streets.  At minimum, recommend a detailed study.  Here's one suggestion for wording: 

 

“The region's arterial highways carry the vast majority of automobile traffic and can be a 

difficult environment for other modes, including bicycling and sometimes walking.  

Conflicts between modes arise when these highways transition to the urban centers, 

particularly in Auburn and Lewiston.  Multiple lane configurations on Lisbon St, Main 

St, Russell Street, and Sabattus Street in Lewiston constrain shoulder widths making it 

challenging and dangerous for bicycling; lane configurations on Center Street and Minot 

Ave in Auburn limit accessibility for bicyclists and pedestrians; and Vietnam Veteran's 

Memorial Bridge ramps, striping, and lack of sidewalks in Auburn and Lewiston 

discourage accessibility for pedestrians and bicyclists.  All of these routes are critical for 

public access to schools, businesses, entertainment, as well as medical and social 

services.  In most cases, there are no alternative routes to these highways for the bicyclist 

or pedestrian.  The design of these streets are some of the biggest barriers to having a 

multi-modal transportation network that supports walking and bicycling.  Adjusting all of 

these streets to meet such a standard may not be financially feasible within the next five 

years, but steps must be taken towards a long-term vision of accessibility for bicyclists 

and pedestrians, either through accommodations on those streets or through the 

development of convenient alternatives.  The next recommended step to address this 

challenge is a study that concentrates on these major thoroughfares, examining lane 

width, lane numbers, available shoulder width, and paved right-of-way.  The study's goal 

should be to find adequate space for bicycles and pedestrians to safely access all of the 

resources on these streets.  If and when designated space for bicyclists and pedestrians 

cannot be developed through a road diet, this study should analyze and recommend the 

development of convenient alternative routes for these modes.” 

 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 44 

Page 7 – We should not say that bikes using the crosswalks entering Vietnam Veterans 

bridge is safe, because it doesn't make sense and no one does it. If that's the case, it is not 

safe.  We should recommend bike lanes that guide cyclists through and on the bridge. 

 

Page 11 – Adams ave should be moved to “sidewalk on one side of the road” 

 

page 11 – Cedar St to Canal should be listed as having discontinuous sidewalk by the 

ramp 

 

Page 16 – Bartlett street should be striped for a bike lane from Oak to East Ave (and 

continue up pleasant and out to Lisbon). 

 

Page 16 – Bates Street should be a bike lane to Pine St, and then turn into sharrows until 

it reaches Birch St. Though I'm not sure the sharrows are truly necessary, other than to 

help create visual connections to other bike routes. 

 

Page 16 – Birch street should be striped for bike lane from Park to Jefferson (or sharrows 

if width is not available).  Jefferson could have sharrows to connect through to Ash and 

Pine. Again, I'm not sure if sharrows  or a bike lane are truly necessary on Birch, as 

traffic typically moves slow here.  Their biggest function would be to visually connect 

routes, but they may not be necessary for bicycle safety. 

 

Page 16 – Canal should be striped for bike lane from Main St to Locust St (and Locust 

should perhaps have sharrows connecting canal to lincoln and lisbon st) 

 

Page 16 – College street bike lane should go from Bates to Russell (or turn into sharrow) 

 

Page 16 – Is a road diet proposed for East Ave in or to accommodate proposed lane? 

 

Page 16 – Park street section with angled parking needs sharrow (this was planned but 

not painted yet) 

 

Page 16 – Webster Street Bike lane should continue from Central to Pond, and perhaps a 

bike lane should be added to Pond 

 

Page 17 – I think the recommendation on page 17 needs to be adjusted slightly.  On many 

of these streets, especially in the dense areas, we need designated bicycle lanes, not just 

shoulders.  In the current image, there is one 12' lane and one 14' foot lane, with the 

bicyclist on the right.  It seems that we would want to recommend how much space the 

cyclist gets, and that it be a designated (even possibly buffered) bicycle lane.  So, could 

the image show a 10.5' travel lane, 10.5' travel lane, 1' foot of buffer, 4' bicycle lane?  I 

think it would be good to recommend looking first at road diets to find the needed space, 

and where absolutely necessary, adding paved shoulders. 

 
CSaddlemire@lewistonmaine.gov 

 

############################################################# 

 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 45 

Hi Joan,       July 30, 2013 

 

Please give Craig's comments your most serious consideration.  Thank you. 

 

Mark Fuller 

207-212-2577 

grkeeper@roadrunner.com 

 

 

############################################################# 

 

CONTACT PERSON: 
 Jennifer Williams, PE 

 AVCOG/ATRC 

 125 Manley Road 

 Auburn, ME  04210 

 Tel:  783-9186 

 

 

LEGAL NOTICE 
 

 

BRIDGING THE GAPS 

A Long-Range Facilities Plan for Bicycling 

and Walking in the ATRC Region 

 

 

The Androscoggin Transportation Resource Center (ATRC), being the designated 

Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) for Lewiston, Auburn, Lisbon and Sabattus, 

has completed an update of its bicycle/pedestrian plan, BRIDGING THE GAPS A Long-

Range Facilities Plan for Bicycling and Walking in the ATRC Region: 

Auburn/Lewiston/Lisbon/Sabattus.  

 

ATRC is now requesting public input and/or comments on this plan.  The plan may be 

viewed at Lisbon and Sabattus Town Halls; Auburn and Lewiston City Halls; Auburn, 

Lewiston, and Lisbon Public Libraries; and at the AVCOG offices at 125 Manley Road in 

Auburn as well as on the web at www.atrcmpo.org.  Please forward your comments by 

September 26, 2013, to AVCOG/ATRC at 125 Manley Road, Auburn, Maine 04210.  For 

further information, please contact Joan Walton at the above address or (207) 783-9186 

or e-mail at jwalton@avcog.org. 

 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 46 

############################################################# 

 

        August 29, 2013 

My edits attached: 

Duane A. Scott 
Director, Outreach Division 
Bureau of Planning 
Maine Department of Transportation 
16 State House Station 
Augusta, ME 04333-0016 
207-624-3309 (or 3300) 
207-624-3301 FAX 
888-577-6690 TTY 
207-446-7771 Cell 
duane.scott@maine.gov 

NOTE:  MaineDOT’s comments were editorially in nature, e.g. correction of typographical errors 
and omission of Dan Stewart from the list of Contributors/Stakeholders. 

 

 

############################################################# 
 
Hi Joan,       September 26, 2013 

 
My suggestions are pasted below as well as attached in .doc format. 

 

Thanks, 

Craig 
 
Craig's Feedback on ATRC Long Range Bike Ped Plan 
Sept 26, 2013 

 
Page 5 – Thank for incorporating my feedback.  I think it's pretty good.  I would like this 
paragraph changed to say: 
 
 “Within the scope of this 2013 update, although not ideal or preferred, a bicycle-pedestrian 
inclusion plan is not proposed, for the urban core sections of Center Street, Minot Avenue, Lisbon 
Street, Main Street, Russell Street, and Sabattus Street. To the extent that parallel routes can be 
defined, these are recommended in the plan. The design of these streets are some of the biggest 
barriers to having a multi-modal transportation network that supports walking and bicycling. Steps 
should be taken towards a long-term vision of accessibility for bicyclists and pedestrians, either 
through accommodations on these streets or through the development of convenient alternatives.  
Reconfiguring all of these streets to meet bicycle and pedestrian standards may not be 
financially feasible within the next five years, but steps should be taken towards a long-
term vision of accessibility for bicyclists and pedestrians, either through accommodations 
on these streets or through the development of convenient alternatives. 
 
The next recommended step to address this challenge is a comprehensive study that 
concentrates on these major thoroughfares, examining lane width, lane numbers, available 
shoulder width, and paved right-of-way. The study's goal should be to find adequate space 
for bicycles and pedestrians to safely access all of the resources on these streets. If and 
when designated space for bicyclists and pedestrians cannot be developed through a road 
diet, this study should analyze and recommend the development of convenient alternative 
routes for these modes.  Recommendations for each street should be completed in time 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 47 

for the next 5 year update of the ATRC Long Range Bike Ped plan.  These streets should 
not undergo reconstruction or repaving without thorough consideration – during the 
planning phase – of how bicyclists and pedestrians can be included within the design.“  Page 17 – Amend table to the following: 

 

 Shared Bicycle Lane Dedicated bicycle lane Bicycle Route 

Vehicle Travel Lane 

Width 

10'-11' 10'-11' 10'-11' 

Shoulder Width 2'-4', typically not 

striped 

5' in urban area with 

curbing, minimum of 4' 

elsewhere 

4' or more, striped 

and paved 

 Add graphic and photo.. 

 

 
 

 

 



 

Bridging the Gaps: 2013 Update Page 48 

Appendix A 
Facilities Maps 

 



Auburn
Lewiston

Greene

Auburn Lake

Taylor Pond

I-95

Hotel Rd

Ma
in 

St

Colle
ge 

St

Lisbon St

Tu
rne

r S
t

Broa
d S

t

Lake St

Riv
ers

ide
 D

r

N River Rd

S M
ain

 St

River Rd

Minot Ave

Ea
st A

ve

Summer St

Sabattus St

Webster St

Court St

Ferry Rd

Wash
ing

ton
 St

 N

Wash
ing

ton
 St

 S

Park Ave

Lincoln St

Montello St

Poland Rd

Po
nd 

Rd

Cent
ral 

Ave

Mill S
t

Center St

Randall Rd

Pine St

W Auburn Rd

Merrill Rd

We
bb

er 
Av

e

Bartlett St

Hackett Rd

Mount Auburn Ave

Old G
ree

ne 
Rd

Ash St

Park St
Bates St

Cook St

Oa
k S

t

Alf
red

 A 
Plo

urd
e P

kw
y

Switzerland Rd

Witham Rd

Canal St

Rodman Rd

Fifth St

Sou
th A

ve

Ho
gan

 Rd

Sixth St

Beech Hill Rd

Stevens Mill Rd

Third St

Vickery Rd

Goddard Rd

Birch St

Seventh St

Apple Rd

Fair St

Manl
ey 

Rd

Garfield Rd

Holland St

Old
 Da

nvi
lle 

Rd

Walnut St

S Witham Rd

Sc
ribn

er 
Blv

d

Ol
d L

isb
on

 R
d

Fa
rwe

ll S
t

Gracelawn Rd

Oa
k H

ill R
d

Blake St

Whitman Spring Rd

Fern
 St

Gamage Ave

Campus Ave

Stetson Rd

Davi
s A

ve

Pride Rd

Field Ave

Heat
her

 Dr

Sle
epe

r R
d

Vale St

Turner Rd

N T
em

ple
 St

Pinewoods Rd

Pettingill St

Whitney St

Merrow Rd

Sp
ring

 St

Horton St

E Hardscrabble Rd

Wood
 St

Western Ave

Grove St

Po
wn

al 
Rd

Pionite Rd

Dyer
 Rd

Bradman St

Pe
nle

y C
orn

er R
d

Deer Rd

Allen Ave

Goff St

Oxford St

Lexington St

Gendron Dr

Unio
n S

t

Second St

An
dre

w 
Dr

Howe St

Lane Rd

Cedar St

Tw
in R

d

Lo
st 

Va
lle

y R
d

Jill 
St

Fairview Ave

Young's C
orner Rd

Tampa St
Ste

ven
s S

t
Chicoine Ave

Ashmount St

Ninth St

Charles St

West
mins

ter
 St

Dil
l S

t

Warren Ave

Pierce St

Taf
t Av

e

Elm St

Granite St

Paul St

Fourth St

Nich
ols

 St

Rose
dal

e S
t

Do
w A

ve

Ba
xte

r A
ve

Fletcher Rd

Hil
lvie

w L
n

Knox St

Amos Ct

Ple
as

an
t S

t

King Ave

Str
aw

be
rry

 Av
e

High St

Sh
erb

roo
ke 

Ave

Biron Ave

Bro
adv

iew
 Av

e

Highland Ave

Ba
iley

 Av
e

Kyl
e L

n

Ware St

Hick
ory

 Dr

Jean St

Morri
s A

ve

Sa
rat

oga
 St

La
ke 

Au
bu

rn 
Av

e

Be
nne

tt A
ve

Mitch
ell 

St

Brault St

Rid
eo

ut 
Av

e

Hampshire St

Sh
epl

ey 
St

Vista Dr

Orch
ard

 St

Avo
n S

t

Ann St

Boston Ave

Roak
 St

Eighth St

Maple Pt

Dunn
 St

Veterans Memorial Brg

Martindale Rd

Wellm
an 

St
Harris St

Tal
l P

ine
s D

r

Pa
go

ma L
n

Poliquin Ave

North
ern

 Av
e

Whipple St

Ramp F

Holly St

Winte
r S

t

Ba
ird 

Ave

Deer Rips Rd

Monroe St

E Bates St

St 
Pa

tric
k A

ve

Joatmon Dr

Bowdoin Dr

Valley St

Goog
in S

t

Irwin St

Mc
Ar

thu
r A

ve

Ha
rva

rd 
St

Ce
da

rw
oo

d R
d

Troy St

Old Farm Rd

Fra
nkl

in S
t

Forrestal St

Fisher Ave

Frye St

Shawmut St

Fo
ch 

St

Lor
ing

 Ave

Louise St

Sy
lva

n A
ve

Adams Ave

Terrace Rd

Joffre St

Ea
st 

Sh
ore

 Rd

Pe
arl

 S
t

Pump Station Rd

Olive St

Aca
dia

 Av
e

Middle St

Brooks Ave

Manning Ave

Mollison Way

St 
Croix

 St

Bo
uld

er 
Dr

Melo
dy 

Ln

School St

Eu
stis

 St

Old F
arm

 Hl

Dennison St

Ro
y A

ve

Co
tta

ge
 St

Hillto
p A

ve

Pin
ela

nd 
St

Ventura St

Laf
aye

tte 
St

Jef
frey

 St

Jan
s B

lvd

Fortin Way

Reja
ne 

Ave

Mary St Ca
sse

ll S
t

James St

N Lisbon Rd

Kings Rd

Bridge St

Howard St

Dum
ont

 Av
e

Lucille St

Fairmount St

Huard Ave

Hillcrest St

Su
nd

erl
an

d D
r

Alb
ert 

St

Elmwood Rd

Caron Ln

Clubhouse Ln

Canal Street Aly

Owen St

Wyman Rd

Malo St

Hall St

Oran
ge 

StBradley St

Leavitt Ave

Delcliffe Ln

Jefferson St

Co
lon

ial 
Wa

y

Willard Rd

Gr
an

dv
iew

 Av
e

Pro
spe

ct A
ve

Gi
ll S

t

Old Webster Rd

Dawes Ave

McNamara St

Mower Ave

Katie Ave

Sheffield Ave

Bosse St

First Flight Dr

Fairway Dr

Pe
rle

y S
t

VMB Ramp E

Outlook Dr

Su
nse

t Av
e

S Goff St

Ramp S

Mart
in D

r

Haze
l St

Bu
tto

nw
oo

d L
n

Sw
ale

 Ln

Valview Dr

Cram
 Av

e

Lemont Ave

Bolster St

Co
nan

t Av
e

Peter Blvd

Gagn
e S

t

Surry Ln

Fairlawn Ave

Dana Ave

Libby Ave

Dee St

Loc
ust

 St

Nimitz St

Joline Dr

Da
vid

 D
r

Auburn Hts

Challenger Dr

Jon
es 

Av
e

Elliott Ave

Su
mmit A

ve

Sarah Ave

Jen
nife

r D
r

Champlain Ave

Bre
ntw

ood
 Dr

Fire
sla

te P
l

Lowell St

Hillmount Dr

Russell Ave

W Bates St

Church St

Hackett St

Rita 
Ave

Tow
le S

t

Bretton Ave

Ke
vin

 St

Co
te S

t

Commercial St

Little St

Walk
er A

ve

Gracelawn Pit Rd

Forest Ave

River St

Drummond St

Garcelon St

Orlea
ns 

St

Belgrade Ave

Larrabee Rd

Bo
bb

y S
t

Read St

Orestis Way

Pinnacle Dr

Caron St

Richardson St

Sherwood Dr

Glendale Ave

Braman St

Riverside St

Oakla
nd 

St

Cleveland Ave

Towle Ave

Ta
rr A

ve

VMB Ramp W

Rese
rvo

ir A
ve

Sim
ard

 Av
e

Ca
rrie

r C
t

Madison St

Summit St

Colby St

Barron Ave

Ess
ex 

St

Russell St

Newell AveTa
yw

oo
d R

d

Mountain Ave

Talon Dr

Tenth St

Crest Ave

Zoar St

McK
inle

y D
r

Clover Ln

Da
wn

 Av
e

Goldthwaite Rd
Ke

nsi
ngt

on 
Ter

Bowdoin St

Beech St

Josslyn St

Robe
rt A

ve

Mars
ton

 St
Houg

hto
n S

t

Hillsi
de 

Ave

Dre
w S

t

No
b H

ill A
ve

Ste
wa

rt S
t

Tyler St

Nancy St

Hector St

Novella St

Marth
a A

ve

Lin
den

 St

Almond Ave

Wo
od

law
n A

ve

Mo
rse

 Av
e

Owl Ln

Alderwood Rd

Winn
 St

Ba
rke

r M
ill T

rl

Nobl
e S

t

Lemay Ave

Littlefield Rd

Luc
ille

 Av
e

Ha
ley

 St

Ba
rdw

ell 
St

Harold St

Brown St

Lubear Way

Sh
ank

 St

Da
my

 D
r

Mary
 Carro

ll S
t

Academy St

Cross St

An
dro

sco
ggi

n A
ve

Ra
ze

l W
ay

Pinewood Dr

Marian Dr

White St

Gillander Ave

Go
ff A

ve

Heath Ln

Brentwood Ave

Jen
kins

 St

Ridg
ew

ood
 Av

e

Ro
bin

son
 Gdns

Chasse St

Vernon St

Carlton St

Mapl
ew

ood
 Rd

West
ern

 Pr
om

ena
de

Bri
cky

ard
 C

ir

Do
ve 

Ln

Park Street Aly
Blackmer St

Tou
rmalin

e L
n

Vine St

Goffe St

W Dartmouth St

Nell St

Davis St

Giroux St

Tho
rne

 Av
e

Harvest Hill Ln

First St

Snow Ave

Helen S
t

Rafnell St

Olive
 Av

e

Mi
lle

tt D
r

Northwood Rd

Cove Rd

Maca
dam

ia L
n

Gam
mon 

Ave

Dunham St

Spruce St

Labbe Ave

Wi
ldw

oo
d D

r

Raic
he 

St

Stanley St

Claire St

Hig
hla

nd
 Sp

rin
g R

d

Hil
lsid

e L
n

Mellon St

Malibu Dr

June Ave

Atwood St

Newbury St

Marguerette St

Pa
rke

r S
t

Wilson St

Marb
le S

t

Country Club Dr

Michaud Ave

Ge
ne

st 
St

OConn
ell 

St

Enfield St

Imelda St

Hillcr
est

 Av
e

Royal Ave

Mi
lle

r S
t

Xivray St

Enterprise St

Mason Ave

Brigham St

Lou
ise

 Av
e

Smith St

Bonnaille Ave

Ga
rde

n C
ir

Heathwood Ln

Harmony Ln

Green St

Dupuis Ave

Janelle St

Harmon's Corner Rd

Chapel St

La
ure

l A
ve

Forest St

Woodville
 Rd

Island Ave

Aro
n D

r

Am
be

rle
y W

ay

Hillsd
ale

 St

Riverwalk Trl

Jea
nne

tte 
Ave

Radio Cir

Amherst St

Par Four Dr

Moun
t H

ope
 Av

e

Ha
me

l S
t

Homefield St

The
res

a A
ve

De
ros

ay
 Av

e

Pe
tte

ng
ill P

ark
 Rd

Rola
nd 

Ave

Fal
con

 Rd

An
ita 

Ave

Sheridan Ave
Ro

sew
ood

 Av
e

Atla
ntis

 Way

Columbia St

Bu
ck

ley
 S

t

Sargent Ave

Sherry Ln

Prospect St
Laurier St

Manning Pl

Marshall Ave

Colton Ave

Mayf
ield

 Rd

Laud St

Ernest St

Baril St

Evergreen Rd

Perrier St

Rose Ter

Co
bur

n S
t

Andrews Rd

Candia St

Jordan Ave

Vivian St
Ha

rtle
y S

t

Sa
ndy

 St

Moore Ave

Jud
y S

t

Niskayuna St

Rachel Blvd

Reve
re S

t

Omer 
St

S Pleasant Rd

Weaver St

Short St

McKinnon St

Aquamarine Ct

Fairmount Ave

Dem
i Cir

Dexter Ave

Meadow Ln

Hemlock Cir

Nash St

Bellflower Dr

Mood
y S

t

Bolduc St

Ta
ilw

ind
 C

t

Cleaves St

Sand Hill Rd

Nottingham Rd

E Merrill Rd

Horizon Dr

Br
ist

ol 
Rd

Payne St

Blanchette St

Ch
art

er 
Way

Mount Apatite Rd

Foster St

Lemieux St

Rowe St

Marc
otte

 Av
e

Reginald St

Hammond St

Ava
lon

 St

Briarcliff Knl

Wedg
wood

 Rd

Br
ad

for
d S

t

Old B
loo

dy 
Hill R

d

Sa
ma

nth
a L

n

Lincoln Dr

Ro
slin

 Av
e

Waterview Dr

Jones S
t

Pa
ulin

e A
ve

Alec St

Rochelle St

Ra
mp

 K

Allain St

Go
uld

 R
d

Be
aco

n A
ve

Ark
wri

ght
 Av

e

Flanders St

Arbania St

Victor St

Miami Ave

Ledges Ct

Coachman Ave

Water St

Clark S
t

Gosnold St

Silva St

Ne
lke

 Pl

Moreau Ave

Roby
n A

ve

E Dartmouth St

Point Of Pine Rd

Dimsdale Ave

Ipswich St

Carson St

Lon
gbo

w Ct

Un
der

clif
f R

d

Constellation Dr

Sh
erm

an 
Ave

Ramp J

Andr
ea 

Ln

Leavitt St

Marti
n S

t

Wood
sid

e D
r

Marion St

Stony Rdg

Tucker St

St Pierre St

Danville Corner Rd

Burbank St

Philomar St

Library Ave

Ryde
r S

t

Landry Rd

Lor
rain

e A
ve

Lemaire Ave

Infiniti Way

Acorn Ln

Willow Cir

Eaton St

Dio
n S

t

Cushman Pl

Great Falls Plz
Ed

wa
rd A

ve

Me
ch

an
ics

 R
ow

Clayton Dr

Ro
ge

r S
t

Val
ery

 Cir

Chestnut S
t

Dolores St

Goodrich Ave

E C
ote

 St

Falcon Dr

Ro
tar

y

Nickerson Ave

Edgewood Rd

Rid
ge

 Rd

Curtis St

Richard Ter

My
rtle

 St

Trid
ent

 Dr

Butle
r D

r

Lewiston Junction Rd

Gerry Ave

Balsam St

Bu
she

y C
ir

Arch Ave

Laase Ave

Arbor Ln

Meader St

Gage Ln

Gre
enw

ood
 Ln

Stevens Mill Park Rd

Cli
ff S

t

Veterans Memorial Brdg Ramp W

Turcotte Ln

Winding Way

Streamside Dr

Memorial Ave

Boon
e A

ve

Fortier Rd

Connector Rd

Be
cke

tt S
t

Windsor Pl

Old Carriage Rd

Ind
us

try
 Av

e

Adele St

Greenfield Dr

Ru
be

llit
e L

n

Scribner Cir

Harkins Dr

Beacon Aly

We
ath

erl
y P

l

Hodgkin St

Fox Hollow Dr

Qu
imb

y S
t

Ra
lph

 Av
e

Co
op

er 
Ln

Ea
stw

oo
d V

illa
ge

Bir
ch 

Rd

Grande Ave

Cu
mber

lan
d A

ve

Lynn St

Lantern Way

Ke
nne

dy 
Av

e

Stillm
an 

St

Taylor St

Lufkin St

Grov
em

oun
t Ln

Furbush St

Dumais Ave

Locksley Rd

Hu
tch

ins
 St

Hartford St

Barkley Ave

Bayberry Ln

Brann Ave

Willow Run

Cherry Vale Cir

De
we

y A
ve

Joseph Ln

Cyr S
t

Merton Blvd

St T
eka

kw
itha

 Dr

Hawthorne Pl

Maple St

Bellegarde Ave

Doyon Ave

Robin Rd

Seville Pl

South St

Bram
blew

ood Rd

Trask Ave

Wakefield St

Mount Auburn Ave Ramp E

Go
lde

r S
t

Mountview Ter

Whittum Ave

Nel Ct

Denise Ave

Rockhill Ave

Chapel Street Aly

Burn
s S

t

Spofford St

Shore Path Rd

Weyb
oss

et S
t

Finale Way

Gaskill Ave

Sunrise Ln

N Ba
rdw

ell 
St

Grant St

Lake Grove Ln

Beck
 Ave

Gulf Island Ave

Glenn St

Vining St

Thirteenth St

Ma
rie

 Ci
r

Temple St Cloutier St

Lavender Dr

Gilmar Ave

Farrell St

Jack Ct

William St

Melvin St

Lothrop St

Ross Ave

Princeton Ave

Ro
uss

eau
 W

ay

Belle
view

 Ave

Nomar Ct

Kimball St

Co
tta

ge
 Rd

Richmond Ave

Orchard Hts

Teakwood Knl

Williams St

Linwood Ave

Wicklow Pl

S T
em

ple
 St

Dona
ld A

ve

Millbrook Ln

Frenchs Ln

Ga
rfie

ld 
Pa

rk 
Pl

Tru
man 

Ave

Clifford St
Bourbon St

Belangers Dr

Park Way

Br
an

dy
win

e C
ir

Lillian St

Cliffe Ave

Pin
ew

ay 
Dr

Bleac
her

y S
t

Hines
 Aly

Westbury S
t

Ra
ilro

ad
 St

St Cecilia Ave

Seventeenth St

Lincoln Cir

Jac
que

line
 Ave

W Sand Hill Rd

Robitaille 
Cir

Ma
in 

St

Tow
le S

t

Third St

Commercial St

Mill St

Hig
h S

t

Fo
ch

 St

Mill St

Smith St

Gill S
t

Sp
rin

g S
t

Russell St

Second St

Pleasant St

First St

Su
mmer S

t

Church St

Loring Ave

Pine St

Parker St W Bates St

Farwell St

Chestnut St

Sta
nle

y S
t

Maple St

Coburn St

Winter St

Allen Ave

Paul St

Elm St

I-95

Brown St

Blake St

Charles St

School St

Valley St

Atwood St

Stetson Rd

Highland Ave

Middle St

Vin
e S

t

Union St

Howe St

Granite St

Ba
rdw

ell 
St

0 2,000 4,0001,000 Feet

.Legend
Multi-Use Path

Proposed
Existing

Shared Bicycle Lane
Proposed

Dedicated Bicycle Lane
Existing
Proposed

Bicycle Route
Existing
Proposed
Androscoggin Land Trust Trails/Connectors

East Coast Greenway
Existing
Androscoggin Land Trust Public Access Land

Parks and Public Lands
Parks and Public Lands

Educational Facilities
nm School
Æc Library

Railroad
Railroad

These maps are general in nature and are intended for
use as planning documents by ATRC and ATRC-area
municipalities.  Recommendations for specific routes and
treatments are based on GIS mapping; as such,
additional engineering and survey would be required to
implement any recommended facility.

October 2013W:\\Transportation\ATRC\Bicycle-Pedestrian Planning\Long-Range Plan\2012\2013_Bridging_The_Gaps-1000scale.mxd

Same Roads • Same Rules • Same Rights

Motorists:
• Yield to a Bicyclist when
Turning
• Slow Down and Give 3 Feet
Clearance when Passing
• NEVER Honk Your Horn at a
Bicyclist - it could cause them
to swerve into traffic and crash
• Check for a Bicyclist Before
Opening Your Car Door

Share the Road

Bicyclists:
• Obey ALL Traffic
Laws, Signs, and
Signals
• Always Bike on the
RIGHT with Traffic
• Signal All Turns
• Use Lights if you are
Biking at Night So
Others Will See You

Sponsored by the U.S. Department of
Transportation, MaineDOT,and the

Bicycle Coalition of Mainewww.BikeMaine.org
More info at:

The 2035 Vision for Bicycling and Walking has been developed and
endorsed by the Androscoggin Transportation Resource Center for public
Review and comment.  The vision is part of L-A Links, the regional
transportation plan for the Lewiston-Auburn area, that will guide
investments made for roads, highways, transit, rail, freight, air, and
bike/ped facilities over the next 20 years.  For more information, please
call the Androscoggin Transportation Resource Center at (207) 783-9186
or visit www.atrcmpo.org.  ATRC Bicycle and Pedestrian plan and maps
are available at the ATRC website - www.atrcmpo.org.

All citylink buses are equipped with bike racks.





Appendix B 
Effective:  10/01/14 to 09/30/15 

 B-1 Prepared by MMA - 6/2013 

   

Food Maximums 
 

Please Note:  The maximum amounts allowed for food are established in accordance with the 

U.S.D.A. Thrifty Food Plan. Through October 1, 2014, those amounts are: 

 

 

Number in Household Weekly Maximum Monthly Maximum 

   

1 45.12 194 

2 83.02 357 

3 118.84 511 

4 150.93 649 

5 179.30 771 

6 215.12 925 

7 237.67                  1,022 

8 271.86 

 

                 1,169 

   

 

 

Note:  For each additional person add $146 per month. 

 

 

 



Appendix C 
Effective:  10/01/14-10/01/15 

 C-1 Prepared by MMA – 9/2014 

   

GA Housing Maximums 
(Heated & Unheated Rents) 

     

NOTE: NOT ALL MUNICIPALITIES SHOULD ADOPT THESE SUGGESTED 

HOUSING MAXIMUMS!  Municipalities should ONLY consider adopting the following 

numbers, if these figures are consistent with local rent values.  If not, a market survey should be 

conducted and the figures should be altered accordingly. The results of any such survey must be 

presented to DHHS prior to adoption. Or, no housing maximums should be adopted and 

eligibility should be analyzed in terms of the Overall Maximum—Appendix A. (See Instruction 

Memo for further guidance.) 
 

Non-Metropolitan FMR Areas 

Aroostook County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 84 362 

           84                   362 

 99 426 

 134 575 

 143 614 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 107 461 

 113 487 

 136 584 

 179 770 

 197 848 

   

Franklin County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 96 412 

 97 418 

 115 493 

 137 591 

 210 905 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 119 511 

 124 533 

 151 651 

 183 786 

 265 1,139 

   

Hancock County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 105 451 

 117 503 

 145 622 

 197 845 

 197 845 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 126 543 

 145 625 

 180 776 

 241 1,038 

 245 1,054 

   

Kennebec County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 83 359 

 94 404 

 123 529 

 159 685 

 159 685 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 106 457 

 123 530 

 160 686 

 203 872 

 214 920 

   



Appendix C 
Effective:  10/01/14-10/01/15 

 C-2 Prepared by MMA – 9/2014 

   

Non-Metropolitan FMR Areas 

   

Knox County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 128 552 

 128 552 

 150 645 

 197 846 

 209 899 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 151 649 

 151 651 

 186 799 

 240 1,032 

 272 1,168 

   

Lincoln County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 119 513 

 124 535 

 159 684 

 200 862 

 207 889 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 140 600 

 153 659 

 195 838 

 244 1,048 

 260 1,118 

   

Oxford County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 89 382 

 101 434 

 113 487 

 161 693 

 216 928 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 114 491 

 126 542 

 153 657 

 209 900 

 274 1,179 

   

Piscataquis County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 98 421 

 108 465 

 134 575 

 172 740 

 176 759 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 111 479 

 125 539 

 154 663 

 196 844 

 205 881 

   

Somerset County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 100 432 

 100 432 

 116 498 

 166 714 

 166 714 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 123 529 

 127 548 

 152 655 

 210 904 

 211 908 

   

 

 



Appendix C 
Effective:  10/01/14-10/01/15 

 C-3 Prepared by MMA – 9/2014 

   

Non-Metropolitan FMR Areas 

   

Waldo County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly     Monthly 

        116                      497 

        119                      510 

        139                      597  664 

        174                      749 

        176                      758 

Heated 

 Weekly             Monthly 

        136                    583 

        144                    619 

        174                    748 

        217                    935 

        230                    987 

   

Washington County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly     Monthly 

          93                       402 

          95                       410 

        108                       465 

        134                       575 

        163                       703 

Heated 

 Weekly             Monthly 

        114                    492 

        122                    525 

        146                    629 

        182                    782 

        222                    954 

 

Metropolitan FMR Areas 

Bangor HMFA 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

       101  432 

       120                     518   

       145  625 

       184                     790 

       210                     904 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 126                       543 

 153                       657  

  185    796 

 233  1,004 

       268  1,154 

   

Penobscot County HMFA 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

  99  424 

        99  424 

      104                      448 

      148     636 

      169  725 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

       122                       525 

 122    525 

 144   621 

 198  850 

 228   982 

   

Lewiston/Auburn MSA 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

   89                     381 

       103     445 

       139                     597 

       178  766 

  180  774 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

      111                       476  412 

 132                       566 

      175                       751 

 221                        952 

      233                      1,003 

 



Appendix C 
Effective:  10/01/14-10/01/15 

 C-4 Prepared by MMA – 9/2014 

   

Metropolitan FMR Areas 

   

Portland HMFA 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 142 611 

 166 715 

 214 922 

 271 1165 

 274 1180 

Heated 

 Weekly             Monthly 

 163 702 

 194 833 

 252 1,085 

 319 1,371 

 339 1,458 

   

York/Kittery/S. Berwick 

HMFA 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 181 779  671 

 181 779 

 206 887 

 314                  1,350 

        334                  1,434 

 

Heated 

 Weekly              Monthly 

 207 890 

 207 890 

 247 1,060 

 364 1,564 

 394 1,694 

   

Cumberland County HMFA 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 111 479 

 131 563 

 167 720 

 228 982 

 271 1167 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 133 573 

 157 674 

 204 876 

 272 1,168 

 324 1,394 

   

Sagadahoc County HMFA 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 140 603 

 140 603 

 155 667 

 192 825 

 276 1,187 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 161 693 

 161 693 

 191 821 

 242 1,039 

 336 1,444 

   

York County HMFA 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 126 541 

 126 541 

 156 672 

 216 928 

 216 928 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 146 629 

 150 646 

 192 825 

 259 1,114 

 266 1,143 

   

 



 

GENERAL ASSISTANCE ORDINANCE 

APPENDICES B & C 

2014-2015 
 

 

 

The Municipality of Auburn, Maine adopts the MMA Model Ordinance 

GA Appendices B & C for the period of October1, 2014 to September 

30, 2015.  These appendices are filed with the Department of Health and 

Human Services (DHHS) in compliance with Title 22 M.R.S.A. 

§4305(4). 

 

Signed the ______ (day) of __________________ (month)______ (year) 

by the municipal officers: 

 

Councilor Tizz E. H. Crowley       ___________________________ 

       (Signature) 

Councilor Mary K. LaFontaine   ___________________________ 

       (Signature) 

Councilor Leroy Walker     ___________________________ 

       (Signature) 

Councilor Adam Lee    ___________________________ 

       (Signature) 

Councilor Robert Hayes   ___________________________ 

       (Signature) 

Councilor David Young    ___________________________ 

       (Signature) 

Councilor Belinda A. Gerry   ___________________________ 

       (Signature) 

 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  David Young, At Large 

Adam Lee, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

           

ORDINANCE  09-10202014 

 
ORDERED, that the General Assistance Ordinance be amended to incorporate the following maximum levels 

of assistance to be effective on and after October 1, 2014 as follows:   

 

Appendix B, Food Assistance  

 

Number in Household Weekly Maximum Monthly Maximum 

   

1 45.12 194 

2 83.02 357 

3 118.84 511 

4 150.93 649 

5 179.30 771 

6 215.12 925 

7 237.67                  1,022 

8 271.86 

 

                 1,169 

 

 

Appendix C, Housing Maximums  

 

 

 

 

Lewiston/Auburn MSA 
Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 
 Weekly Monthly 

   89                     381 

       103     445 

       139                     597 

       178  766 

  180  774 

Heated 
 Weekly Monthly 

      111                       476  412 

 132                       566 

      175                       751 

 221                        952 

      233                      1,003 













Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  David Young, At Large 

Adam Lee, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 89-10202014 

 
ORDERED, that the following individual is hereby appointed to the following board or committees with a term 

expiration as noted; 

 

Auburn Housing Authority 

Re-appoint Arthur Wing – term expiration 10/01/2019 

 

 

 

 

 


	0  Agenda 10-20-2014
	1  TIF Info SHeet
	1a  Tif Presentation for Council Packet
	1b  District Performance Summary for Council Packet
	2 Info Sheet - Dangerous Buildings Part 1
	2a  Council Memo_Dangerous Buildings
	2b  letter to city council re condemnation of buildings
	4  Minutes 10-6-2014
	5  Minutes 10-9-2014
	5a  City Mgr Report - EMS item
	6  final september 2014 finance report
	FY15 September Finance Rpt.pdf
	BS
	rev
	exp
	inv summary

	Arena Monthly Report- September 2014.pdf
	Balance Sheet
	Income Statement
	Revenue
	Expenditures

	Maine Ratings (14-0515).pdf
	Current

	Perspectives-Ratings.pdf
	AAA
	AA
	A
	BBB
	Plus (+) or minus (-)


	6a  2014 Dempsey after action   10-2014
	6b  Extra Mile Day - City Seal
	7  Comp Plan Implementation Sheet Memo
	7a  Comp Plan Presentation
	8 Bike Ped Info Sheet
	8a  Resolve 02-03192012 Bike - Ped Committee
	8b  BIKEPEDCOMPLETESTREETPAGEATRC
	8c  BIKEPEDCOMPLETESTREETRFP
	8d  2013 BIKE PED STUDY ATRC
	8e  2035VISIONFORBIKE AND PEDESTRIAN FACILITIES
	9  Info Sheet - General Assistance
	9a  2014 GA Maximums - Appendix B
	9b  2014 GA Maximums - Appendix C
	9c  ADOPTION FORM for appendices B  C
	9d  Ordinance 09-10202014 appd BC
	10 Info Sheet - Arthur Wing appointment
	10a  Arthur Wing Application
	10b  Order 89-10202014 Arthur Wing - Auburn Housing Authority

